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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

_______________________________________ 

 

Some of the statements contained in this report are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than historical facts are “forward-looking statements” for purposes of these 
provisions, including any projections of earnings, revenues or other financial terms, any statements of plans or objectives of management for future 
operations, any statements regarding COVID-19, any statements concerning proposed new products or licensing or collaborative arrangements, any 

statements regarding future economic or performance, any statement of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. These statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to statements regarding: 

 

● our ability to predict revenue and reduce costs related to our products or service offerings; 
 

● our ability to forecast product sales volumes and accordingly manufacture and manage inventory; 
 

● our ability to generate sales of Motorola brand products sufficient to make that portion of our business profitable, and retain the 

Motorola brand license for the Motorola brand product we produce; 
 

● the impact of tariffs on most of the products we import; 
 

● the duration and impact of the coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic and the efficacy of the vaccine rollout; 
 

● fluctuations in the level or quality of inventory; 
 

● the sufficiency of our capital resources and the availability of debt and equity financing; 
 

● potential costs and senior management distraction associated with patent-related legal proceedings; 
 

● our reliance on a limited number of customers, traditional and online retailers and distributors for a large portion of our revenue; 
 

● the effect of changes in cable service providers’ pricing policies when customers supply their own modem; 
 

● product liability claims related to consumer-grade home security and monitoring products could harm our competitive position, 
results of operation and financial condition; 

 

● the effect of competing technologies and the potential decline in the demand for our products; 
 

● our reliance on sole-sourced manufacturers and component producers for a substantial percentage of our products; 
 

● fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates that may adversely affect our business; 
 

● capacity constraints in our Mexican operations could impact sales and hurt customer relationships; 
 

● our reliance on an outsourcing partner in Mexico; 
 

● our ability to succeed in the competitive home networking market; 
 

● the development of new competitive technologies, products and services to meet customer demand; 
 

● our ability to succeed in markets outside the United States; 
 

● our product quality, including any undetected hardware or software defects; 
 

● our ability to maintain and scale adequate and secure software platform infrastructure; 
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● our ability to predict return rates and manage product returns; 

 

● our ability to produce sufficient quantities of quality products due to reliance on third party manufacturers; 
 

● the impact of long lead times for our products and the components used in our products; 
 

● the impact of competition on demand for our products and services; 
 

● the impact of changes in environmental and other regulations on our ability to obtain necessary certifications for our products and 
services; 

 

● changes in laws or governmental regulations and industry standards impacting our products; 
 

● our reliance on the continued service of key employees; 
 

● our ability to protect our intellectual property and to operate without infringing the intellectual property of others; 
 

● the impact of state sales tax in some states where Amazon holds our inventory; 
 

● our ability to retain the Motorola brand license for the Motorola brand products we produce; and 
 

● our ability to integrate Minim, Inc. business and operations with Zoom Telephonics. 

 

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "would," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," 
"believes," "estimates," "projects," "predicts," "potential" and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are only 
predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance, or 
achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking 
statements. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, these forward-looking statements 
represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this report. Except as otherwise required by law, we expressly disclaim any obligation or 
undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained in this report to reflect any change in our expectations 
or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any of our forward-looking statements are based. Factors that could cause or contribute to 
differences in our future financial results include those discussed in the risk factors set forth in Item 1A below as well as those discussed elsewhere in this 
report. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements. 
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PART I 
 

ITEM 1 – BUSINESS 
 

Overview 
 

As used in the Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” "Zoom” and the “Company” mean Zoom Telephonics, Inc., doing 
business as Minim, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Minim, Inc. and MTRLC LLC. 

 

We deliver innovative Internet access products that reliably and securely connect homes and offices   around   the   world.   Now   the 
exclusive global license holder to the Motorola brand for home networking hardware, Zoom Telephonics designs and manufactures products including cable 
modems, cable modem/routers, mobile broadband modems, wireless routers, Multimedia over Coax (“MoCA”) adapters and mesh home networking 
devices. Our AI-driven cloud software platform and applications make network management and security simple for home and business users, as well as the 
service providers that assist them— leading to higher customer satisfaction and decreased support burden. 

 

Our mission is to make every smart home and office safe and easy to use for life and work. We believe advanced, vertically-integrated hardware and 
software is vital to delivering on this purpose as consumers increasingly depend on their networks for media streaming, remote working, telemedicine, 
remote education, mobile data offloading, and powering smart home appliances. Our primary objective is to leverage these trends and build upon our 
position as a leading producer of home networking devices sold through many of the largest United States (“USA” or “US”) high-volume retailers by 
launching software-enabled products with the latest connectivity standards and expanding our sales channels globally. 

 

On December 4, 2020, Zoom acquired Minim, Inc. (“Minim”). Minim is a Delaware corporation that delivers its WiFi management and 
security Software as a Service ("SaaS") to Internet Service Providers (ISPs) to unlock bottom line growth through increased subscriber acquisition, retention, 
support cost efficiency. The Minim solution offers a web application for customer service representatives to effectively support subscribers and a mobile app 
for home users to manage their network settings, security, privacy and parental controls. The Company’s intuitive applications, built on proprietary 
device fingerprinting technology, also empowers businesses to secure and manage satellite offices and remote employee networks. Offering a full API suite, 
the Minim platform has been integrated with third-party hardware platforms and has been designed for ultra-extensibility as wireless technology advances. 
Subsequent to the merger, the Company re-branded itself as Minim. 

 

Cable modem products, including both cable modems and cable modem/routers (“gateways”), were Zoom’s highest revenue product category in 
2015 through 2020. Cable modems provide a high-bandwidth connection to the Internet through a cable service provider’s managed broadband 
network. Zoom   Telephonics   began   shipping   cable   modems   in   2000   and   acquired   a   geographically-restricted   license   to   sell   Motorola- 
branded cable networking products in 2016. From 2016 through 2020, the Company sold networking products under its ZOOM trademark as well as the 
Motorola brand. Zoom’s primary means of distribution to end-users in the US, our primary market, is through national retailers, e-commerce platforms, and 
distributors. In response to demand for faster connection speeds, security by design, and increased functionality, we have invested and continue to invest 
resources to advance our cable modem product line. 

 

In August 2016, we extended our Motorola license to a worldwide exclusive license that includes cable modems and gateways, WiFi routers, WiFi 
range extenders, powerline communication devices, and related products. In August 2017, we further extended our Motorola license to a worldwide exclusive 
license for DSL modems and gateways, cellular modems and gateways, and MoCA products, and to a worldwide non-exclusive license for cellular sensors. 
We introduced under the Motorola brand two WiFi routers, one range extender, and one MoCA adapter in 2017. In 2018, we introduced into the retail market 
under the Motorola brand two WiFi routers and a DSL modem/router. In March 2020 Zoom entered into an amendment to extend the License Agreement 
with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “2020 Amendment”) through December 31, 2025. The 2020 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the 
Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide, including   Direct to Consumer Channels and Service Provider Channels. In March 
2020, we entered into a License Agreement with Motorola to sell consumer grade home security and monitoring products and to provide related services. 
This agreement applies to a wide range of products, including consumer grade cellular modems and gateways, DSL modems and gateways, and MoCA 
adapters for networking and home security products and services. 

 
We are incorporated in Delaware under the name Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and are now doing business as “Minim” while maintaining the ZOOM 

trademark for products. Zoom Telephonics, Inc. was originally incorporated in New York in 1977 and changed its state of incorporation to Delaware in 1993. 
Minim, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Zoom Telephonics, Inc., is a corporation organized in Delaware. MTRLC LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Zoom Telephonics, Inc., is a limited liability company organized in Delaware that focuses on the sale of our Motorola brand products. Our principal 
executive offices are located at 848 Elm Street, Manchester, NH 03101, and our telephone number is (617) 423-1072. Our main website is www.minim.com. 
Information contained on our website does not constitute part of this report. Our common stock is traded on the OTCQB Venture Market under the symbol 
MINM (formerly traded under the symbol ZMTP until December 8, 2020). 
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Strategy Overview 

Our strategy is to address the increasing demands of broadband users with advanced technology and build upon our position as a leading home 
networking product supplier in many of the largest United States (“USA” or “US”) high-volume retailers to go global. The key pillars to our strategy are as 
follows: 

Distribute high-margin software – Our cloud-based software is a companion to home networking equipment, making our established hardware sales 
channels a prime route to software distribution. We believe quality software is a profit margin driver, lending to higher Average Selling Prices (ASPs) and 
higher gross profit. In addition, we assist third-party hardware vendors and ISPs in their own software development with our API-based platform. 

Customer-driven design – With continued investment in warranties and customer service, we see our direct and frequent connection to end users as a market 
advantage that informs our product roadmap. The Company continues to invest in research and development with the latest connectivity standards— such as 
DOCSIS 3.1, WiFi 6, EasyMesh, and 5G— to design high-speed products while optimizing costs to maintain a healthy, price segmented portfolio. 

Expand sales reach – We maintain strong sales channel relationships by delivering value-driven products in a way that complements, not challenges, our 
resellers’ profitability. We believe this is a competitive edge that affords us wider access to the Total Addressable Market through both retailers and ISPs. As 
we invest in marketing and new product introductions to existing channels, we consider new market entrances. 

Strengthen supply chain resiliency – The Company continues to adjust its manufacturing operations and delivery mechanisms to reduce operational costs. 
We continue to build supply chain diversity to improve our operational resiliency to geopolitical, weather-related, and market-based risks to our product 
supply. 

Available Information 

Our investor website address is ir.minim.com. Through our website, we make available our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or 
furnish it to, the SEC. These SEC reports can be accessed through the investor relations section of our website and at the SEC’s website. 

 

Products 
 

General 
 

We are the creator of innovative Internet access products that dependably connect people to the information they need and the people they love. Our 
hardware portfolio includes: cable modems, cable modem/routers, mobile broadband modems, wireless routers, MoCA adapters, and mesh home networking 
devices. Our software platform includes: mobile applications, a web application, API suites, and an open-source embedded agent for networking devices. 

 

We have sold home networking products under the globally-recognized Motorola brand, as well as under our own ZOOM trademark. Our hardware 
and software products are purchased by consumers to support and protect their family’s connected devices; ISPs to reduce support costs and increase revenue 
with digitally transformed support and value-added services; and by businesses to affordably support and secure satellite and remote worker networks. 

 

In May 2015, Zoom entered into an agreement to license certain Motorola trademarks from Motorola Trademark Holdings, LLC (“Motorola”) for 
cable modem products. The agreement includes numerous requirements intended to assure the quality and reputation of Motorola® brand products. In 
January 2016 Zoom, through its MTRLC LLC subsidiary, which was formed on October 6, 2015, began shipping cable modems under the Motorola® brand. 
In August 2016, Zoom entered into an amendment to the license agreement with Motorola. The amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the 
Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide and expands the license from cable modems and gateways to also include consumer 
routers, WiFi range extenders, home powerline network adapters, and related products. In August 2017, we further extended our Motorola license to a 
worldwide exclusive license for DSL modems and gateways, cellular modems and gateways, and MoCA products, and to a worldwide non-exclusive license 
for cellular sensors. We introduced under the Motorola® brand three WiFi routers, one range extender, one MoCA adapter, and one DSL modem/router in 
2017 and 2018. Zoom plans to extend this product line, adding mesh routers and range extenders, cellular sensors, and new MoCA adapters. In March 2020, 
Zoom entered into an amendment to extend the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC through December 31, 2025. The 2020 Amendment 
expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide, including Service Provider Channels. 
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In March 2020, Zoom entered into a License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC to sell consumer grade home security and monitoring 

products and to provide related services (the “2020 License Agreement”). The term of the 2020 License Agreement runs through December 31, 2025 and 
includes minimum licensing payments beginning in 2021 and continuing through the remainder of the agreement term. 

 

Home Networking Hardware 
 

Our networking hardware products connect homes and small offices to the Internet, create wireless networks, and extend the wireless signal. These 
products are now primarily available through retail and e-commerce channels in the US. 

 

● Modems and Modem/Routers (“Gateways”), which are devices that convert cable service into Internet connectivity for ethernet-only connection 
(modems) or ethernet and wireless connections (modem/routers). Zoom’s primary cable modem sales from 2016 through 2020 were of Motorola 
brand products. We have obtained CableLabs® certification for our currently marketed cable modems, and these cable modems have also received a 
number of cable service provider certifications. Required by most service providers for interoperability on their networks, all modem and 
modem/router products must pass this lengthy, expensive, and technically challenging certification process. Zoom plans to extend its DOCSIS 3.1 
product line, adding high-performance modem/routers including WiFi 6 and mesh-capable routers. 

● Routers and Mesh Systems, which are devices that create WiFi networks. Mesh WiFi systems extend the signal throughout a wider area than a single 
router can typically cover. In 2020, Zoom launched its first mesh WiFi system and plans to extend its mesh and router portfolio with WiFi 6 and 
WiFi 6E capabilities. 

● Other Local Area Network Products, which are devices that create, extend, or enhance a Local Access Network. Zoom currently offers MoCA 
adapters, which provides an Ethernet connection over coaxial cable between a MoCA-capable router and connected devices. 

 

Software 
 

The Minim software platform offers three core software components: 
 

● Minim mobile application for end users to personalize and monitor their home and office network with features such as speed testing, data 
usage tracking, security alerts, malware blocking, privacy settings, parental controls. 

● Minim web application that enables technical support representatives in ISPs and businesses to offer efficient remote support with network 
insights. 

● Minim API suite and open-source agent for third-party hardware vendors, ISPs, and other partners to integrate with the Minim platform, 
leverage Minim functionality, and manage their own account data. A foundational component of our software is an open-source embedded 
agent for integration with any third-party router firmware. 

 

Products for Markets outside North America 
 

The vast majority of our sales were in North America from 2015 through 2020 because the business predominantly sold cable modem and 
modem/router products, and the United States is by far the largest market for cable modems sold through retailers. However, we expect to see growth outside 
North America as we expand our ISP customer base and portfolio of retail routers, mesh systems, and other Local Area Network products under our 
worldwide Motorola brand license. 

 

Networking hardware products for countries outside the United States typically differ from a similar product for the United States because of varied 
regulatory and certification requirements, country-specific phone jacks and AC power adapters, and language needs. As a result, the introduction of new 
products into markets outside North America can incur significant costs and time to market. In 1993, we introduced our first dial-up modem approved for 
selected Western European countries. Since then, we have sold our products into a number of markets outside North America. We have received regulatory 
certifications for a number of countries, including the United States, the United Kingdom (“UK”), and Canada. We have planned product line enhancements 
to enable new market expansion. Most importantly for sales outside the United States, we are working toward selling Motorola brand home networking 
hardware and software products in the UK, Canada, Latin America, India, Mexico and other regions. 

 

Sales Channels 
 

General 
 

We sell our products primarily through high-volume retailers and distributors (“B2C”), Internet service providers, individual businesses (“B2B”), 
service providers, value-added resellers, PC system integrators, and Original Equipment Manufacturers ("OEMs"). We support our major accounts in their 
efforts to discern strategic directions in the market, to maintain appropriate inventory levels, and to offer a balanced selection of attractive products. 
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Relatively few companies account for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues. In 2020, two companies accounted for 10% or greater 

individually, and 76% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2020, three companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% 
or greater individually accounted for a combined 85% of the Company’s accounts receivable. In 2019, two companies accounted for 10% or greater 
individually, and 84% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2019, three companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% 
or greater individually accounted for a combined 84% of the Company’s accounts receivable. 

 

Distributors and Retailers outside North America 
 

In markets outside North America we sell and ship our hardware products primarily to distributors. Our software is globally sold via licenses to ISPs 
and Resellers globally. We believe that sales growth outside North America will continue to require substantial additional investments of resources for 
product design and testing, regulatory certifications, native-language instruction manuals and software, packaging, sales support, and technical support. We 
have made this investment in the past for many countries, and we expect to make this investment for some countries and products in the future. However, 
we anticipate that the majority of sales in the next two years will come from North America, partly because the US is one of the few countries with a robust 
retail cable modem market due to Federal regulations in the United States. As we expand our product portfolio beyond cable modems and serve ISPs directly 
and through Reseller relationships, we envision the proportion of our sales from countries outside the United States will increase. 

. 
North American High-volume Retailers and Distributors 

 

In North America we reach the retail market primarily through high-volume retailers. Our North American retailers include Best Buy, Micro Center, 
Target, Wal-Mart, and e-tail and e-commerce platforms including Amazon. 

 

We sell significant quantities of our products through distributors, who often sell to corporate accounts, retailers, service providers, value-added 
resellers, equipment manufacturers, and other customers. Our North American distributors include D&H Distributing and Ingram Micro. 

 

Internet Service Providers & Businesses 
 

Minim works with over 140 Internet Service Providers and businesses with its subscription-based WiFi management and security software. Our 
solution enables challenger ISPs to better compete in the market with a premium WiFi solution while lowering operational costs with support call and onsite 
visit avoidance. For our business customers, our solution reduces the costs, deployment time, and risks to supporting and securing remote employee and 
satellite office networks. We are empowering the IT staff of our business customers to secure and support employee home networks and other small 
workspaces. Our customer base is primarily located in the US; however, we have customers all over the world, including Canada, UK, and South Africa. 

 

OEM and Router Manufacturers 
 

Our open-source embedded software agent enables third-party hardware vendors to integrate Minim in their networking devices, potentially to 
create a recurring revenue stream with our software services. Our system integrator and OEM customers sell our products under their own name or 
incorporate our products as a component of their systems. We seek to be responsive to the needs of these customers by providing on-time delivery of high- 
quality, reliable, cost-effective products with strong engineering and sales support. 

 

Sales, Marketing and Support 

 

In North America we sell our Zoom®, Motorola®, and Minim® products through a direct sales force and commissioned independent sales 
representatives to retailers; through channel resellers; and through electronics distributors. Worldwide technical support is primarily handled from our 
Manchester headquarters. 

 

We believe that Motorola® is a widely recognized brand name, and we build upon this brand equity in a variety of ways, including: Amazon 
advertising, Google AdWords advertising, social media marketing and advertising, retailer cooperative advertising, product packaging, trade shows, and 
public relations. We promote Zoom® and Minim® brand awareness through similar means, as well as engaging in industry associations, content marketing, 
outbound sales development, analyst briefings, and open-source project contribution. 

 

We develop quality products that are user-friendly and are designed to require minimal support. We typically support our claims of quality with 
product warranties of one to two years, depending upon the product. To address the needs of end-users and resellers who require assistance, we have our own 
staff of technical support specialists. They provide telephone support six days per week in English and Spanish and aim to continuously expand of 
languages, availability, and support channels. Our technical support specialists also maintain a significant Internet support facility that includes email, 
firmware and software downloads, and a digital knowledgebase. 
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Research and Development 

 

Our research and development efforts are focused on developing new products, enhancing the capabilities of existing products, and reducing 
production costs. We have developed close collaborative relationships with certain of our Original Design Manufacturer (“ODM”) suppliers and component 
suppliers. We work with these partners and other sources to identify and respond to emerging technologies and market trends by developing products that 
address these trends. We also develop all the hardware and firmware for certain products in-house, including some cellular modems and some future cellular 
sensors. 

 

The Company’s costs on research and development were $3.8 million for 2020 and $2.2 million for 2019. The primary reasons for the increase in 
research and development costs were salary and related costs, increased product testing, and certification and software development expenses. As of 
December 31, 2020, we had twenty-two employees engaged primarily in research and development. Our research and development team performs hardware 
design and layout, mechanical design, prototype construction and testing, component specification, firmware and software development, product testing, 
foreign and domestic regulatory certification efforts, end-user and internal documentation, and third-party software selection and testing. 

 

Manufacturing & Suppliers 
 

Our products are currently designed for high-volume automated assembly to help assure reduced costs, rapid market entry, short lead times, and 
reliability. High-volume assembly mostly occurs in Vietnam or China. Our contract manufacturers and original design manufacturers typically obtain some or 
all of the material required to assemble the products based upon a Zoom Telephonics Approved Vendor List and Parts List. Our manufacturers typically insert 
parts onto the printed circuit board, with most parts automatically inserted by machine, solder the circuit board, and test the completed assemblies. The 
contract manufacturer sometimes performs final packaging. For the US and many other markets, packaging is often performed at our facilities in North 
America, allowing us to tailor the packaging and its contents for our customers immediately before shipping. This facility also performs warehousing, 
shipping, quality control, finishing and some software updates from time to time. We also perform circuit design, circuit board layout, and strategic 
component sourcing at our Boston area office. Wherever the product is built, our quality systems are used to help assure that the product meets our 
specifications. 

 
Our North American facility is currently located in Tijuana, Mexico. From time to time, we experience certain challenges associated with the 

Tijuana facility, specifically relating to bringing products across the border between the US and Mexico. We believe that this facility assists us in cost- 
effectively providing rapid response to the needs of our US customers. 

 

Historically we have used one primary manufacturer for a given design. We sometimes maintain back-up production tooling at a second 
manufacturer for our highest-volume products. Our manufacturers are normally adequate to meet reasonable and properly planned production needs; but a 
fire, natural calamity, strike, financial problem, the impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic or another significant event at an assembler's facility could 
adversely affect our shipments and revenues. In 2020, two suppliers provided 99% of our purchased inventory. The loss of a key supplier, or a material 
adverse change in a key supplier’s business or in our relationship with a key supplier, could materially and adversely harm our business. 

 

Our products include a large number of parts, most of which are available from multiple sources with varying lead times. However, most of our 
products include a sole-sourced chipset as the most critical component of the product. The vast majority of our cable modem chipsets come exclusively from 
Broadcom. Most of our cellular products include a Gemalto module. Our dial-up modem chipsets come exclusively from Conexant. Serious problems at 
Broadcom, including long chipset lead-times, would significantly reduce Zoom’s shipments. While many companies that use computer chips in their business 
experienced during 2020 supply chain issues in sourcing chips due to a chip shortage, we did not experience issues during 2020 resulting from material 
delays or unavailability of chips. There can be no assurance, however, that we will not experience such issues in the future. 

 

We have experienced delays in receiving shipments of essential integrated circuits in the past, and we may experience such delays in the future. 
Moreover, we cannot assure that a chipset supplier will, in the future, sell chipsets to us in quantities sufficient to meet our needs or that we will purchase the 
specified dollar amount of products necessary to receive concessions and incentives from a chipset supplier. An interruption in a chipset supplier's ability to 
deliver chipsets, a failure of our suppliers to produce chipset enhancements or new chipsets on a timely basis and at competitive prices, a material increase in 
the price of the chipsets, our failure to purchase a specified dollar amount of products or any other adverse change in our relationship with modem component 
suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. 

 

We are also subject to price fluctuations in our cost of goods. Our costs may increase if component shortages develop, lead-times stretch out, fuel 
costs rise, or significant delays develop due to labor-related issues. 

 

We are also subject to the Restriction of Hazardous Substances Directive (“RoHS”) and Consumer Electronics Control (“CEC”) rules discussed 
above, which affect component sourcing, product manufacturing, sales, and marketing. 
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Since September 24, 2018 until after we transitioned a substantial portion of our manufacturing to Vietnam during the second quarter of 2020, 

substantially all of our products were subject to a tariff because they were produced in China and they were in product categories subject to the tariff on our 
cost of goods at the time of entry into the United States. The tariff started at 10% and increased to 25% in June 2019. These tariffs have a significant impact 
on our cost of inventory and profitability. Because these tariffs may not be reduced and may even be increased, we actively worked on finding production 
capability outside China. Our largest supplier established a major production capability in Vietnam, and we transitioned the majority of our production to 
Vietnam by the end of second quarter of 2020. In addition, we are working with other suppliers outside of China. With the transition of a majority of our 
manufacturing to Vietnam, we significantly reduced the tariff burden. 

 

Competition 
 

The Internet access and networking industries are intensely competitive and characterized by aggressive pricing practices, continually changing 
customer demand patterns, rapid technological advances, and emerging industry standards. These characteristics result in frequent introductions of new 
products with added capabilities and features, and continuous improvements in the relative functionality and price of modems and other communications 
products. Our operating results and our ability to compete could be adversely affected if we are unable to: 

 

● successfully and accurately anticipate customer demand; 
 

● manage our product transitions, inventory levels, and manufacturing processes efficiently; 
 

● distribute or introduce our products quickly in response to customer demand and technological advances; 
 

● differentiate our products from those of our competitors; or 
 

● otherwise compete successfully in the markets for our products. 
 

Some of our primary competitors by product group include the following: 
 

● Cable modem and modem/router competitors: Belkin/Linksys, Commscope/Arris, D-Link, Hon Hai Network Systems (formerly Ambit 
Microsystems), Netgear, Sagemcom, Technicolor, TP-Link and Ubee Interactive. 

 

● Router and mesh WiFi competitors: Amazon/Eero, Amped, Apple, Asus, Belkin/Linksys, D-Link, Google, Netgear, Securifi, Tenda, TP- 
Link, Trendnet, and Ubiquiti. 

 

● WiFi Management and Security: AirTies, Cujo AI, Plume Design, SAM Seamless Network. 

 
Many of our competitors and potential competitors have more extensive financial, engineering, product development, manufacturing, and marketing 

resources than we do. 
 

The principal competitive factors in our industry include the following: 
 

● product performance, features, reliability and quality of service; 
 

● price; 
 

● brand image; 
 

● product availability and lead times; 
 

● size and stability of operations; 
 

● breadth of product line; 
 

● sales and distribution capability, including retailer and distributor relationships; 

 
● technical support and service; 
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● product documentation and product warranties; 

 

● relationships with providers of broadband access services; and 

● certifications evidencing compliance with various requirements. 
 

We believe we are able to provide a competitive mix of the above factors for our products, particularly when they are sold through retailers, 
computer product distributors, small to medium sized Internet service providers, and system integrators. We have been less successful in selling directly to 
large telecommunication providers and other large providers of broadband access services. 

 

Successfully penetrating the broadband modem market presents a number of challenges, including: 
 

● the current limited retail market for broadband modems, as most consumer broadband users get their modem from their service provider; 
 

● the relatively small number of cable, telecommunications and Internet service providers that make up the majority of the market for 
broadband modems in the USA, our largest market; 

 

● the significant bargaining power and market dominance of these large service providers; 
 

● the time-consuming, expensive and uncertain certification processes of the various cable, mobile broadband service providers; and 

 
● the strong relationships with service providers enjoyed by some incumbent equipment providers, including ARRIS for cable modems and 

Huawei for DSL and mobile broadband modems. 

 
Intellectual Property Rights 

 

We rely primarily on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and patents to protect our proprietary rights. We have trademarks and 
copyrights for our firmware (software on a chip), printed circuit board artwork, instructions, packaging, and literature. We also have three active patents that 
expire between years 2021 and 2039. There cannot be any assurance that any patent application will be granted or that any patent obtained will provide 
protection or be of commercial benefit to us, or that the validity of a patent will not be challenged. Moreover, our means of protecting our proprietary rights 
may not be adequate and our competitors may independently develop comparable or superior technologies. 

 

We license certain technologies used in our products, typically rights to bundled software, on a non-exclusive basis. In addition, we purchase 
chipsets that incorporate sophisticated technology. We have received, and may receive in the future, infringement claims from third parties relating to our 
products and technologies. We investigate the validity of these claims and, if we believe the claims have merit, we respond through licensing or other 
appropriate actions. Certain of these past claims have related to technology included in modem chipsets. We forward these claims to the appropriate vendor. 
If we or our component manufacturers were unable to license necessary technology on a cost-effective basis, we could be prohibited from marketing products 
containing that technology, incur substantial costs in redesigning products incorporating that technology, or incur substantial costs defending any legal action 
taken against it. Where possible we attempt to receive patent indemnification from chipset suppliers and other appropriate suppliers, but the extent of this 
coverage varies, and enforcement of this indemnification may be difficult and costly. 

 

In May 2015, we entered into an agreement to license certain Motorola® brand trademarks for consumer cable modem products in the United States 
and Canada through certain authorized sales channels using such trademarks beginning January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2020. In August 2016, Zoom 
entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC. The 2016 amendment expanded Zoom’s exclusive license to use the 
Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide and expanded the license from cable modems and gateways to also include consumer 
routers, WiFi range extenders, home powerline network adapters, and access points. In August 2017, Zoom entered into an amendment to the License 
Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC. The 2017 amendment expanded Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of 
authorized channels worldwide, and expanded the license from cable modems, gateways, consumer routers, WiFi range extenders, home powerline network 
adapters, and access points to also include MoCA adapters, and cellular sensors. In March 2020, Zoom entered into an amendment to extend the License 
Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC through December 31, 2025. The 2020 amendment expanded Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola 
trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide, including Direct to Consumer Channels and Service Provider Channels. 

 
 

  10  



In March 2020, we entered into a license with Motorola Mobility LLC to sell consumer grade home security and monitoring products and to provide 
related services. The term of this Agreement runs through December 31, 2025 and includes minimum licensing payments beginning in 2021 and continuing 
through the remainder of the agreement term. 

In February 2021, Zoom Video Communications, Inc. filed a petition with the US Patent and Trademark Office seeking cancellation of the 
Company’s Zoom® trademark. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the petition and intends vigorously to oppose the cancellation petition. 

Backlog 

Our backlog on February 28, 2021 was $1.4 million, and on February 29, 2020 was $287 thousand. Orders included in backlog may be canceled or 
rescheduled by customers without significant penalty. Backlog as of any particular date should not be relied upon as indicative of our net sales for any future 
period. 

Human Capital 

Zoom is committed to attracting and retaining the brightest and best talent. Therefore, investing, developing, and maintaining human capital is 
critical to our success. Our effectiveness in attracting, developing, engaging and retaining talented team members demonstrates our commitment to providing 
a welcoming and safe workplace, with equitable compensation, benefits and opportunities for our team members to continually grow and develop their 
careers within Zoom. 

As of December 31, 2020, Zoom had 61 employees. Twenty-two employees were engaged in research and development and quality control. Ten 
employees were involved in operations, which manages production, inventory, purchasing, warehousing, freight, invoicing, shipping, collections, and returns. 
Twenty employees were engaged in sales, marketing, and customer technical support. Nine employees performed executive, accounting, administrative, and 
management information systems functions. Our dedicated personnel in Tijuana, Mexico are employees of our Mexican service provider and not included in 
our headcount. On December 31, 2020, Zoom had four consultants, two in research and development and two in operations, who are not included in our 
headcount. 

Our culture and core values. We believe that by nurturing a strong culture based on our core values we are able to attract, hire, and retain a highly 
engaged team. Our cultural pillars – respect, transparency, community, accountability, collaboration – reflect the way we lead and work with one another 
internally as well as externally with our customers, partners, suppliers and other stakeholders. We seek to embed our core values to act responsibly and with 
integrity, to instill a sense of individual role and purpose at Zoom, and to communicate openly and honestly. Our culture of respect and collaboration is 
intended to create an inclusive working environment and inclusive engagement with our stakeholders; our culture to create encourages innovation from a 
diversity of experiences, backgrounds and characteristics; and our culture to communicate encourages open and honest discussion. Everything we do, we do 
with a deep regard for each other, our customers, and our shareholders. We show our respect for each customer’s decision to welcome Zoom into their home 
by taking extra care to ensure our products make their connected homes safer and easier to use for life and work. 

Our response to COVID-19. As part of our efforts to keep our employees safe and support efforts to slow the spread of COVID-19, we instituted a 
mandatory work-from-home policy for all but a small number of onsite essential personnel, and we implemented work and safety protocols at our office 
facilities that put the health and safety of our team first. With the support and commitment of our employees, we have pivoted to a work-from-home model 
and continue protecting our customers. We believe open and on-going communications have been critical to maintaining our culture and productivity during 
the pandemic, and we hosted bi-weekly update calls and weekly virtual social gatherings. Management continues to monitor the conditions and government 
mandates to ensure safe practices as the pandemic evolves. 

Executive Officers 

The names and biographical information of our current executive officers are set forth below: 

Name Age Position with Zoom 

Jeremy Hitchcock 39 Executive Chairman 
Graham Chynoweth 42 Chief Executive Officer 
Sean Doherty 39 Chief Financial Officer 
Nicole Zheng 36 Chief Marketing Officer 
John Lauten 54 Chief Operating Officer 
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Jeremy Hitchcock is a technology entrepreneur and executive who joined Zoom’s Board of Directors in May 2019. On January 16, 2020, the Board 

appointed Mr. Hitchcock as Chairman of the Board, to be effective as of February 1, 2020. On April 14, 2020, the Board appointed Mr. Hitchcock as 
Executive Chairman of the Board. Mr. Hitchcock served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Minim, Inc. prior to the merger with the Company. Mr. 
Hitchcock is a Principle at Orbit Group LLC, a New Hampshire based venture capital firm. Previously, Mr. Hitchcock founded Dyn when he was a student at 
Worcester Polytechnic Institute in 2001. Dyn is an Internet infrastructure company connecting people, content, and commerce. The company grew to 500 
employees and raised $100 million of growth capital, and was acquired by Oracle Corporation in 2017. Mr. Hitchcock holds a B.S. degree from Worcester 
Polytechnic Institute. 

 

Graham Chynoweth joined Zoom in December 2020 as Chief Executive Officer. He was the Chief Executive Officer of Minim from June 2019 until 
Minim’s merger with Zoom. Prior to Minim, he served as Chief Membership Officer for Advanced Regenerative Manufacturing Institute from January 2017 
to June 2019, and Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of SilverTech, Inc. from January 2015 to December 2016. Mr. Chynoweth was also 
the Chief Operating Officer of Dyn from November 2005 to December 2014. He is a Founding Board Member, and has been a member of the compensation, 
governance, and audit committees of Primary Bank (OTCPK: PRMY) from November 2014 to October 2020. He has also served as a director for PT United, 
LLC since August 2016. Mr. Chynoweth holds a JD degree from Duke University School of Law, an MA degree in Public Policy from Duke University, and 
a BA degree in political science from the University of California, Berkeley. 

 

Sean Doherty joined Zoom in December 2020 as Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Doherty was the Senior Vice President, Finance of Minim from May 
2020 until Minim's merger with Zoom. Prior to joining Minim, he was the Managing Member at Pulpit Rock Consulting from August 2019 to October 2020. 
From October 2018 to July 2019, Mr. Doherty was a Director, Financial Planning and Analysis at Bottomline Technologies, Inc. (NASDAQ: EPAY). Prior to 
his time at Bottomline, Mr. Doherty was the Senior Manager of Finance at Dyn and then at Oracle Corporation (NYSE: ORCL) from March 2012 to October 
2018. He has also served on the Board of Directors and Finance Committee of The Visiting Nurse Association of Southern New Hampshire since April 2017. 
Mr. Doherty holds a B.S. degree in Economics and Finance from Southern New Hampshire University as well as an MBA degree in Finance and 
International Business from Northeastern University. 

 

Nicole Zheng joined Zoom in December 2020 following Minim's merger with Zoom. Ms. Zheng was a co-founder of Minim and had been the Chief 
Marketing Officer and Chief Product Officer of Minim, since April 2018 until Minim’s merger with Zoom. Ms. Zheng was recognized in Entrepreneur as a 
Top Female Founder in the United States in July 2020. Prior to Minim, she was the Chief Marketing Officer at Antidote Technologies from April 2017 to 
April 2018, and at OnSIP from February 2010 to April 2017. She has served as Advising CMO to quantum networking company Aliro Technologies since 
October 2020 and previously as a board member of Alliance of Channel Women, a nonprofit on a mission to advance careers for women in the telecom and 
broadband services sector, from January 2013 to November 2016. Ms. Hayward Zheng holds a B.S. degree in Materials Science Engineering and B.S. degree 
in Engineering and Public Policy from Carnegie Mellon University, as well as business certifications from The Wharton School Online. 

 

John Lauten joined Zoom in 2019 as a high technology senior level executive with extensive experience in consumer electronic and technology 
manufacturing companies. Prior to joining Zoom, he served as Chief Operating Officer for Skully Technologies from May 2017, where he led a wearable 
augmented reality technology company turn-around for new investors. He provided operations and strategy consulting to technology companies as a Partner 
at TechCXO since March 2016, Mr. Lauten served as Vice President of Business Development and Strategy at Fox Factory, a leading automotive suspension 
manufacturer from October 2013, where he worked on five international acquisitions as part of a CEO and Board led expansion initiative. He previously 
served as the Director of North American Supply Chain Management at Cisco System, Inc. from 2009, and as Head of Global Customer Operations at 
Scientific-Atlanta from 2003 through 2009. Prior to that he held various finance and operations positions at Scientific-Atlanta and financial roles at Northern 
Telecom. Mr. Lauten earned a BA degree in Business Administration/Marketing from Texas Christian University and an MBA degree from the University of 
Texas at Austin, McCombs School of Business with a concentration in Finance. 
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ITEM 1A. – RISK FACTORS 

 

Risks Related to Our Business 
 

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) has had and will likely continue to adversely affect our business. 
 

The novel strain of the coronavirus (COVID-19) has spread as a global pandemic throughout the world and has resulted in authorities imposing, and 
businesses and individuals implementing, numerous unprecedented measures to try to contain the virus. These efforts include travel bans and restrictions, 
quarantines, shelter-in-place/stay-at home and social distancing orders, and shutdowns. These measures have impacted and may further impact our workforce 
and operations, the operations of our customers, and those of our vendors, suppliers and manufacturing partners. The extent to which the COVID-19 
pandemic will continue to affect our business, results of operations and financial condition is difficult to predict and depends on numerous evolving factors, 
including the duration and scope of the pandemic and its impact on overall global uncertainty; government, social, business, and other actions and have been 
and will be taken in response to the pandemic; and the effect of the pandemic on short- and long-term general economic conditions. 

 

While our manufacturing partners and component suppliers mostly have been able to continue to operate to date in compliance with applicable 
regulations and current limitations, future restrictions on their operations could impact our ability to meet customer demand and could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations, particularly if prolonged. Similarly, current and future restrictions or disruptions of 
transportation, such as reduced availability of air and ground transport, port closures or congestion, and increased border controls or closures, can also impact 
our ability to meet demand and could materially adversely affect us. We have already observed a significant increase in the cost of air freight as a result of the 
pandemic, which negatively affects our profitability as we seek to transport an increased number of products from manufacturing locations in Asia to North 
America and international markets as quickly as possible. We have also experienced an increase in costs for ocean freight and shortages in freight capacity, 
which can negatively impact our ability to ship volume predictably and on a lower cost basis. In addition, rapidly shifting consumer demand during the 
pandemic can lead to unexpected adverse impact on our results of operations. Although we have seen a significant increase in demand for our cable modems 
and gateway products due to consumers responding to work-from-home and shelter-in-place measures, we do not know how long this increase may last. In 
particular, as vaccines become widely available and consumers return to work or school and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lessens, this increase in 
demand may begin to subside. If this demand subsides at a rapid pace, our net sales, profitability and other financial results could be adversely affected. This 
increase in demand has also put strain on our manufacturing partners, suppliers and logistics partners to produce and deliver a sufficient number of products 
to meet this demand. In particular, the limited and delayed availability of certain key components for our products, such as specialized chipsets, significantly 
constrains our ability to meet the increased consumer demand and over the course of the past year, we have seen lead times for some of these key components 
increase dramatically from as low as 12 weeks to up to 50 weeks. This in turn puts pressure on our ability to accurately forecast and increases the likelihood 
that the accuracy of such forecasts will be lower, which could materially adversely affect our financial results. If we were to experience weakened demand in 
products, our net sales, profitability and other financial results would be materially adversely impacted. 

 
The pandemic has significantly increased economic and demand uncertainty and also has led to increased disruption and volatility in capital markets 

and credit markets. The current severe economic slowdown resulting from the pandemic has already started to lead to a global recession. There is a 
significant degree of uncertainty and lack of visibility as to the extent and duration of any such slowdown or recession. Risks related to a slowdown or 
recession include the risk that demand for our products will be significantly harmed over time if consumers choose to delay product upgrades or various 
projects in order to conserve funds. Given the significant economic uncertainty and volatility created by the pandemic, it is difficult to predict the nature and 
extent of impacts on demand for our products. These expectations are subject to change without warning. 

 

The spread of COVID-19 has caused us to modify our business practices, including employee travel, employee work locations, cancellation of 
physical participation in meetings, events and conferences, and social distancing measures. We may take further actions as may be required by government 
authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, vendors, and suppliers. Work-from-home and other measures 
introduce additional operational risks, including cybersecurity risks and have affected the way we conduct our product development, testing, customer 
support, and other activities, which could have an adverse effect on our operations. Furthermore, we rely on third-party laboratories to test and certify our 
products. If these service providers close or reduce staffing, it could delay our product development efforts. There is no certainty that such measures will be 
sufficient to mitigate the risks posed by the virus, and illness and workforce disruptions could lead to unavailability of key personnel and harm our ability to 
perform critical functions. In addition, work-from-home and related business practice modifications present challenges to maintaining our corporate culture, 
including employee engagement and productivity, both during the immediate pandemic crisis and as we make additional adjustments in the eventual 
transition from it. 
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The degree to which COVID-19 impacts our results will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, 

including how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume. We are similarly unable to predict the degree to which the 
pandemic impacts our customers, suppliers, vendors, and other partners, and their financial conditions, but a material effect on these parties could also 
adversely affect us. The impact of COVID-19 can also exacerbate other risks discussed below, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on us. 
Developments related to COVID-19 have been rapidly changing, and additional impacts and risks may arise that we are not aware of or able to appropriately 
respond to currently. Should the COVID-19 situation or global economic slowdown not improve or worsen, or if our attempts to mitigate its impact on our 
operations and costs are not successful, our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects may be adversely affected. 

 

Our license agreements with Motorola have risks, including risks associated with our ability to successfully generate Motorola sales that are large 
enough to make our Motorola business profitable after we pay the minimum annual royalty payments required by the license agreements. Our 
failure to successfully increase Motorola sales could have a material effect on our liquidity and financial results. 

 

A substantial amount of our net sales are generated by sales of products sold under our agreements to exclusively license the Motorola brand 
trademark for use with such products, which expires December 31, 2025. In connection with this opportunity, Zoom has an aggressive plan to continue to 
introduce new Motorola brand products. Our product development plan has and will continue to increase our costs and may result in cost overruns and 
delays. If our sales of Motorola brand products do not meet our forecasts, this may result in excess inventory and a shortage of cash. In addition, each of the 
license agreements includes significant minimum quarterly royalty payments due by Zoom. If we are unable to sell a sufficient number of Motorola brand 
products to offset these minimum royalty payments, our net income and cash position will be reduced, and we may continue to experience losses. There are 
provisions in both license agreements that could cause expiration at an earlier date. If our license agreements with Motorola were to be terminated for any 
reason, our net sales would be materially adversely affected. 

 

We may require additional funding, which may be difficult to obtain on favorable terms, if at all. 

 

Over the next 12 months we may require additional funding if, for instance, we buy inventory and develop products in anticipation of significant 
Motorola sales, if our sales are lower than forecast, or if we continue to experience losses. On March 12, 2021, we entered into a new loan and security 
agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB Loan Agreement”), which provides for a revolving facility up to a principal amount of $12.0 million. The 
availability of borrowings under the SVB Loan Agreement is subject to certain conditions and requirements. It is not certain whether all or part of this line of 
credit will be available to us in the future; and other sources of financing may not be available to us on a timely basis if at all, or on terms acceptable to us. If 
we fail to obtain acceptable additional financing when needed, we may not have sufficient resources to fund our normal operations; and this could have a 
material adverse effect on our business. 

 
Our management has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are ineffective due to the 
existence of a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. If we are unable to establish and maintain effective disclosure 
controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis could be impaired, and 
the market price of our securities may be negatively affected. 

 

A material weakness (as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 

financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be 

prevented or detected on a timely basis. We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, of the effectiveness of 
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. Based upon this 

evaluation, management has identified a deficiency related to the operation of a process level control to address the completeness and accuracy of unrecorded 

inventory and related liabilities at December 31, 2020. 
 

Specifically, the Company identified inventory in-transit was not recorded upon the title transfer of the inventory to the Company, resulting in an 
understatement of inventory and related current liabilities. This error was corrected and impacted the consolidated balance sheet, other than stockholders’ 
equity, resulting in equal increases in the Company's inventory and current liabilities, only for the year end December 31, 2020, and did not impact the 
consolidated statements of operations. 

 

We may be unsuccessful in integrating the operations of the business we have acquired or expect to acquire in the future. 
 

From time to time, we may acquire businesses, assets, or securities of companies that we believe will provide a strategic fit with our business. We 
integrate acquired businesses with our existing operations; our overall internal control over financial reporting processes; and our financial, operations, and 
information systems. If the financial performance of our business, as supplemented by the assets and businesses acquired, does not meet our expectations, it 
may make it more difficult for us to service our debt obligations and our results of operations may fail to meet market expectations. We may not effectively 
assimilate the business or product offerings of acquired companies into our business or within the anticipated costs or timeframes, retain key customers and 
suppliers or key employees of acquired businesses, or successfully implement our business plan for the combined business. In addition, our final 
determinations and appraisals of the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in our acquisitions may vary materially from earlier 
estimates and we may fail to realize fully anticipated cost savings, growth opportunities or other potential synergies. We cannot assure that the fair value of 
acquired businesses or investments will remain constant. 

 
Our business strategy includes significant growth plans, and our financial condition and results of operations could be negatively affected if we fail 
to grow or fail to manage our growth effectively. 

 

We intend to pursue an organic growth strategy for our business; however, we regularly evaluate potential acquisitions and expansion opportunities. 
If appropriate opportunities present themselves, we expect to engage in selected acquisitions and other business growth initiatives or undertakings. There can 
be no assurance that we will successfully identify appropriate opportunities, that we will be able to negotiate or finance such activities or that such activities, 
if undertaken, will be successful. There are risks associated with our growth strategy. To the extent that we grow through acquisitions, we cannot ensure that 
we will be able to adequately or profitably manage this growth. Our existing operations, personnel, systems and internal control may not be adequate to 
support our growth and expansion and may require us to make additional unanticipated investments in our infrastructure. 
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Acquiring other companies or other assets, as well as other expansion activities, involves various risks including the risks of incorrectly assessing 

the value of acquired assets, encountering greater than expected costs of integrating, the risk of loss of customers and/or employees of the acquired business, 
executing cost savings measures, not achieving revenue enhancements and otherwise not realizing the transaction’s anticipated benefits. Our ability to 
address these matters successfully cannot be assured. In addition, our strategic efforts may divert resources or management’s attention from ongoing business 
operations, may require investment in integration and in development and enhancement of additional operational and reporting processes and controls. 

 

Our growth initiatives may also require us to recruit and retain experienced personnel to assist in such initiatives. Accordingly, the failure to identify 
and retain such personnel would place significant limitations on our ability to successfully execute our growth strategy. 

 

If we do not successfully execute our acquisition growth plan, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, 
reputation and growth prospects. In addition, if we were to conclude that the value of an acquired business had decreased and that the related goodwill had 
been impaired, that conclusion would result in an impairment of goodwill charge, which would adversely affect our results of operations. While we believe 
we will have the executive management resources and internal systems in place to successfully manage our future growth, there can be no assurance growth 
opportunities will be available or that we will successfully manage our growth. 

 

Our reliance on a small number of customers for a large portion of our revenues could materially harm our business and prospects. 

 

Relatively few companies account for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues. In 2020, two companies accounted for 10% or greater 
individually, and 76% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2020, three companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% 
or greater individually accounted for a combined 85% of the Company’s accounts receivable. In 2019, two companies accounted for 10% or greater 
individually, and 84% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2019, three companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% 
or greater individually accounted for a combined 84% of the Company’s accounts receivable. 

 

Our customers generally do not enter into long-term agreements obligating them to purchase our products. Because of our significant customer 
concentration, our net sales and operating income could fluctuate significantly due to changes in political or economic conditions or the loss of, reduction of 
business with, or less favorable terms for any of our significant customers. The loss of one or more of our largest customers, the failure of such customers to 
pay amounts due to us, or a material reduction in the amount of purchases made by such customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

 

The market for Internet access products and services has many competing technologies, and the demand for certain of our products and services is 
declining. 

 

If we are unable to grow demand for our broadband and dial-up modems or other products, we may be unable to sustain or grow our business. The 
market for high-speed communications products and services has a number of competing technologies. For instance, Internet access can be achieved by using 
a standard telephone line with an appropriate modem and dial-up or DSL service; using a cable TV line with a cable modem and cable modem service; or 
using a mobile broadband modem and mobile broadband service. We currently sell products that include all these technologies. The introduction of new 
products by competitors, market acceptance of competing products based on new or alternative technologies, or the emergence of new industry standards 
have in the past rendered and could continue to render our products less competitive or even obsolete. 
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Our reliance on sole suppliers or limited sources of supply could materially harm our business. 

 

We obtain certain key parts, components, and equipment from sole or limited sources of supply. In 2020, the Company had two suppliers that 
provided 99% of the Company's purchased inventory. In 2019, the Company had one supplier that provided 96% of the Company's purchased inventory. 
Also, as examples, the vast majority of our broadband modems use Broadcom chipsets and the vast majority of our dial-up modems use Conexant chipsets. 
The loss of the products or services of any of our significant suppliers or a material change in their business or their relationship with us could harm our 
business and operating results. While many companies that use computer chips in their business experienced during 2020 supply chain issues in sourcing 
chips due to a chip shortage, we did not yet experience issues during 2020 resulting from material delays or unavailability of chips. There can be no 
assurance, however, that we will not experience such issues in the future. We have experienced delays in receiving shipments of essential integrated circuits 
during other past periods, and we may experience such delays in the future. Moreover, we cannot assure you that a chipset supplier will, in the future, sell 
chipsets to us in quantities sufficient to meet our needs or that we will purchase the specified dollar amount of products necessary to receive concessions and 
incentives from a chipset supplier. An interruption in a chipset supplier's ability to deliver chipsets, a failure of our suppliers to produce chipset enhancements 
or new chipsets on a timely basis and at competitive prices, a material increase in the price of the chipsets, our failure to purchase a specified dollar amount 
of products or any other adverse change in our relationship with modem component suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations. In the past we have experienced long lead-times and significant delays in receiving shipments of modem chipsets from our sole source suppliers. 
We may experience similar delays in the future. In addition, some products may have other components that are available from only one source. If we are 
unable to obtain a sufficient supply of components from our current sources, we would experience difficulties in obtaining alternative sources or in altering 
product designs to use alternative components. Resulting delays or reductions in product shipments could damage relationships with our customers, and our 
customers could decide to purchase products from our competitors. Inability to meet our customers’ demand or a decision by one or more of our customers to 
purchase products from our competitors could harm our operating results. 

 
We believe that our future success will depend in large part on our ability to more successfully penetrate the broadband modem markets, which 
have been challenging markets, with significant barriers to entry. 

 

We believe that our future success depends in large part on our ability to penetrate the broadband modem markets including cable and mobile 
broadband. These markets have significant barriers to entry. Although some cable, and mobile broadband modems are sold at retail, the high-volume 
purchasers of these modems are concentrated in a relatively few large cable, telephone and mobile broadband service providers which offer broadband 
modem services to their customers. These customers, particularly cable and mobile broadband services providers, also have extensive and varied certification 
processes for modems to be approved for use on their network. Obtaining these certifications is expensive and time consuming, and the certification 
processes continue to evolve. Successfully penetrating the broadband modem market therefore presents a number of challenges including: the current limited 
retail market for broadband modems; the relatively small number of cable, telecommunications and Internet service provider customers that make up the bulk 
of the market for broadband modems in certain countries, including the United States; the significant bargaining power of these large volume purchasers; the 
time consuming, expensive, uncertain and varied certification process of the various cable service providers; the savings, if any, offered to customers who use 
their own modem instead of one supplied by the service provider; and the strong relationships with cable service providers enjoyed by incumbent cable 
equipment providers like Arris. 

 
If we fail to meet changing customer requirements and emerging industry standards, there would be an adverse impact on our ability to sell our 
products and services. 

 

The market for Internet access products and services is characterized by aggressive pricing practices, continually changing customer demand 
patterns, rapid technological advances, emerging industry standards and short product life cycles. Some of our product and service developments and 
enhancements have taken longer than planned and have delayed the availability of our products and services, which adversely affected our sales and 
profitability in the past. Any significant delays in the future may adversely impact our ability to sell our products and services, and our results of operations 
and financial condition may be adversely affected. Our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to: identify and respond to emerging 
technological trends and industry standards in the market; develop and maintain competitive products that meet changing customer demands; enhance our 
products by adding innovative features that differentiate our products from those of our competitors; bring products to market on a timely basis; introduce 
products that have competitive prices; manage our product transitions, inventory levels and manufacturing processes efficiently; respond effectively to new 
technological changes or new product announcements by others; meet changing industry standards; distribute our products quickly in response to customer 
demand; and compete successfully in the markets for our new products. These factors could also have an adverse effective on our operating results. 

 
Our product cycles tend to be short and we may incur significant non-recoverable expenses or devote significant resources to sales that do not occur 

when anticipated. Therefore, the resources we devote to product development, sales and marketing may not generate material net sales for us. In addition, 
short product cycles have resulted in and may in the future result in excess and obsolete inventory, which has had and may in the future have an adverse 
effect on our results of operations. In an effort to develop innovative products and technology, we have incurred and may in the future incur substantial 
development, sales, marketing, and inventory costs. If we are unable to recover these costs, our financial condition and results could be adversely affected. In 
addition, if we sell our products at reduced prices in anticipation of cost reductions and we still have higher cost products in inventory, our business would be 
harmed, and our results of operations and financial condition would be adversely affected. 

 
 

  16  



 

 

 
Our operations are subject to a number of risks that could harm our business. 

 

Currently, our business is significantly dependent on our operations outside the US, particularly the production of substantially all of our products. 
For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020, sales outside North America were only 1.8% of our net sales. However, almost all of our manufacturing 
operations are now located outside of the United States. The inherent risks of international operations could harm our business, results of operation, and 
liquidity. For instance, our operations in Mexico are subject to the challenges and risks associated with international operations, including those related to 
integration of operations across different cultures and languages, and economic, legal, political and regulatory risks. In addition, fluctuations in the currency 
exchange rates have had, and may continue to have, an adverse effect on our financial results. The types of risks faced in connection with international 
operations include, among others: regulatory and communications requirements and policy changes; currency exchange rate fluctuation, including changes in 
value of the VND, RMB and Mexican peso relative to the US dollar; cultural differences; reduced control over staff and other difficulties in staffing and 
managing foreign operations; reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries; political and economic changes and disruptions; 
governmental currency controls; shipping costs; strikes and work slowdowns at ports or other locations in the supply path; and import, export, and tariff 
regulations. Almost all of our products are built in Vietnam, mainland China or Taiwan, so these products are subject to numerous risks including currency 
risk and economic, legal, political and regulatory risks. Additionally, the US government has instituted or proposed other changes in trade policies that 
include the negotiation or termination of trade agreements economic sanctions on individuals, corporations or countries, and other government regulations 
affecting trade between the United States and other countries where we conduct our business. It may be time-consuming and expensive for us to alter our 
business operations in order to adapt to or comply with any such changes. If the United States were to withdraw from or materially modify international trade 
agreements to which it is a party, or if tariffs were imposed or raised on the products sourced from outside the United States that we buy, our costs for such 
products could increase significantly, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 

If we fail to effectively manage our inventory levels, there could be a material and adverse effect on our liquidity and our business. 
 

Due to rapid technological change and changing markets, we are required to manage our inventory levels carefully to both meet customer 
expectations regarding delivery times and to limit our excess inventory exposure. In the event we fail to effectively manage our inventory, our liquidity may 
be adversely affected and we may face increased risk of inventory obsolescence, a decline in market value of the inventory, or losses from theft, fire, or other 
casualty. 

 

We may be unable to produce sufficient quantities of our products because we depend on third-party manufacturers. If these third-party 
manufacturers fail to produce quality products in a timely manner, our ability to fulfill our customer orders would be adversely impacted. 

 

We use contract manufacturers and original design manufacturers for electronics manufacturing of most of our products. We use these third-party 
manufacturers to help ensure low costs, rapid market entry and reliability. Any manufacturing disruption could impair our ability to fulfill orders, and a 
failure to fulfill orders would adversely affect our sales. Although we currently use four electronics manufacturers for the bulk of our purchases, in some 
cases a given product is only provided by one of these companies. The loss of the services of any of our significant third-party manufacturers or a material 
adverse change in the business of or our relationships with any of these manufacturers could harm our business. Since third parties manufacture our products 
and we expect this to continue in the future, our success will depend, in part, on the ability of third parties to manufacture our products cost effectively and in 
sufficient quantities to meet our customer demand. 

 

We are subject to the following risks because of our reliance on third-party manufacturers: reduced management and control of component 
purchases; reduced control over delivery schedules, quality assurance, manufacturing yields, and labor practices; lack of adequate capacity during periods of 
excess demand; limited warranties on products supplied to us; potential increases in prices; interruption of supplies from assemblers as a result of a fire, 
natural calamity, global health pandemic, strike or other significant event; and misappropriation of our intellectual property. 

 

Our cable modem sales may be significantly reduced due to long lead-times. 

 
During 2020, approximately 93% of net sales were cable and other broadband modems, of which 64% were WiFi-enabled devices. These products 

have experienced long lead-times due to certain component production lead-times of up to 20 weeks and due to manufacturer-related delays, and these long 
lead times may significantly reduce our potential sales. 
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We face significant competition, which could result in decreased demand for our products or services. 

 

We may be unable to compete successfully. A number of companies have developed, or are expected to develop, products that compete or will 
compete with our products. Furthermore, many of our current and potential competitors have significantly greater resources than we do. Intense competition, 
rapid technological change and evolving industry standards could result in less favorable selling terms to our customers, decrease demand for our products or 
make our products obsolete. Our operating results and our ability to compete could be adversely affected if we are unable to: successfully and accurately 
anticipate customer demand; manage our product transitions, inventory levels and manufacturing processes efficiently; distribute or introduce our products 
quickly in response to customer demand and technological advances; differentiate our products from those of our competitors; or otherwise compete 
successfully in the markets for our products. 

 

Our future success will depend on the continued services of our key product development personnel. 
 

The loss of any of our key product development personnel, the inability to attract or retain qualified personnel in the future, or delays in hiring 
skilled personnel could harm our business. Competition for skilled personnel is significant. We may be unable to attract and retain all the personnel necessary 
for the development of our business. In addition, the loss of any member of the senior management team, a key engineer or salesperson, or other key 
contributors, could harm our relations with our customers, our ability to respond to technological change, and our business. 

 

Risks Related to International Operations 
 

Fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates in relation to the US dollar could have a material adverse effect on our operating results. 
 

Changes in currency exchange rates that increase the relative value of the US dollar may make it more difficult for us to compete with foreign 
manufacturers on price, may reduce our foreign currency denominated sales when expressed in dollars, or may otherwise have a material adverse effect on 
our sales and operating results. A significant increase in our foreign currency denominated sales would increase our risk associated with foreign currency 
fluctuations. A weakness in the US dollar relative to the Mexican peso and various Asian currencies, especially the Vietnamese dong (“VND”) and the 
Chinese renminbi (“RMB”), could increase our product costs. Fluctuations in the currency exchange rates have, and may continue to, adversely affect our 
operating results. 

 

Capacity constraints in our Mexican operations could reduce our sales and revenues and hurt customer relationships. 
 

We rely on our Mexican operations to finish and ship most of the products we sell. Since moving our operations to our Mexican facility we have 
experienced and may continue to experience constraints on our capacity as we address challenges related to operating our new facility, such as hiring and 
training workers, creating the facility’s infrastructure, developing new supplier relationships, complying with customs and border regulations, and resolving 
shipping and logistical issues. Our net sales may be reduced, and our customer relationships may be impaired if we continue to experience constraints on our 
capacity. We are working to minimize capacity constraints in a cost-effective manner, but there can be no assurance that we will be able to adequately 
minimize capacity constraints. 

 

Our reliance on a business processing outsourcing partner to conduct our operations in Mexico could materially harm our business and prospects. 
 

In connection with our North American manufacturing operations in Mexico, we rely on a business processing outsourcing partner to hire, subject to 
our oversight, the team for our Mexican operations, provide the selected facility described above, and coordinate many of the ongoing logistics relating to our 
operations in Mexico. Our outsourcing partner’s related functions include acquiring the necessary Mexican permits, providing the appropriate Mexican 
operating entity, assisting in customs clearances, and providing other general assistance and administrative services in connection with the ongoing operation 
of the Mexican facility. Our outsourcing partner’s performance of these obligations efficiently and effectively is critical to the success of our operations in 
Mexico. Failure of our outsourcing partner to perform its obligations efficiently and effectively could result in delays, unanticipated costs or interruptions in 
production, delays in deliveries to our customers or other harm to our business, results of operation, and liquidity. Moreover, if our outsourcing arrangement 
is not successful, we cannot assure our ability to find an alternative production facility or outsourcing partner to assist in our operations in Mexico or our 
ability to operate successfully in Mexico without outsourcing or similar assistance. 
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Tariffs significantly harm our cash flow and profitability, and they may continue to do that in the future. 

 

Since September 24, 2018, almost all of our products produced in China have been subject to a tariff on our cost of goods at the time of entry into 
the United States. The tariff started at 10% and increased to 25% in June 2019. These tariffs have a significant impact on our cost of inventory and 
profitability. These tariffs may not be reduced and may even be increased. Although we have actively worked on finding production capability outside China, 
it is not possible to predict the impact of tariffs in the future, which could have a material adverse impact on our net income and cash position and we may 
continue to experience losses. 

 

Risks Related to Our Products, Technology and Intellectual Property 
 

We may be subject to product returns resulting from defects or from overstocking of our products. Product returns could result in the failure to 

attain market acceptance of our products, which would harm our business. 
 

If our products contain undetected defects, errors, or failures, we could face delays in the development of our products, numerous product returns, 
and other losses to us or to our customers or end users. Any of these occurrences could also result in the loss of or delay in market acceptance of our 
products, either of which would reduce our sales and harm our business. We are also exposed to the risk of product returns from our customers as a result of 
contractual stock rotation privileges and our practice of assisting some of our customers in balancing their inventories. Overstocking has led in the past and 
may lead in the future to higher than normal customer returns. 

 

Security breaches and data loss may expose us to liability, harm our reputation and adversely affect our business. 
 

As part of our business operations, we collect, store, process, use and disclose sensitive data relating to our business, including in connection with 
the provision of our cloud services and in our information systems and data centers (including third-party data centers). We also engage third-party providers 
to assist in the development of our products and for services that may include the collection, handling, processing and storage of personal data on our behalf. 
In addition, we host our customers’ subscriber data in third-party data centers in the course of providing our products and cloud-based platform solutions and 
services to our customers. While we and our third-party providers apply multiple layers of security to control access to data and use encryption and 
authentication technologies to secure data from unauthorized access, use, alteration and disclosure, these security measures may be compromised. Malicious 
hackers may attempt to gain access to our network or data centers; steal proprietary information related to our business, products, employees and customers; 
or interrupt our systems and services or those of our customers or others. In particular, there has been a spike in cybersecurity attacks during the COVID-19 
pandemic and work-from-home environment. 

 
Some of our software products contain “open source” software under terms of open source licenses, which include, but are not limited to, General 
Public License Version 2 and MIT Licenses. 

 

The use of open source software has risks related to open source license compliance and software quality control. The Company mitigates these 
risks by employing processes such as open source license review prior to technology selection and upgrade version testing prior to deployment. However, it 
must be noted that the risks described above cannot be eliminated. 

 

We may experience costs and senior management distractions due to patent-related matters. 
 

Many of our products incorporate patented technology. We attempt to license appropriate patents either directly or through our integrated circuit 
suppliers. However, we are subject to costs and senior management distractions due to patent-related litigation. 

 

Patent litigation matters are complex and time consuming and expose Zoom to potentially material obligations. It is impossible to assess the 
potential cost and senior management distraction associated with patent litigation matters that are currently outstanding or may occur in the future. 

 

  19  



 

 

 
We may have difficulty protecting our intellectual property. 

 

Our ability to compete is heavily affected by our ability to protect our intellectual property. We rely primarily on trade secret laws, confidentiality 
procedures, patents, copyrights, trademarks, and licensing arrangements to protect our intellectual property. The steps we take to protect our technology may 
be inadequate. Existing trade secret, trademark and copyright laws offer only limited protection. Our patents could be invalidated or circumvented. We have 
more intellectual property assets in some countries than we do in others. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries in which our products are or may be 
developed, manufactured or sold may not protect our products or intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. This may 

make the possibility of piracy of our technology and products more likely. In February 2021, Zoom Video Communications, Inc. filed a petition with the US 
Patent and Trademark Office seeking cancellation of the Company’s Zoom® trademark. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the petition and 

intends vigorously to oppose the cancellation petition. We cannot ensure that the steps that we have taken to protect our intellectual property will be adequate 
to prevent misappropriation of our technology. 

 

We could infringe the intellectual property rights of others. 
 

Particular aspects of our technology could be found to infringe on the intellectual property rights or patents of others. Other companies may hold or 
obtain patents on inventions or may otherwise claim proprietary rights to technology necessary to our business. We cannot predict the extent to which we 
may be required to seek licenses. We cannot assure you that the terms of any licenses we may be required to seek will be reasonable. We are often 
indemnified by our suppliers relative to certain intellectual property rights. However, these indemnifications do not cover all possible suits, and there can be 
no assurance that a relevant indemnification will be honored by the indemnifying party or that the indemnifying party has the financial resources to meet its 
indemnification obligation. 

 
 

Financial, Regulatory and Tax Compliance Risks 
 

We could be subject to additional sales tax or other tax liabilities. 
 

States have varying policies regarding when a company has a taxable presence in the state. There are many factors to consider when determining if 
state nexus exists, including inventory consignment to ordering and fulfillment, physical presence, economic presence, and personnel. We have policies and 
procedures in place to collect and pay sales tax for Amazon sales in states where we believe we have nexus and are required to charge sales tax. However, it 
is possible that we could be negatively impacted by a change in state laws and policies, court decisions, Federal law, or our decisions about where sales tax is 
owed. In addition, we may incur income tax liability in some states where we have nexus. 

 
Environmental regulations may increase our manufacturing costs and harm our business. 

 

In the past, environmental regulations have increased our manufacturing costs and caused us to modify products. New state, US, or other regulations 
may in the future impact our product costs or restrict our ability to ship certain products into certain regions. 

 

Changes in current or future laws or governmental regulations and industry standards that negatively impact our products, services and 
technologies could harm our business. 

 

The jurisdiction of the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”), extends to the entire US communications industry including our customers 
and their products and services that incorporate our products. Our products are also required to meet the regulatory requirements of other countries 
throughout the world where our products and services are sold. Obtaining government certifications is time-consuming and costly. In the past, we have 
encountered delays in the introduction of our products, such as our cable modems, as a result of the need to obtain government certifications. We may face 
further delays if we are unable to comply with governmental regulations. Delays caused by the time it takes to comply with regulatory requirements may 
result in cancellations or postponements of product orders or purchases by our customers, which would harm our business. 

 

In addition to reliability and quality standards, the market acceptance of certain products and services is dependent upon the adoption of industry 
standards so that products from multiple manufacturers are able to communicate with each other. Standards are continuously being modified and replaced. As 
standards evolve, we may be required to modify our existing products or develop and support new versions of our products. The failure of our products to 
comply, or delays in compliance, with various existing and evolving industry standards could delay or interrupt volume production of our products, which 
could harm our business. 
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Our ability to use our net operating losses (“NOLs”) may be negatively affected if there is an “ownership change” as defined under Section 382 of 
the Internal Revenue Code. 

 

At December 31, 2020, we had approximately $61.8 million in federal NOLs. These deferred tax assets are currently fully reserved. Under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 382 rules, if a change of ownership is triggered, our ability to use our NOLs can be negatively affected if there is an “ownership 
change” as defined under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. An ownership change at any time is determined by considering each stockholder with 5% or 
more ownership, summing the highest percentage change for each of those stockholders over the prior three years, and determining that the sum exceeds 
50%. The beliefs that a change of ownership limiting the use of our NOLs occurred during 2020. The Company is in the process of determining the impact of 
any such limitation. Since ownership changes are measured over three-year periods, it is possible that additional changes of ownership may occur in the 
future. 

 

Risks Related to the Securities Market and Our Common Stock 

The market price of our common stock may be volatile and trading volume may be low. 

The market price of our common stock could fluctuate significantly for many reasons, including, without limitation: as a result of the risk factors 
listed herein; actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results; regulatory changes that could impact our business; and general economic and 
industry conditions. Shares of our common stock are quoted on the OTCQB Venture Market. The lack of an active market may impair the ability of holders 
of our common stock to sell their shares of common stock at the time they wish to sell them or at a price that they consider reasonable. The lack of an active 
market may also reduce the fair market value of the shares of our common stock. 

 

We do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. 
 

We do not expect to declare dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain cash to support our operations and to finance the 
growth and development of our business. There can be no assurance that we will have, at any time, sufficient surplus under Delaware law to be able to pay 
any dividends. In addition, pursuant to the SVB Loan Agreement, we cannot pay any dividends without Silicon Valley Bank’s prior written consent. If we do 
not pay dividends, the price of our common stock must appreciate for you to receive a gain on your investment in the Company. 

 
Our Executive Chairman and his family own a significant percentage of our shares, which will limit your ability to influence corporate matters. 

 

Our Executive Chairman, and his family owned approximately 50.24% percent of our outstanding shares of Common Stock as of March 26, 2021. 
Accordingly, he could have a significant influence over the outcome of any corporate transaction or other matter submitted to our stockholders for approval, 
including the election of directors, mergers, consolidations and the sale of all or substantially all of our assets and also could prevent or cause a change in 
control. The interests of the Executive Chairman and his family may differ from the interests of our other stockholders. Third parties may be discouraged 
from making a tender offer or bid to acquire us because of this concentration of ownership. 

 

ITEM 1B. – UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
 

None. 

 
ITEM 2 – PROPERTIES 

 

Our principal executive offices are located at 848 Elm Street, Manchester, New Hampshire, where we sublease approximately 2,656 square feet of 
office space pursuant to a lease that expires in 2021, with an automatic renewal clause unless terminated under the lease agreement. 

 

The Company signed a twelve-month lease agreement for offices at 225 Franklin Street, Boston, MA and completed the move to this location on 
June 28, 2019. The lease has an automatic renewal option provision and renews unless cancelled under the terms of the agreement. This lease originally 
expired on June 30, 2020, after which the Company reduced its footprint of leased space and continued on a short-term basis until October 31, 2020. 
Beginning November 1, 2020, while reviewing options for long-term lease for headquarters in Boston, the Company signed a month-to-month lease 
agreement for a single office at 101 Arch Street, Boston, MA. The Company has elected to apply the short-term lease exception under ASC 842 which does 
not require the recognition of an operating lease liability or right-of-use asset on the condensed consolidated balance sheet in relation to the lease at 101 Arch 
Street. 
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In May 2020, the Company signed a two-year lease agreement for 3,218 square feet at 275 Turnpike Executive Park, Canton MA. The agreement 

includes a one-time option to cancel the second year of lease with three-month advance notice. The location is currently being occupied by the research and 

development group of the Company. 
 

We also have two leases in Tijuana, Mexico. We signed a lease for a 11,390 square foot facility in November 2014, and in September 2015, also 
leased spaced in the adjacent building to double our capacity. Our lease expired in November 2020, and we have been leasing on a month-to-month basis 
after November 2020 while we negotiate a lease renewal. 

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our near-term needs, though additional space could be required based upon business activities. 
When our existing leases expire, we may look for alternate space for our operations. We believe that suitable alternative space would be available on 
commercially reasonable terms if required in the future. 

 

ITEM 3 – LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

 

In the ordinary course of their business, the Company and its subsidiaries are subject to lawsuits, arbitrations, claims, and other legal proceedings in 
connection with their business. Some of the legal actions include claims for substantial or unspecified compensatory and/or punitive damages. A substantial 
adverse judgment or other unfavorable resolution of these matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of 
operations, and cash flows. Management believes that the Company has adequate legal defenses with respect to the legal proceedings to which it is a 
defendant or respondent and that the outcome of these pending proceedings is not likely to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of 
operations, or cash flows of the Company. However, the Company is unable to predict the outcome of these matters. 

 
ITEM 4 – MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

 

Not applicable. 

 

  22  



 

 

 
PART II 

 

ITEM 5 – MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF 
EQUITY SECURITIES 

 

Our common stock trades on the OTCQB under the symbol "MINM" (formerly traded under the symbol “ZMTP” until December 8, 2020). 

As of March 26, 2021, there were 35,362,854 shares of our common stock outstanding and 134 holders of record of our common stock. 

Dividend Policy 
 

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and do not plan to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Our current 
policy is to retain all of our earnings to finance future growth. In addition, pursuant to the SVB Loan Agreement, which was executed on March 12, 2021, we 
cannot pay any dividends without Silicon Valley Bank’s prior written consent. 

 

Repurchases by the Company 
 

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock. 
 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 
 

The information required by this Item 5 regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is set forth in Part III, Item 
12 of this report. 

 

ITEM 6 – SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 

This item has been omitted based on Zoom’s status as a smaller reporting company. 
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ITEM 7 – MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

The following section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” contains statements that are not statements of historical fact and are forward-looking statements within the meaning of federal securities laws. 
These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be 
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. These statements reflect 
our current views with respect to future events and are based on assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties. Factors that may cause our actual results 
to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include those factors described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” beginning on page 13 of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should carefully review all of these factors, as well as the comprehensive discussion of forward-looking statements on 
page 22 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

 

Overview 
 

We deliver innovative internet access products that reliably and securely connect homes and offices around the world. We derive our net sales 
primarily from sales of home networking products including cable modems, cable modem/routers, wireless routers, and mesh WiFi systems to retailers, 
distributors, and Internet Service Providers under an exclusive global license to the Motorola® brand, as well as our ZOOM® brand. Our AI-driven cloud 
platform and applications, acquired on December 4, 2020 through a merger with Minim Inc., make network optimization simple for broadband users and 
their service— leading to higher customer satisfaction and decreased support burden. 

 

We sell our products through a direct sales force, independent sales agents, distributors, and reseller partners. Our growth strategy centers on four 
key pillars: distributing high-margin software on hardware products as a profit driver; employing customer-driven product design and planning; expanding 
our global sales reach with ISPs and retailers; and mitigating costs and risks through supply chain resiliency. We believe our competitive edge in the market 
is forged by our software-driven approach to hardware product delivery, radical customer centricity, and commitment to win-win relationships with our 
reseller and partner base. 

 

We are experienced in electronics hardware, firmware, and software design and testing, regulatory certifications, product documentation, and 
packaging; and we use that experience in developing each product in-house or in partnership with suppliers who are typically based in Asia. Electronic 
assembly and testing of the Company’s products in accordance with our specifications is typically done in Asia. 

 

We continually seek to improve our product designs and manufacturing approach to elevate product performance and reduce our costs. We pursue a 
strategy of outsourcing rather than internally developing our hardware product chipsets, which are application-specific integrated circuits that form the 
technology base for our modems. By outsourcing the chipset technology, we are able to concentrate our research and development resources on modem 
system design, leverage the extensive research and development capabilities of our chipset suppliers, and reduce our development time and associated costs 
and risks. As a result of this approach, we are able to quickly develop new products while maintaining a relatively low level of research and development 
expense as a percentage of net sales. We also outsource aspects of our manufacturing to contract manufacturers as a means of reducing our costs of 
production, and to provide us with greater flexibility in our production capacity. 

 

Generally, our gross margin for a given product depends on a number of factors, including the type of customer to whom we are selling. The gross 
margin products sold to retailers tends to be higher than for some of our other customers; but the sales, support, returns, and overhead costs associated with 
products sold to retailers also tend to be higher. Zoom’s sales to certain countries are currently handled by a single master distributor for each country that 
handles the support and marketing costs within the country. Gross margin for sales to these master distributors tends to be low, since lower pricing to these 
distributors helps them to cover the support and marketing costs for their country. 

 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance on December 31, 2020 was $772 thousand compared to $1.2 million on December 31, 2019. On 
December 31, 2020, the Company had $2.4 million outstanding bank debt on an available asset-based credit line of $4.0 million, and working capital of $5.9 
million. 

 

The Company closed on a $3.4 million private placement and issued an aggregate of 2,237,103 shares on May 26, 2020 at a purchase price of $1.52 
per share, and in connection with the closing of the offering two designees of an investor in the private placement joined Zoom’s Board of Directors. Other 
major changes of cash and cash equivalents during 2020 were decreases of approximately $5.0 million in accounts receivables, $8.8 million in inventories, 
and $0.3 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets; and increases of approximately $6.7 million in accounts payable and $4.7 million in accrued 
expenses. The Company had drawn $2.4 million, net, of its credit line. In 2020, the Company also had a net loss of $3.9 million, which contributed to the 
decrease in cash and cash equivalents. 
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The Company’s ability to maintain adequate levels of liquidity depends in part on our ability to sell inventory on hand and collect related 

receivables. Effective September 24, 2018, almost all of our products were subject to a 10% tariff because they were produced in China and they were in 
product categories subject to a 10% tariff on our cost of goods at the time of entry into the United States. Effective June 15, 2019 almost all of our products 
were subject to the tariff increase from 10% to 25%. This has a significant impact on our cost of inventory and profitability. Because these tariffs may not be 
reduced and may even be increased, we moved a substantial portion of our production capability outside China to Vietnam. Although the Company has 
recently experienced losses, it has continued to experience sales growth. Zoom experienced five consecutive years with double-digit sales growth. 

 

COVID-19 Pandemic 
 

We are subject to risks and uncertainties as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our 
business is highly uncertain and difficult to predict as coronavirus continues to spread around the world. The availability of vaccines has been limited, and 
there can be no assurance as to when the pandemic will be contained. Since March 2020, we have instituted office closures, travel restrictions and a 
mandatory work-from-home policy for substantially all of our employees. The spread of COVID-19 has had a prolonged impact on our supply chain 
operations due to restrictions, reduced capacity and limited availability from suppliers whom we rely on for sourcing components and materials and from third-
party partners whom we rely on for manufacturing, warehousing and logistics services. Although demand for our products has been strong in the short- term as 
consumers seek more bandwidth and better Wi-Fi, customers’ purchasing decisions over the long-term may be impacted by the pandemic and its impact 
on the economy, which could in turn impact our revenue and results of operations. Furthermore, our supply chain continues to face constraints 
primarily due to challenges in sourcing components and materials for our products. The prolonged impact of COVID-19 could exacerbate these constraints or 
cause further supply chain disruptions. 

 
In the second quarter of 2020, the Company temporarily shifted from the use of primarily ocean freight during prior quarters to the use of primarily 

air freight during the second quarter of 2020 and into the third quarter of 2020 to keep up with demand and replenish supply. By the fourth quarter of 2020, 
the Company had returned to primarily ocean freight. These changes in freight transportation resulted in an additional $1.5 million in freight expense 
incurred during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company also implemented cost cutting measures to conserve cash, delaying the planned start dates 
of all new hiring during 2020, and not renewing the same footprint of its headquarters office lease when it expired in June 2020. The Company retained a 
small executive office within the City of Boston on a short-term, month-to-month basis at a cost of $682 per month starting November 1, 2020. The 
Company negotiated extended and improved payment terms with its primary outsourced manufacturing partner. The Company applied for and received 
approval for a Small Business Administration (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Plan Loan with Primary Bank under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic 
Security Act (the “CARES Act”). The loan in the amount of $583.3 thousand was approved and funded in April 2020. The Company used the proceeds from 
the loan for qualifying expenses as defined in the CARES Act. 

 

Recent Accounting Standards 
 

Please refer to Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is incorporated herein by reference. 
 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
 

Following is a discussion of what we view as our more significant accounting policies and estimates. As described below, management judgments 
and estimates must be made and used in connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. We have identified areas where material 
differences could result in the amount and timing of our net sales, costs, and expenses for any period if we had made different judgments or used different 
estimates. 

Revenue Recognition. The Company primarily sells hardware products to its customers. The hardware products include cable modems and 
gateways, mobile broadband modems, wireless routers, MoCA adapters and mesh home networking devices. The Company also sells software, including the 
Minim subscription service that enables and secures a better connected home. 

 

The Company derives its net sales primarily from the sales of hardware products to computer peripherals retailers, computer product distributors, 
OEMs, and direct to consumers and other channel partners via the Internet. The Company accounts for point-of-sale taxes on a net basis. In addition, the 
Company earns revenues from its software subscription services of the Minim AI-driven smart home WiFi management and security platform. 

 
The Company applies Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, which requires that an entity recognize revenue when it transfers 

promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which a company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
or services. 
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Product Returns. Products are returned by retail stores and distributors for inventory balancing, contractual stock rotation privileges, and warranty 

repair or replacements. Analyses of actual returned product are compared to analyses of the product return estimates and historically have resulted in no 
material difference between the two. The Company has concluded that the current process of estimating the return reserve represents a fair measure with 
which to adjust revenue. Returned goods are variable and under Topic 606, are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance 
obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). Under Topic 606, the Company monitors pending authorized returns of goods and, if deemed 
appropriate, record the right of return asset accordingly. 

 

Price Protection Refunds. We have a policy of offering price protection to certain of our retailer and distributor customers for some or all their 
inventory. Price protection provides that if the Company reduces the price on any products sold to the customer, the Company will guarantee an account 
credit for the price difference for all quantities of that product that the customer still holds. Price protection is variable and under Topic 606, are estimated and 
recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). The estimates are due to price protection are 
historically not material. 

 

Volume Rebates and Promotion Programs. Many of our retailer customers require sales and marketing support funding, usually set as 
a percentage of our sales in their stores. Volume rebates are variable dependent upon the volume of goods sold-through the Company’s customers to end users 
variable and under Topic 606, are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). 
The estimates due to rebates and promotions are historically not material. 

 

Warranties. The Company does not offer customers to purchase a warranty separately. Therefore, there is not a separate performance obligation. 
The Company does account for warranties as a cost accrual and the warranties do not include any additional distinct services other than the assurance that the 
goods comply with agreed-upon specifications. The estimates due to warranties are historically not material. 

 

Inventory Valuation and Cost of Goods Sold. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost, determined by the first-in, first-out method, or its net 
realizable value. We review inventories for obsolete and slow-moving products each quarter and make provisions based on our estimate of the probability 
that the material will not be consumed or that it will be sold below cost. Additionally, material product certification costs on new products are capitalized and 
amortized over the expected period of value of the respective products. 

 

Valuation and Impairment of Deferred Tax Assets. As part of the process of preparing our financial statements we estimate our income tax 
expense and deferred income tax position. This process involves the estimation of our actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary 
differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which 
are included in our balance sheet. We then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income. To the extent we 
believe that recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation allowance. Changes in the valuation allowance are reflected in the statement of operations. 

 

Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes and any valuation allowances. We have recorded a 
100% valuation allowance against our deferred income tax assets. It is management's estimate that, after considering all available objective evidence, 
historical and prospective, with greater weight given to historical evidence, it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized. If we establish a 
record of continuing profitability, at some point we will be required to reduce the valuation allowance and recognize an equal income tax benefit which will 
increase net income in that period(s). 

 

In December 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) 
that significantly revised the U.S. tax code effective January 1, 2018 by, among other things, lowering the corporate income tax rate from a top marginal rate 
of 35% to a flat 21%. 

 

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $61,779,000 which are available to offset 
future taxable income. They are due to expire in varying amounts from 2021 to 2039. Federal net operating losses occurring after December 31, 2017, of 
approximately $13,617,000 may be carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had state net operating loss carry forwards of 
approximately $19,151,000 which are available to offset future taxable income. They are due to expire in varying amounts from 2032 through 2039. The 
Company’s merger with Minim in 2020 triggered a change of ownership that may limit the use of our net operating losses. The Company is in the process of 
determining the impact of any such limitation. A valuation allowance has been established for the full amount of deferred income tax assets as management 
has concluded that it is more-likely than-not that the benefits from such assets will not be realized. 
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Sales Tax. The Company recorded a sales tax accrual in 2017 after the Company became aware that a state sales tax liability was both probable and 

estimable as of December 31, 2017. The state sales tax liability stems from the Company’s ‘Fulfilled By Amazon’ sales agreement which allows Amazon to 
warehouse the Company’s inventory throughout a number of states. As a result, the Company recorded an expense of approximately $831 thousand during 
the year ended December 31, 2017. During the year 2018, the Company settled its obligations with most of the states and re-assessed its liability on the last 
couple of states which resulted in a reduction of approximately $203 thousand in the sales tax liability. As of December 31, 2020, approximately $86 
thousand of the original state sales tax liability remains and $133 thousand relates to sales tax that has been collected and not yet remitted to the respective 
states. As of December 31, 2019, approximately $51 thousand of the original state sales tax liability remains and $98 thousand relates to sales tax that has 
been collected and not yet remitted to the respective states. As of December 31, 2020, approximately $50 thousand of the original state sales tax liability 
remains and $46 thousand relates to sales tax that has been collected and not yet remitted to the respective states. 

 

Results of Operations 
 

Zoom’s net sales of $48.0 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 (“FY 2020”) were up 27.6% from $37.6 million for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2019 (“FY 2019”). Zoom reported a net loss of $3.9 million or $0.15 per share for FY 2020 compared to a net loss of $3.3 million or 
$0.18 per share for FY 2019. Gross profit was $13.6 million for FY 2020, up $2.7 million from $10.9 million for FY 2019. Gross margin decreased to 28.4% 
in FY 2020 from 29.0% in FY 2019. 

 

The following table sets forth certain financial data as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated. 
 

Years Ended 
  December 31,  

    2020     2019  

Net sales  100.0%  100.0% 
Cost of goods sold  71.6  71.0 

Gross profit  28.4  29.0 
Operating expense:     

Selling and marketing  19.1  24.5 
General and administration  11.3  7.1 
Research and development  8.0  5.9 

Total operating expenses  38.4  37.6 

Operating loss  (10.0)  (8.6) 
Total other income (expense)  2.1  (0.1) 

Loss before income taxes  (8.0)  (8.6) 
Income taxes  0.1  0.1 

Net loss               (8.0)%                    (8.7)% 

 

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2019 
 

The following is a discussion of the major categories of our consolidated statement of operations, comparing the consolidated financial results for 
the year ended December 31, 2020 with the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 

Net Sales. Our total net sales increased year-over-year by $10.4 million or 27.6%. The growth in net sales is directly attributable to increased sales 
of Motorola branded cable modems and gateways. In both 2020 and 2019, we primarily generated our sales by selling cable modems and gateways. The 
decrease in other category of $0.3 million over 2019 is primarily due to a reduction in DSL products and a refocus on new products with growth potential 
outside North America as well as within new product introductions. 
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Cable Modems & Gateways $    44,473,601 $    33,810,410 $    10,663,191 31.5% 

North America $  47,116,632 $    36,741,262 $    10,375,370 28.2% 

 
 

  FY 2020    FY 2019    Change $  Change %  

 

Other 3,514,948 3,804,046 (289,098) (7.6%) 

 

As shown in the table below, our net sales in North America increased $10.4 million to $47.1 million in FY 2020 from $36.7 million in FY 2019. 
Net sales outside North America remained relatively flat from 2019 at $871.9 thousand for FY 2020. Generally, Zoom’s lower sales outside North America 
reflect the fact that cable modems are sold successfully through retailers in the United States but not in most countries outside the United States, due 
primarily to variations in government regulations. 

 

  FY 2020    FY 2019    Change $  Change %  

 

Outside North America 871,917 873,194 (1,277) (0.2%) 

 

Relatively few companies account for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues. In 2020, two companies accounted for 10% or greater 
individually, and 76% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2020, three companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% 
or greater individually accounted for a combined 85% of the Company’s accounts receivable. In 2019, two companies accounted for 10% or greater 
individually, and 84% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2019, three companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% 
or greater individually accounted for a combined 84% of the Company’s accounts receivable. 

 

Our customers generally do not enter into long-term agreements obligating them to purchase our products. Because of our significant customer 
concentration, our net sales and operating income could fluctuate significantly due to changes in political or economic conditions or the loss of, reduction of 
business with, or less favorable terms for any of our significant customers. A reduction or delay in orders from any of our significant customers, or a delay or 
default in payment by any significant customer could materially harm our business, results of operation and liquidity. 

 

Gross Profit. Gross profit was $13.6 million for FY 2020, up $2.7 million from $10.9 million for FY 2019. Gross margin decreased to 28.4% in FY 
2020 from 29.0% in FY 2019. The increase in gross profit was attributable to sales growth of Motorola branded cable modems and gateways. The decrease in 
profit margin was primarily due to tariff costs and air freight costs of $2.8 million and $1.5 million, respectively, in 2020 compared to $3.2 million and $0, 
respectively, in 2019. 

 

Operating Expense. Total operating expense increased by $4.3 million from $14.1 million in FY 2020 to $18.4 million in FY 2019. Total operating 
expense as a percentage of net sales increased from 37.6% in 2019 to 38.4% in 2020. The table below illustrates the change in operating expense. 

 

 
Operating Expense Year 2020 

% Net 

Sales Year 2019 

% Net 

Sales Change $ Change % 

Selling and marketing expense $ 9,154,685 19.1% $ 9,222,737 24.5% $ (68,052) (0.7)% 

General and administrative expense 5,443,529 11.3% 2,666,876 7.1% 2,776,653 104.1% 

 
Total operating expense $18,426,437 38.4% $14,127,029 37.6% $ 4,299,408 30.4% 

Selling and Marketing Expense. Selling and marketing expense decreased $68 thousand to $9.1 million in FY 2020 from $9.2 million in FY 2019. 
Selling and marketing expense as a percentage of net sales was 19.1% in FY 2020 and 24.5% in FY 2019. The decrease of $68 thousand was primarily due to 
reduction in advertising expenses of $1.0 million, partially offset by increased Motorola trademark royalty costs of $600 thousand, and salary and related 
costs of $290 thousand. 

 

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense increased to $5.4 million in FY 2020 from $2.7 million in FY 2019. 
General and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales was 11.3% in FY 2020 and 7.1% in FY 2019. General and administrative expenses increased 
approximately $2.8 million primarily due to $1.6 million in one-time transactions costs of legal and professional services related to the merger with Minim, 
$0.6 million related to one-time legal and professional services expenses related to evaluation of agreements consummated for the purchase of company 
stock, and $0.8 million of salary and related costs. These costs were offset by reductions in bad debt provision of $0.4 million. 
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Research and development expense 3,828,223 8.0% 2,237,416 5.9% 1,590,807 71.1% 

Total $    47,988,549 $    37,614,456 $    10,374,093   27.6% 

Total $    47,988,549 $    37,614,456 $    10,374,093   27.6% 



 

Pro forma net sales $    48,426,339 $   37,866,087 

 

 
Research and Development Expense. Research and development expense increased to $3.8 million in FY 2020 from $2.2 million in FY 

2019. Research and development expense as a percentage of net sales increased to 8.0% in FY 2020 from 5.9% in FY 2019. The increase of approximately 
$1.6 million was primarily due to salary and related costs of $1.0 million and increased product testing, certification and software development costs of $0.4 
million. 

 

Other Income (Expense). Other income (expense), net was $1.0 million in FY 2020 and $(30) thousand in FY 2019, primarily due to $1.1 million 
forgiveness on loans received under the Paycheck Protection Plan of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”). Refer to 
Note 17 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit). We recorded minimum state income tax for a few states and tax related to our operations in Mexico, which was $27 
thousand and $25 thousand in FY 2020 and FY 2019, respectively. 

 

Unaudited Pro Forma Information 

 

The following unaudited pro forma financial information summarizes the combined results of operations for the Company and Minim, Inc. as if the 
merger of Minim, Inc. had been completed on January 1, 2019. The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only, and do not 
necessarily represent what the net sales or results of operations would have been had the merger been completed on January 1, 2019. In addition, these results 
are not intended to be a projection of future operating results. The unaudited pro forma information includes adjustments to eliminate intercompany 
transactions and align accounting policies. The pro forma results for the year ended December 31, 2020 also includes the non-recurring transaction costs 
totaling $1.6 million. 

 

Year Ended 

  December 31,  

  2020    2019  

Pro forma net loss $ (6,582,873) $ (8,180,298) 
 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance on December 31, 2020 was $771.7 thousand compared to $1.2 million on December 31, 2019. 
On December 31, 2020, the Company had $2.4 million bank debt outstanding on an available asset-based credit line of $4.0 million, and working capital of 

$5.9 million. We have funded our operations and investing activities primarily through cash generated from operations, borrowings on our line of credit, and 

sales of our common stock. 
 

On April 13, 2020, the Company amended its Financing Agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. The amendment increased the size of the 
revolving credit line from $3.0 million to $4.0 million effective the date of the amendment. On February 4, 2021, the Company amended the Financing 
Agreement to increase the revolving credit line from $4.0 million to $5.0 million effective the date of the amendment. The Company is required to calculate 
its covenant compliance on a quarterly basis under the Financing Agreement. As of December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with both the 
minimum working capital covenant of $1.75 million and minimum tangible net worth covenant of $2.0 million. At December 31, 2020, the Company’s 

tangible net worth, as calculated pursuant to the Financing Agreement, was approximately $6.3 million, while the Company’s working capital, as calculated 
pursuant to the Financing Agreement, was approximately $5.9 million. Loan availability is based on certain eligible receivables. Loan availability was 

approximately $1.6 million as of December 31, 2020. 
 

On April 15 2020, the Company received approval for a SBA Paycheck Protection Plan Loan with Primary Bank under the CARES Act. The loan in 
the amount of $583.3 thousand was used for qualifying expenses as defined in the CARES Act. The loan and related interest was subsequently partially 
forgiven in November 2020. 

 

On May 26, 2020, the Company closed on a $3.4 million private placement and issued an aggregate of 2,237,103 shares at a purchase price of $1.52 
per share, and in connection with the closing of the offering two designees of an investor in the private placement joined Zoom’s Board of Directors. 

 

On March 12, 2021, the Company terminated its Financing Agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. and entered into a new loan and security 
agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB Loan Agreement”). The SVB Loan Agreement provides for a revolving facility up to a principal amount of $12.0 
million. The SVB Loan Agreement matures, and all outstanding amounts become due and payable, on March 12, 2023. The SVB Loan Agreement is secured 
by substantially all of the Company’s assets but excludes the Company’s intellectual property. The availability of borrowings under the SVB Loan Agreement 
is subject to certain conditions and requirements. 
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Pro forma net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.20) $ (0.28) 



 

 

 
Based on the Company’s present business plan, funding available under the SVB Loan Agreement and additional financing that the Company 

believes is obtainable under acceptable terms if needed, the Company expects to maintain acceptable levels of liquidity to meet its obligations as they become 
due during the next 12months. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

In 2006, the Company entered into a maquiladora agreement with North American Production Sharing, Inc. (“NAPS”). This agreement provides that 
NAPS provide certain personnel and other services for a production facility in Mexico on our behalf. Although the maquiladora agreement expired on 
September 25, 2019, the agreement automatically renews annually unless otherwise cancelled per provisions in the agreement. Any related assets, liabilities, 
or expenses are reported in the accompanying financial statements. Additionally, the Company is obligated to pay future minimum required royalty payments 
associated with certain licensing agreements which are not included in our consolidated balance sheet. 
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

 

Not required. 
 

ITEM 8 – CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

 

ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC. 

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES 
 

Page 

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedules F-1 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (Marcum LLP) F-2 
 

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 F-4 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 F-6 

 
 

ITEM 9 – CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
 

None 
 

ITEM 9A – CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 

Management’s Report on Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Acting Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow 
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls 
and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, as ours are 
designed to do, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and 
procedures. 

 

As of December 31, 2020, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that due to the existence of a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, described below, our disclosure controls and 
procedures were not effective as of the end of the period covered by this report in enabling us to record, process, summarize and report information required 
to be included in our periodic SEC filings within the required time period. 

 

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Judgments by management are 
also required in evaluating the expected benefits and related costs of control procedures. The objectives of internal control include providing management 
with reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and that transactions are executed 
in accordance with management’s authorization and recorded properly to permit the preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2020. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Our management has concluded that as of December 31, 2020, our internal 
control over financial reporting was not effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles due to the existence of a material weakness. Our 
management reviewed the results of their assessment with our Board of Directors. 

 
A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable 

possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. We identified a 
material weakness with tracking and timely recording of in-transit inventory where title had been transferred to the Company. This material weakness could 
result in the Company under reporting its inventory and current liabilities. The Company's logistics firm had not provided title transfer dates to the Company 
for in-transit inventory. The material weakness only impacted the consolidated balance sheet, other than stockholders’ equity, as of December 31, 2020, 
resulting in equal increases in the Company's inventory and current liabilities, and did not impact the consolidated statements of operations. 

 

To remediate the material weakness described above, the Company instituted a process, which includes requiring the Company's logistics firm to 
provide title transfer dates to the Company for in-transit inventory. The Company will timely record inventory and related liabilities based on the title transfer 
date, and a member of the finance department will review the Company records for completeness and accuracy. The material weakness will not be considered 
remediated until the applicable remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls 
are operating effectively. We expect that the remediation of this material weakness will be completed before the end of 2021. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7 – F-28 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 F-3 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 F-5 



 

 

 
This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial 

reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to a permanent exemption from 
the internal control audit requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

 

Inherent limitations on effectiveness of controls 
 

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations which include but are not limited to the use of independent professionals for advice 
and guidance, interpretation of existing and changing rules and principles, segregation of management duties, scale of organization, and personnel factors. 
Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns 
resulting from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of 
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis, however these inherent limitations 
are known features of the financial reporting process and it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk. 
Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and 
presentation. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

The Company reported a material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting as set forth in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A 
for the nine-months ended September 30, 2020, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 16, 2020. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

 

The material weakness related to insufficient documentation and processes for confirming final approvals for the release of reviewed and approved financial 
statements prior to filing documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The SEC requires a registrant to engage an independent 
accountant to review the registrant’s interim financial information before the registrant files its quarterly report on Form 10-Q. Prior to final sign-off by the 
independent accountant, the Company filed the September 30, 2020 Form 10-Q. As a result, the Company determined there was a material weakness that 
should be disclosed. The material weakness did not result in any financial statement modifications and there were no changes to the Company’s previously 
disclosed financial results pertaining to nine-months ended September 30, 2020. 

 

Upon identifying the individual control deficiencies, the Company’s management has taken actions to remediate the deficiencies that in combination resulted 
in the material weakness and to improve the design and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting. The remediation activities include expanding the 
management and governance over financial reporting controls and implementing enhanced process controls on financial statement approvals. 

 

Other than the above, there have been no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2020 that have materially or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

 

PART III 
 

ITEM 10 – DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

Information required by this item appears under the caption "Our Executive Officers" in Part 1, Item 1 -- Business, and under the captions "Election 
of Directors", "Board of Directors”, "Code of Ethics" and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Compliance " in our definitive proxy statement for our 2021 
annual meeting of stockholders which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 

Information required by this item appears under the captions "Executive Compensation," and "Directors' Compensation", in our definitive proxy 
statement for our 2021 annual meeting of stockholders that will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated 
herein by reference. 
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Equity compensation plans approved by security holders(1) (2) (3) 3,098,165 $ 1.17 2,122,089 

 

 
ITEM 12 – SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS 

 

We maintain a number of equity compensation plans for employees, officers, directors and others whose efforts contribute to our success. The table 
below sets forth certain information as of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 regarding the shares of our common stock available for grant or granted 
under stock option plans that were approved by our stockholders. 

 

Equity Compensation Plan Information. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Plan Category  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Number Of 

Securities 
To Be Issued 

Upon Exercise Of 
Outstanding 

  Options  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Weighted- 
Average 

Exercise Price Of 
Outstanding 

  Options  

 
Number Of 
Securities 

Remaining 
Available For 

Future Issuance 
Under Equity 

Compensation 
Plans 

(excluding 
securities 

reflected in 

     column (a))  

  (a)    (b)    (c)  

Total: 3,098,165 $ 1.17 2,122,089 
 

(1) Includes the 2009 Stock Option Plan and the 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan. These plans were approved by the stockholders at the 2010 
annual meeting. At the 2013 annual meeting, shareholders approved an increase to the total number of shares available for issuance for the 
2009 Stock Option Plan. The new number of shares is 5,500,000. At the 2013 annual meeting, stockholders approved an increase to the 
total number of shares available for issuance for the 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan. The new number of shares is 700,000. The purposes 
of the 2009 Stock Option Plan are to attract and retain employees and provide an incentive for them to assist us in achieving our long-range 
performance goals, and to enable such employees to participate in our long-term growth. The purpose of the 2009 Directors Stock Option 
Plan is to attract and retain non-employee directors and to enable such directors to participate in our long-term growth. The 2009 Stock 
Option Plan and the 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. All 
stock options granted under the 2009 Stock Option Plan and the 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan have been granted with an exercise price 
equal to at least the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. 

(2) Includes the 2019 Stock Option Plan with a total number of shares available for issuance of 4,000,000 and the 2019 Directors Stock Option 
Plan with a total number of shares available for issuance of 1,000,000. These plans were approved by the stockholders at the 2019 annual 
meeting. The purpose of the 2019 Stock Option Plan is to attract and retain employees and provide an incentive for them to assist us in 
achieving our long-range performance goals, and to enable such employees to participate in our long-term growth. The purpose of the 
2019 Directors Stock Option Plan is to attract and retain non-employee directors and to enable such directors to participate in our long-term 
growth. The 2019 Stock Option Plan and the 2019 Directors Stock Option Plan are administered by the Compensation Committee of the 
Board of Directors. All stock options granted under the 2019 Stock Option Plan and the 2019 Directors Stock Option Plan have been 
granted with an exercise price equal to at least the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. 

(3) Included in the 2019 Stock Option Plan and the 2019 Director Stock Option Plan are 1,657,909 options issued to Minim option holders as 
part of Agreement and Plan of Merger with Minim, Inc. 

 

The additional information required by this Item 12 of Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference to the information in our Definitive Proxy 
Statement for our 2021 annual meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein 
by reference. 
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ITEM 13 – CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

 

Any information required by this item may appear under the caption "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and “Board of Directors” in our 
Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2021 annual meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is 
incorporated herein by reference. 

 

ITEM 14 – PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

 

The firm of Marcum LLP served as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal years 2020 and 2019. The table below shows the 
aggregate fees that the Company paid or accrued for the audit and other services provided by Marcum LLP for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 
December 31, 2019: 

 
FEE CATEGORY    2020     2019  

Audit fees (1) $ 267,995  $ 187,200 
Audit-related fees (2) 22,800  10,000 

Total fees $ 290,795  $ 197,200 

 

——————— 

(1) Audit Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of Zoom’s consolidated financial statements and review of the 
interim consolidated financial statements included in quarterly reports and services that are normally provided in connection with statutory filings and 
engagements. 

 

(2) Audit-Related Fees. Consists of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of 
Zoom’s consolidated financial statements and are not reported under "Audit Fees." For 2020, fees are related to registering securities for Zoom's stock 
option plans and a private placement. For 2019, fees are related to a private placement. 

 

All services rendered by Marcum LLP for fiscal years 2020 and 2019 were permissible under applicable laws and regulations and were pre-approved by the 
Audit Committee. 
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PART IV 

 

ITEM 15 – EXHIBITS AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES * 

 
(a)  Consolidated Financial Statements, Schedules and Exhibits: 
   

 (1),(2) The consolidated financial statements and required schedules are indexed on page F-1. 
   

 (3) Exhibits required by the Exhibit Table of Item 601 of SEC Regulation S-K. (Exhibit numbers refer to numbers in the Exhibit Table of 
Item 601.) 

   

 2.1 Separation and Distribution Agreement by and between Zoom Technologies, Inc. and Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to annex B of the preliminary proxy statement filed by Zoom Technologies, Inc. on May 13, 2009).*1 

   

 2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 12, 2020, by and among Zoom Telephonics, Inc., Elm Acquisition Sub, Inc., 
Minim Inc. and the Representative (incorporated by the reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on November 
13, 2020)* 

   

 3.1 Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to 
Zoom Telephonics, Inc. Registration Statement on Form 10, filed on September 4, 2009). * 

   

 3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (incorporated by the 
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on November 18, 2015)* 

   

 3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (incorporated by the 
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on July 30, 2019)* 

   

 3.4 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Form 8-K 
filed by the Company on November 18, 2015)* 

   

 3.5 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on May 13, 2020).* 

   

 4.1 Description of Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 10-K filed by the Company on April 14, 2020)* 
   

 10.1** Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 2009 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Definitive Proxy Statement filed by 
the Company on April 30, 2013)* 

   

 10.2** Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the Definitive Proxy Statement 
filed by the Company on April 30, 2013)* 

   

 10.3** Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 2019 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix D to the Definitive Proxy Statement filed by 
the Company on May 28, 2019)* 

   

 10.4** Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 2019 Directors Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the Definitive Proxy Statement 
filed by the Company on May 28, 2019)* 
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10.6 Intellectual Property Security Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 21, 2012)* 

10.7 Amendment dated March 25, 2014, effective January 1, 2013 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom 
Telephonics, Inc. and Rosehthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on 
November 3, 2015)* 

10.8 Amendment dated October 29, 2015, effective January 1, 2013, to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom 
Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on 
November 3, 2015)* 

10.9 Amendment dated July 19, 2016 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal & 
Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on July 25, 2016)* 

10.10 Amendment dated September 1, 2016 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal 
& Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on September 8, 2016)* 

10.11 Amendment dated November 2, 2018 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal 
& Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed by the Company on June 7, 
2019) 

10.12 Amendment dated April 13, 2020 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal & 
Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 10-Q filed by the Company on May 15, 2020)* 

10.13 Amendment dated February 4, 2021 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal 
& Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on February 8, 2021)* 

10.14† License Agreement, dated May 13, 2015, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Motorola Mobility LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 10-Q/A filed by the Company on December 6, 2016)* 

10.15† Amendment to License Agreement, dated August 16, 2016, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Motorola Mobility LLC (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Form 10-Q/A filed by the Company on December 6, 2016)* 

10.16† Amendment to License Agreement, dated August 21, 2017, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Motorola Mobility LLC (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 10-Q filed by the Company on November 9, 2017)* 

10.17** Employment Agreement between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Joseph Wytanis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K 
filed by the Company on October 18, 2018)* 

10.18** Separation Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2020, by and between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Joseph L. Wytanis (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on May 21, 2020)* 

10.19 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2019, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and the Investors listed therein (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on May 6, 2019)* 

10.20 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 26, 2020, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and the Investors listed therein (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on May 27, 2020)* 
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10.5 Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 21, 2012)* 



 

10.22 Transition and Separation Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2020, by and between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Jacquelyn Barry 
Hamilton (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 31, 2020)* 

10.23††† License Agreement, dated March 27, 2020, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc., MTRLC LLC and Motorola Mobility LLC (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Form 10-K/A filed by the Company on April 29, 2020)* 

10.24††† Amendment to License Agreement, dated March 27, 2020, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Motorola Mobility LLC (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Form 10-K/A filed by the Company on April 29, 2020)* 

10.25 Standstill and Voting Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2020, by and among Zoom Telephonics, Inc., Zulu Holdings LLC and Jeremy P. 
Hitchcock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on October 13, 2020)* 

10.26 Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 12, 2021, by and among Silicon Valley Bank, Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Minim Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on March 15, 2021)* 

21.1*** Subsidiaries 

23.1*** Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm’s Consent 

31.1*** CEO and CFO Certification, Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.1†† CEO and CFO Certification, Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

101.INS*** XBRL Instance Document 

101.SCH*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

101.CAL*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

101.DEF***   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

101.LAB*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

101.PRE*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* In accordance with Rule 12b-32 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, reference is made to the documents previously filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, which documents are hereby incorporated by reference. 

 

** Compensation Plan or Arrangement. 
 

*** Filed herewith. 
 

† Confidential portions of this exhibit have been redacted and filed separately with the SEC pursuant to a confidential treatment request in 
accordance with Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

 

†† This certification shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the 
liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934. 

 

††† Certain confidential portions of this exhibit were omitted because the identified confidential portions (i) are not material and (ii) would be 
competitively harmful if publicly disclosed. 

 

(b) Exhibits - See Item 15 (a) (3) above for a list of Exhibits incorporated herein by reference or filed with this Report. 
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10.21** Employment Agreement between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Form 8-K filed by the Company on March 9, 2020)* 



 

 

 
SIGNATURES 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

 

ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC. 

(Registrant) 

 

Date: April 13, 2021 By: /s/ GRAHAM CHYNOWETH 
 

Graham Chynoweth, 
Chief Executive Officer 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

 
Signature  Title  Date 

 

/s/ Graham Chynoweth 
  

Chief Executive Officer 
  

April 13, 2021 

Graham Chynoweth 
 

/s/ Sean Doherty 

 (principal executive officer) 

 
Chief Financial Officer 

  

Sean Doherty 
 

/s/ Jeremy Hitchcock 

 (principal financial and accounting officer) 
 

Executive Chairman of the Board 

 April 13, 2021 
 

April 13, 2021 

Jeremy Hitchcock 
 

/s/ David Aronoff 

  

Director 

  

April 13, 2021 

David Aronoff 
 

/s/ Dan Artusi 

  
 

Director 

  
 

April 13, 2021 

Dan Artusi 
 

/s/ Philip Frank 

  
 

Director 

  
 

April 13, 2021 

Philip Frank 
 

/s/ Elizabeth Hitchcock 

  
 

Director 

  
 

April 13, 2021 

Elizabeth Hitchcock 
 

/s/ Josh Horowitz 

  
 

Director 

  
 

April 13, 2021 

Josh Horowitz 
 

/s/ Sandra Howe 

  
 

Director 

  
 

April 13, 2021 

Sandra Howe     
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

 

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of 
Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 

 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related 
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related 
notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”).   In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended 
December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 
 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial 
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor 
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and 
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 

Critical Audit Matter 
 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required 
to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our 
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial 
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or 
on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate. 

 

Evaluation of the Merger Transaction between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Minim Inc. 
 

Critical Audit Matter Description 
 

As discussed in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger 
Agreement”) with Minim Inc. (“Minim”) on November 12, 2020, which was consummated on December 4, 2020. Upon consummation of the transactions 
contemplated by the terms of the Merger Agreement, Minim became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Immediately prior to closing of the Merger 
Agreement, the majority stockholder of the Company was also the majority stockholder of Minim. As a result of the common ownership upon closing of the 
transaction, the acquisition was considered a common-control transaction and was outside the scope of the business combination guidance in ASC 805-50. 
The entities are deemed to be under common control as of October 9, 2020, which was the date that the majority stockholder acquired control of the 
Company and, therefore, held control over both companies. The consolidated financial statements incorporate Minim’s financial results and financial 
information for the period from October 9, 2020 through December 31, 2020. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are reported at their historical carrying 
amounts and any difference between the proceeds transferred is recognized in additional paid-in capital. These consolidated financial statements include the 
historical accounts of the Company since inception and the accounts of Minim since the date common control commenced on October 9, 2020. 
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We identified the accounting for the acquisition of Minim Inc. as a critical audit matter because of the significant audit effort necessary to evaluate the 
Company’s conclusions, including the Company’s assessment if the transaction qualified as a common control merger, of which entity represented the 
receiving entity, if the receiving entity was also the predecessor, if “push down” accounting was required and the resulting characterization and overall basis 
of presentation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and disclosures. 

 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 
 

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s accounting for the Business Combination included, among others: 
 

● Obtained and reviewed the Agreement and Plan of Merger documents to gain an understanding of the underlying terms of the transaction. 

● Evaluated the Company’s analysis of the merger and the accuracy of the information used in the analysis and the judgements made by 
management. 

● Tested management’s assessment of common control, including calculating the share ownership in each entity by the controlling shareholder, as well 
as entities the shareholder controlled, to determine when control of the entities occurred. 

● With the assistance of professionals in our firm having expertise in accounting for business combinations, we evaluated management’s conclusion 
regarding which entity was the receiving entity and predecessor and the resulting characterization and overall basis of presentation which reflects the 
merger as a common control merger. 

● Reviewed and evaluated the financial statement presentation and disclosure regarding the merger with the accounting reached and the disclosure 
requirements for a common control merger. 

 

/s/ Marcum LLP 

 

Marcum LLP 

 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2009; such date takes into account the acquisition of a portion of UHY LLP by Marcum LLP in April 2010. 

Portland, ME 
April 13, 2021 
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LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10) 

 

 
ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

  December 31,  

   2020     2019  

ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 771,757  $ 1,216,893 
Restricted cash 800,000  150,000 
Accounts receivable, net 9,203,334  4,070,576 
Inventories 16,504,840  7,440,350 
Deposits on inventory purchases ––  1,830 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 399,119  267,908 

Total current assets 27,679,050  13,147,557 

 
Equipment, net 455,066  303,099 
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 86,948  102,716 
Goodwill 58,872  –– 
Intangible assets, net 388,629  –– 
Other assets 942,404  349,335 
    

Total assets $    29,610,969  $    13,902,707 

 

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable $  11,744,834  $ 5,024,529 
Current maturities of long-term debt 2,507,471  –– 
Current maturities of operating lease liabilities 65,651  102,716 
Accrued other expenses 7,465,063  2,666,471 

Total current liabilities 21,783,019  7,793,716 

 
Long term debt, less current maturities 15,245  –– 
Operating lease liabilities, less current maturities 22,235  –– 

Total liabilities 21,820,499  7,793,716 

 

 

Stockholders' equity 
Common stock: Authorized: 40,000,000 shares at $0.01 par value 

Issued and outstanding: 35,074,922 shares and 20,929,928 shares at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 350,749  209,299 
Additional paid-in capital 64,526,664  46,496,330 
Accumulated deficit (57,086,943)  (40,596,638) 

Total stockholders' equity 7,790,470  6,108,991 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $    29,610,969    $     13,902,707 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Net sales $    47,988,549 $ 37,614,456 

 

 
ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

  2020    2019  

Cost of goods sold 34,382,314 26,708,653 

 
 

Operating expenses:   

Selling and marketing 9,154,685  9,222,737 
General and administrative 5,443,529  2,666,876 
Research and development 3,828,223  2,237,416 

Total operating expenses 18,426,437  14,127,029 

    

Operating loss (4,820,202)  (3,221,226) 

 

Other:   

Interest income 1,081  13,975 
Interest expense (48,552)  (48,404) 

Other income (expense) (21,356)  4,720 
Gain on forgiveness of debt (Note 17) 1,057,330  - 

Total other income (expense), net 988,503  (29,709) 

    

Loss before income taxes (3,831,699)  (3,250,935) 
    

Income taxes 26,716  24,865 

    

Net loss $ (3,858,415)  $ (3,275,800) 

    

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.15)  $ (0.18) 

    

Weighted average common and common equivalent shares:    

Basic and Diluted   25,300,976    18,051,070 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gross profit 13,606,235 10,905,803 



 

Net loss –– –– –– (3,275,800) (3,275,800) 

Net loss –– –– –– (3,858,415) (3,858,415) 

 

 
ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 
  Common Stock  

 
 

      Shares  Amount  

 

 
Additional 

Paid In 

      Capital  

 

 
 

Accumulated 

      Deficit    Total  
 

 
 

Private investment offering, net of expenses of $57,391 4,545,455 45,454 4,897,156 –– 4,942,610 
Stock option exercises  259,792  2,598   58,050  ––   60,648 

Stock based compensation    ––    ––   505,188   ––   505,188 

Balance at December 31, 2019        20,929,928 $ 209,299 $    46,496,330 $   (40,596,638)    $ 6,108,991 

 

Private investment offering, net of expenses of $237,030 2,237,103 22,371 3,140,999 –– 3,163,370 

Shares issued in Minim Merger  10,784,534  107,845  12,786,662  (12,631,890)  262,617 
Repayment of non-recourse promissory notes from Minim option holders (Note 3)    ––    ––    320,290   ––  320,290 

Repurchase of Minim common stock (Note 3)    ––    ––    (14,860)   ––  (14,860) 
Stock option exercises   1,123,357   11,234   1,160,387   –– 1,171,621 

Stock based compensation    ––    ––    440,856   ––  440,856 
Profit disgorgement     ––     ––     196,000         ––                  196,000 

Balance at December 31, 2020        35,074,922 $ 350,749 $    64,526,664 $   (57,086,943)    $ 7,790,470 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Balance at January 1, 2019       16,124,681 $ 161,247 $    41,035,936 $   (37,320,838)    $ 3,876,345 



 

 

 
ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

  2020    2019  

Operating activities:   

Net loss $ (3,858,415)  $ (3,275,800) 
    

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:    

Stock based compensation 440,856  505,188 
Depreciation and amortization 235,771  315,456 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 136,404  292,849 
Provision for (recovery of) for accounts receivable allowances (102,631)  264,808 
Provision for inventory reserves —  18,988 
Non-cash loan forgiveness (1,057,330)  –– 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable (4,969,826)  (1,574,778) 
Inventories (8,871,803)  468,340 
Prepaid expense and other current assets (129,381)  648,847 
Other assets (142,017)  –– 
Accounts payable 6,673,914  655,220 
Accrued expenses 4,686,050  462,244 
Operating lease liabilities (135,466)  (318,183) 

Net cash used in operating activities (7,093,874)  (1,536,821) 

 

Investing activities:   

Cash acquired from merger (Note 3) 501,845  –– 
Purchases of equipment (302,519)  (174,254) 
Certification costs incurred and capitalized (460,577)  (310,000) 
Capitalized software costs (316,838)  –– 

Net cash used in investing activities (578,089)  (484,254) 

    

Financing activities:    

Net proceeds from (payments to) bank credit lines 2,442,246  (1,741,272) 
Proceeds from debt 583,300  –– 
Net proceeds from private placement offering 3,163,370  4,942,610 
Proceeds from stock option exercises 1,171,621  60,648 
Proceeds from profit disgorgement 196,000  –– 
Proceeds from non-recourse promissory notes issued by Minim option holders (Note 3) 320,290  –– 

Net cash provided by financing activities 7,876,827  3,261,986 

    

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 204,864  1,240,911 
    

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash- Beginning 1,366,893  125,982 

    

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash- Ending $ 1,571,757  $ 1,366,893 

    

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:    

    

Cash paid during the period for:    

Interest $ 48,473  $ 48,404 

Income taxes $ 26,716  $ 31,769 
Non-cash financing activities:    

Net share settlement from non-recourse promissory notes issued by Minim option holders (Note 3) $ 230,332  — 
Repurchase of Minim common stock (Note 3) $ (14,860)  — 

Cash is reported on the consolidated statements of cash flows as follows: 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 

$ 771,757 
  

$ 1,216,893 
Restricted cash 800,000  150,000 

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 1,571,757  $ 1,366,893 
  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

(1) NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (“Zoom”) and its wholly owned subsidiaries MTRLC LLC and Minim, Inc. (“Minim"), is a leading creator, designer, 
marketer, and seller of cable modems and other Internet access products under the Motorola® brand and has a proprietary AI-driven WiFi management and 
IoT security platform for businesses, homes, and Internet service providers. 

 

Minim Merger 
 

On November 12, 2020, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Minim, Inc. (“Minim”), a 
Delaware corporation, that designs, develops, sells and supports an IoT security platform that enables and secures a better connected home. Under the Merger 
Agreement, an acquisition subsidiary of the Company was merged into Minim in exchange for 10,784,534 shares of common stock of the Company and as a 
result of the merger, Minim became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 

 

Immediately prior to closing of the Merger Agreement, the majority stockholder of the Company was also the majority stockholder of Minim. As a 
result of the common ownership upon closing of the transaction, the acquisition was considered a common-control transaction and was outside the scope of 
the business combination guidance in ASC 805-50. The entities are deemed to be under common control as of October 9, 2020, which was the date that the 
majority stockholder acquired control of the Company and, therefore, held control over both companies. The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
Minim’s financial results and financial information for the period from October 9, 2020 through December 31, 2020. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
are reported at their historical carrying amounts and any difference between the proceeds transferred is recognized in additional paid-in capital. These 
consolidated financial statements include the historical accounts of the Company since inception and the accounts of Minim since the date of common control 
commenced on October 9, 2020 (Note 3). On December 4, 2020, the merger contemplated by the Merger Agreement was effected. 

 

Zoom and its subsidiaries MTRLC LLC and Minim are herein collectively referred to as the “Company” and the merger of the Company with 
Minim is referred to as the “Minim Merger” within these financial statements. 

 
(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

(a) Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates 
 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(U.S. GAAP). All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidation. Certain prior year amounts have been 
reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. None of the reclassifications impacted the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2019. 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates. Significant estimates made by the 
Company include: 1) allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivable (collectability); 2) contract liabilities (sales returns, and other variable 
considerations); 3) asset valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets; 4) write-downs of inventory for slow-moving and obsolete items, and market 
valuations; 5) stock based compensation; and 6) estimated life of intangible assets and certification costs. 

 

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than 90 days from the date of purchase are classified as cash equivalents. Cash 
equivalents consist exclusively of money market funds. The Company has deposits at a limited number of high quality financial institutions with federally 
insured limits. Balances of cash and cash equivalents at these institutions can be in excess of the insured limits. The Company has not experienced losses on 
these accounts. 
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(c) Restricted Cash 

 

All cash held by the Company that is not immediately available for working capital purposes or has restrictions on use is reported as Restricted cash 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Restricted cash balance at December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $800,000 and $150,000, respectively, and 
consists of a letter of credit to support a bond on tariffs. 

 

(d) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for probable credit losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required 
payments. The Company records a specific allowance and revises the expected loss based on an analysis of individual past-due balances. Additionally, based 
on historical write-offs and the Company’s collection experience, the Company records an additional allowance based on a percentage of outstanding 
receivables. The Company performs credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition. These evaluations require judgment and are based on a variety of 
factors including, but not limited to, current economic trends, payment history and a financial review of the customer. Actual collection losses may differ 
from management’s estimates, and such differences could be material to the Company's financial position and results of operations. 

 

(e) Inventories 

 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined using the first-in, first-out method, or net realizable value. The Company regularly monitors 

inventory quantities on hand and records write-downs for excess and obsolete inventories based on the Company’s estimate of demand for its products, 
potential obsolescence of technology, product life cycles and whether pricing trends or forecasts indicate that the carrying value of inventory exceeds its 
estimated selling price. These factors are impacted by market and economic conditions, technology changes and new product introductions and require 
significant estimates that may include elements that are uncertain. Actual demand may differ from forecasted demand and may have a material effect on gross 
profit. If inventory is written down, a new cost basis is established that cannot be increased in future periods. Shipments from suppliers before the Company 

receives them are recorded as in-transit inventory when title and the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the Company. At December 

31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had approximately $6,243,000 and $1,930,000 of in-transit inventory. Consigned inventory is held at third-party locations. 

The Company retains title to the inventory until purchased by the third-party. Consigned inventory, consisting of finished goods, was approximately 
$2,293,000 and $1,841,400 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 

(f) Equipment 
 

Equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of equipment is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets. 

 

(g) Goodwill, Intangible Assets, and Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired. 
Intangible assets that are not considered to have a definite useful life are amortized over their useful lives, which are generally nine years or less. Each period, 
the Company evaluates the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets for recoverability and reviews the estimated remaining useful lives of 

purchased intangible assets and whether events or changes in circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining periods of amortization. If the Company 
determines in the qualitative assessment that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the asset is less than its carrying value, a quantitative test is then 

performed. Otherwise, no further testing is required. Using the qualitative method, the Company did not identify any impairment for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. 

 

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. There were no events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount of long-lived assets may not be recoverable from their 
undiscounted cash flows. Consequently, the Company did not record any impairment to its long-lived assets during the year ended December 31, 2020. 

 

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset or asset group to undiscounted future 
net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured 
by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount 
or fair value less cost to sell. 

 

The Company capitalizes certain implementation costs related to its cloud-based enterprise resourcing planning (“ERP”) system. Costs incurred 
during the application development stage are capitalized. Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. The Company 
also capitalizes costs related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable that the expenditures will result in additional functionality. 
Capitalized implementation costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, which is approximately 30 months, representing the 
remaining contractual term. Management evaluates the useful lives of these assets on an annual basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets. The Company capitalized approximately $230 thousand of costs related to the ERP 
implementation for the period ended December 31, 2020. In 2020, the Company acquired a web domain for approximately $86 thousand and is amortizing 
this cost over 5 years. These capitalized costs are included in intangible assets within the consolidated balance sheet. 
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(h) Other Assets 
 

Other assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization, and primarily include certain certification costs. Certain certification costs incurred 
that are necessary to market and sell products are capitalized and reported as “other assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets when the costs 
are measurable, significant, and relating to products that are projected to generate revenue beyond twelve months. These costs are amortized over an 18- 
month period, beginning when the related products are available to be sold. Total certification costs capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2020 
were $460,577, with related amortization expense of $53,333 in 2020. Total certification costs capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2019 were 
$310,000, with related amortization expense of $128,385 in 2019. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had ending balances of $754,577 and 
$347,333, respectively. 

 
(i) Income Taxes 

 

Deferred income taxes are provided on the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases and on net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided for 
that portion of deferred tax assets not expected to be realized. 

 

(j) Sales Tax 
 

The Company recorded a sales tax accrual in 2017 after the Company became aware that a state sales tax liability was both probable and estimable 
as of December 31, 2017. The state sales tax liability stems from the Company’s ‘Fulfilled By Amazon’ sales agreement which allows Amazon to warehouse 
the Company’s inventory throughout a number of states. As a result, the Company recorded an expense of approximately $831 thousand in during the year 
ended December 31, 2017. During the year 2018, the Company settled its obligations with most of the states and re-assessed its liability which resulted in a 
reduction of approximately $203 thousand in the sales tax liability. As of December 31, 2019, approximately $51 thousand of the original state sales tax 
liability remains and $98 thousand relates to sales tax that has been collected and not yet remitted to the respective states. As of December 31, 2020, 
approximately $50 thousand of the original state sales tax liability remains and $46 thousand relates to sales tax that has been collected and not yet remitted 
to the respective states. 

 

(k) Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share 
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of 
shares of common stock, except for periods with a loss from operations. Diluted earnings (loss) per share reflects additional shares of common stock that 
would have been outstanding if dilutive potential shares of common stock had been issued. Potential shares of common stock that may be issued by the 
Company include shares of common stock that may be issued upon exercise of outstanding stock options. Under the treasury stock method, the unexercised 
options are assumed to be exercised at the beginning of the period or at issuance, if later. The assumed proceeds are then used to purchase shares of common 
stock at the average market price during the period. 

 

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 exclude the effects of 1,436,061 and 467,641 common 
share equivalents, respectively, since such inclusion would be anti-dilutive. The common share equivalents consist of shares of common stock issuable upon 
exercise of outstanding stock options. 

 

(l) Revenue Recognition 
 

The Company primarily sells hardware products to its customers. The hardware products include cable modems and gateways, mobile broadband 
modems, wireless routers, MoCA adapters and mesh home networking devices. The Company also sells software, including the Minim subscription service 
that enables and secures a better connected home. 

 

The Company derives its net sales primarily from the sales of hardware products to computer peripherals retailers, computer product distributors, 
OEMs, and direct to consumers and other channel partners via the Internet. The Company accounts for point-of-sale taxes on a net basis. In addition, the 
Company earns revenues from its software subscription services of the Minim AI-driven smart home WiFi management and security platform. 
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Revenue recognition is evaluated through the following five steps: (i) identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer; (ii) identification 

of the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determination of the transaction price; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contract; and (v) recognition of revenue when or as a performance obligation is satisfied. 

 

● Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer — a contract with a customer exists when the Company enters into an 
enforceable contract with a customer, typically a purchase order initiated by the customer, that defines each party’s rights regarding the 
goods to be transferred, identifies the payment terms related to these goods, and that the customer has both the ability and intent to pay. 

 

● Identification of the performance obligations in the contract — performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the 
goods that will be transferred to the customer that are distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the goods on their own or together 
with other resources that are readily available from third parties or from the Company. 

 

● Determination of the transaction price — the transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which the Company will be 
entitled in exchange for transferring goods to the customer. This would be the agreed upon quantity and price per product type in 
accordance with the customer purchase order, which is aligned with the Company’s internally approved pricing guidelines. 

 

● Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract — if the contract contains a single performance 
obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance obligation. This applies to the Company as there generally is 
only one performance obligation, which is to provide the goods. 

 

● Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation — the Company satisfies performance obligations at a 
point in time when control of the goods transfers to the customer. Determining the point in time when control transfers requires judgment. 
Indicators considered in determining whether the customer has obtained control of a good include: 

 

● The Company has a present right to payment 
● The customer has legal title to the goods 
● The Company has transferred physical possession of the goods 
● The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods 
● The customer has accepted the goods 

 

The Company has concluded that transfer of control on hardware products substantively transfers to the customer upon shipment or delivery, 
depending on the delivery terms of the purchase agreement. 

 

The Company sells software as a subscription. The subscription software agreements are offered over a defined contract period, generally one year, 
and are sold to Internet service providers, who then promote the services to their subscribers. These services are available as an on-demand application over 
the defined term. The agreements include service offerings, which deliver applications and technologies via cloud-based deployment models that the 
Company develops functionality for, provides unspecified updates and enhancements for, host, manage, upgrade and support and that the customers access 
by entering into solution agreements for a stated period, generally a one-year term. The monthly fees charged to the customer are based on the number of 
subscribers utilizing the services each month, and the revenue recognized generally corresponds to the monthly billing amounts as the services are delivered. 

 

Other considerations of Topic 606 include the following: 
 

● Warranties - the Company does not provide separate warranty for purchase to customers. Therefore, there is not a separate performance 
obligation. The Company does account for assurance-type warranties as a cost accrual and the warranties do not include any additional 
distinct services other than the assurance that the goods comply with agreed-upon specifications. 

 

● Returned Goods - analyses of actual returned product are compared to that of the product return estimates and historically have resulted in 
no material difference between the two. The Company has concluded that the current process of estimating the return reserve represents a 
fair measure with which to adjust revenue. Returned goods are variable and under Topic 606 are estimated and recognized as a reduction of 
revenue as performance obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). Under implementation of Topic 606, the Company 
monitors pending authorized returns of goods and, if deemed appropriate, record the right of return asset accordingly. 
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● Price Protection - price protection provides that if the Company reduces the price on any products sold to the customer, the Company will 

guarantee an account credit for the price difference for all quantities of that product that the customer still holds. Price protection is variable 
and under Topic 606 are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of 
goods). The estimates due to price protection are historically not material. 

 

● Volume Rebates and Promotion Programs - volume rebates are variable dependent upon the volume of goods sold-through the Company’s 
customers to end users variable and under Topic 606 are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance obligations are 
satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). The estimates due to rebates and promotions are historically not material. 

 

Accounts receivable, net:   

 
  December 31    ,  

 2020  
 December 31, 

  2019  

Gross accounts receivable $ 9,376,937  $ 4,346,810 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (173,603)  (276,234) 

Total accounts receivable, net $ 9,203,334  $ 4,070,576 

 

Company revenues are primarily from the selling of products that are shipped and billed. Consistent with the revenue recognition accounting 
standard, revenues are recognized when control is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to 
in exchange for those goods and services. Sales are earned at a point in time through ship-and-bill performance obligations. 

 

Regarding disaggregated revenue disclosures, as previously noted, the Company’s business is controlled as a single operating segment that consists 
of the manufacture and sale of Internet access and other communications-related products. Most of the Company’s transactions are very similar in nature, 
contract, terms, timing, and transfer of control of goods. 

 

Disaggregated revenue by distribution channel for the years ended December 31:  

 
  2020  

  

 
  2019  

Retailers $ 41,553,479  $ 35,164,563 
Distributors 4,404,936  1,309,875 
Other 2,030,134  1,140,018 

Total $ 47,988,549  $ 37,614,456 

 

Disaggregated revenue by product for the years ended December 31: 
 

 

 
  2020  

  

 

 
  2019  

Cable Modems & Gateways $ 44,473,601  $ 33,810,410 
Other 3,514,948  3,804,046 

Total $ 47,988,549  $ 37,614,456 

 

Revenue is recognized when obligations under the terms of a contract with customers are satisfied. Revenue is measured as the amount of 
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring the products. Based on the nature of the Company’s products and customer 
contracts, the Company has not recorded any deferred revenue. Any agreements with customers that could impact revenue such as rebates or promotions are 
recognized in the period of agreement. 

 

The Company recorded $120,949 of revenue related to software as a subscription for the year ended December 31, 2020. This software-related 
revenue is attributable to the Minim Merger, whose financial results are presented from October 9, 2020 to December 31, 2020 (Note 3), and is represented in 
the above disaggregated revenue by distribution channel and by product segment presentations under "other." 
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(m) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels: 

● Level 1 - Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access. 

● Level 2 - Inputs are inputs (other than quoted prices included within Level 1) that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly. 

● Level 3 - Inputs include unobservable inputs for the asset or liability and rely on management's own assumptions about the assumptions that 
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. (The unobservable inputs should be developed based on the best information 
available in the circumstances and may include the Company’s own data.) 

Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, bank debt, and accounts payable. Due to the short-term nature and 
payment terms associated with these instruments, their carrying amounts approximate fair value. 

 

(n) Stock-Based Compensation 
 

Compensation cost for awards is generally recognized over the required service period based on the estimated fair value of the awards on their grant 
date. Fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model wherein the discount rate is based on published daily treasury interest rates for 
zero-coupon bonds available from the US Treasury. Volatility is based on the historical volatility over a period that is commensurate with the expected life of 
the option granted. 

 

(o) Advertising Costs 
 

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and reported in selling expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, and include 
costs of advertising, production, trade shows, and other activities designed to enhance demand for the Company's products. The Company reported 
advertising costs of approximately $1.72 million in 2020 and $2.73 million in 2019. 

 

(p) Foreign Currencies 
 

The Company generates a portion of its revenues in markets outside North America principally in transactions denominated in foreign currencies, 
which exposes the Company to risks of foreign currency fluctuations. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are reflected in operations and were not 
material for any period presented.  The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes. 

 

(q) Warranty Costs 
 

The Company provides for the estimated costs that may be incurred under its standard warranty obligations, based on actual historical repair costs. 
The reserve for the provision for warranty costs was $47,569 and $37,718 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 

(r) Shipping and Freight Costs 
 

The Company records the expense associated with customer-delivery shipping and freight costs in selling expense. The Company reported shipping 
and freight costs of $426.1 thousand in 2020 and $301.3 thousand in 2019. 

 

(s) Recently Adopted Accounting Standards 
 

The Company did not adopt any new accounting standard in 2020 that were significant to the Company. 
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(t) Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

 

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13, "Financial 
Instruments Credit Losses —Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments." ASU 2016-13 requires a financial asset (or group of financial assets) 
measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected, which includes the Company’s accounts receivable. This ASU is 
effective for the Company for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company is currently assessing the potential impact that the 
adoption of this ASU will have on our consolidated financial statements. 

 

With the exception of the new standard discussed above, there have been no other new accounting pronouncements that have significance, or potential 
significance, to the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

 

(3) ACQUISITION OF MINIM, INC. 
 

On November 12, 2020, Zoom executed an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Minim, Inc. (“Minim”), a privately held 
company based in Manchester, New Hampshire that designs, develops, sells and supports an IoT security platform that enables and secures a better- 
connected home. Upon closing of the Merger Agreement on December 4, 2020, an acquisition subsidiary of Zoom merged into Minim with Minim being the 
surviving entity of the merger. Upon completion of the merger, all property, assets, other legal rights, debts, obligations, and all other liabilities of Minim 
transferred. The Agreement was structured as a non-cash, stock transaction. The stockholders of Minim received 10,784,534 shares of Zoom in exchange for 
the cancelation of 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Minim. In addition, the holders of Minim stock options received 1,657,909 
of Zoom stock options in exchange for 2,069,644 Minim stock options. The vesting terms of the Minim stock options agreements were transferred to stock 
option agreements under the Zoom stock options issued. 

 

Immediately prior to execution of the Agreement, the majority stockholder of the Company was also the majority stockholder of Minim. As a result 
of the common ownership upon closing of the transaction, the acquisition was considered a common-control transaction and was outside the scope of the 
business combination guidance in ASC 805-50. The entities are deemed to be under common control as of October 9, 2020, which was the date that the 
majority stockholder acquired control of the Company and, therefore, held control over both companies. 
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Pursuant to ASC 250-10 and ASC 805-50, the transaction did not result in a change in the reporting entity and was recognized retrospectively for all 

periods during which the entities were under common control. For common-control transactions where both receiving entity and the transferring entity were 
not under common control during the entire reporting period, it is necessary to determine which entity is the predecessor. The predecessor is the reporting 
entity deemed to be the receiving entity for accounting purposes in a common-control transaction. The predecessor is not always the entity that legally 
receives the net assets or equity interests transferred. Comparative financial information shall only be adjusted for periods during which the entities were 
under common control. Since common control between the Company and Minim occurred in the current period, the comparative information of the prior 
period does not include the financial results of Minim prior to October 9, 2020. Accordingly, for periods in which the combining entities were not under 
common control, the comparative financial statements presented are those of the entity that is determined to be the predecessor up to the date at which the 
entities became under common control. Zoom was determined to be the predecessor entity and, therefore, was deemed to be the receiving entity for 
accounting purposes. Additionally, the consolidated financial statements and financial information presented for prior periods are not required to be restated 
to reflect the financial position and results of operations of Minim. 

 
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are reported at their historical carrying amounts and any difference between the proceeds transferred is 

recognized in additional paid-in capital. These consolidated financial statements include the historical accounts of the Company since inception and the 
accounts of Minim since the date common control commenced. 

 

The following table summarizes the historical balances of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of October 9, 2020: 

 

Assets acquired  

Cash and cash equivalents $ 501,845 
Accounts receivable, net 60,301 

Inventories 192,688 

Total current assets acquired 754,834 
  

Equipment, net 4,550 
Operating lease right-of-use asset, net 24,437 
Goodwill 58,872 
Intangible assets, net 97,122 

Other assets 45,810 

Total assets acquired $ 985,625 
  

Liabilities assumed  

Accounts Payables $ 46,392 
Current maturities of long-term debt 554,500 
Current maturities of operating lease liabilities 24,437 

Accrued other expenses 97,679 

Total current liabilities $ 723,008 
  

Net Assets $ 262,617 

 

Minim held $550,662 aggregate principal amount of promissory notes issued by employees during 2019 and 2018 in connection with the exercise of 
Minim stock options. In connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the $550,622 aggregate principal amount of the promissory 
notes was repaid in full. Of the $550,622, the Company received $320,290 in cash. The remaining balance of $230,332 was net settled with 103,842 shares of 
Minim common stock shares. These shares of common stock are incorporated in the issuance of 10,784,534 shares of Zoom common stock that were issued 
to Minim stockholders. This repayment occurred before the merger effective date of December 4, 2020 but after the October 9, 2020 commencement of 
common control. The $320,290 repayment is represented in the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for 
the year end December 31, 2020. 

 

Minim repurchased 33,809 shares of Minim common stock for $14,860 from a stockholder who is an immediate family member to the Company’s 
Executive Chairman of the Board. This repurchase remains unpaid as of December 31, 2020 and is recorded in accrued other expenses in the consolidated 
balance sheet as of December 31, 2020. This repurchase occurred before the merger effective date of December 4, 2020 but after the October 9, 2020 
commence of common control. The $14,860 repurchase is represented in the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows under accrued other expenses as the amount was not paid as of December 31, 2020. 
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The Company incurred transaction costs of approximately $1,594,042 related to this acquisition which were expensed as incurred and are included 

in general and administrative expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
 

(4) LIQUIDITY 

 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalent balance on December 31, 2020 was $771.7 thousand compared to $1.2 million on December 31, 2019. On 
December 31, 2020, the Company had $2.4 million bank debt outstanding on an available asset-based credit line of $4.0 million, and working capital of $5.9 
million. 

 
The addition of US tariffs and the Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic has created potential disruptions to the Company’s operations. The 25% 

US tariffs assessed on products imported from China had a significant impact on cash and net loss for 2019 and for first two quarters of 2020. For the years 
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, tariffs were $2.8 million and $3.2 million, respectively. These tariffs had an unfavorable impact on the Company’s 
financial performance until July 2020, the first full month after which the Company fully transitioned all of its core production supply out of China. In late 
2019, the Company made the decision to move its outsourced manufacturing operations from China to Vietnam, primarily to end the exposure to the trade- 
war imposed tariffs with China. While the COVID-19 pandemic caused delays in the original transition plan, the Company worked actively with its primary 
outsourced development partner to establish manufacturing operations in Haiphong, Vietnam. The transition to Vietnam was completed in June 2020. All 
manufacturing of existing models as of July 2020 takes place in Vietnam. For the second half of the year, only the initial manufacturing runs of new models 
took place in China. This transition lessened the Company’s tariff burdens and allows for the eventual release of an additional $800,000 in restricted cash 
over the next year related to performance bonds required to be posted related to the tariffs. The Company is also further diversifying its relationships with 
outsourced manufacturers. The Company signed a three-year agreement with Foxconn, one of the leading global outsourced manufacturers to the high-tech 
industry, to manufacture several of the new models the company plans to introduce to the market during 2021. 

 
The Company implemented cost cutting measures to conserve cash including postponing new hires in 2020 and not renewing the same footprint of 

its headquarters office lease when it expired in June 2020. The Company downsized its executive offices by retaining a small office within the City of Boston 
for research and testing purposes on a short-term, month-to-month basis at a cost of $682 per month starting November 1, 2020. Our work force continues to 
work remotely, and we are continuing operations. We have negotiated improved payment terms with our primary outsourced manufacturing partner. The 
Company expanded its revolving working capital line of credit with Rosenthal & Rosenthal from $4 million to $5 million in February 2021 and subsequently 
replaced the Rosenthal credit line with a $12 million credit facility and a $1 million credit card line provided by Silicon Valley Bank in March 2021. The 
Company continues to develop new products and anticipates that it will introduce several new models to the market during 2021. While the COVID-19 
outbreak disrupted sales and production for a short period of time during mid-March 2020, the Company worked through the disruption. In mid-March, sales 
initially decreased in response to a key distributor focusing its distribution logistics on essential healthcare products. The Company’s products, which are 
instrumental to businesses and consumers establishing remote and home-based offices, have since been designated as essential and are once again being 
offered and are selling at normal levels and certain models are currently selling above their average run rates before COVID-19 had a global impact on 
business and the economy. The Company continues to work closely with its manufacturing partners and distributors to ensure that the Company’s products 
remain consistently available for sale to end-users. 

 
The Company applied for and received approval for a Small Business Administration (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Plan Loan with Primary Bank 

under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”). The loan from the US government in the amount of $583.3 thousand was 
approved and funded in April 2020. The Company used the proceeds from the loan for qualifying expenses as defined in the CARES Act. The loan and 
related accrued interest was partially forgiven in 2020. 
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Depreciation expense for the year ended $ 157,107 $ 132,632 

 

 
(5) INVENTORIES 

 

Inventories consist of the following at December 31: 

 
  2020     2019  

Materials $ 1,238,332  $ 911,054 
Work in process 84,203  10,284 
Finished goods 15,182,305  6,519,012 

Total $   16,504,840  $ 7,440,350 
  

Finished goods includes consigned inventory held by our customers of $2,293,017 and $1,841,400 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively and 
includes in-transit inventory of $6,243,165 and $1,930,358 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company reviews inventory for obsolete and 
slow-moving products each quarter and makes provisions based on its estimate of the probability that the material will not be consumed or that it will be sold 
below cost. The provision for inventory reserves was negligible for both years ended December 31, 2020 and year ended December 31, 2019. 

 

(6) EQUIPMENT 
 

Equipment consists of the following at December 31: 
 

 

  2020    2019  

 
Estimated 

Useful lives 

  in years  
 

 
Machinery and equipment 426,885 316,945 5 

Office furniture and fixtures 64,128 50,948 5 

Accumulated depreciation (1,195,030) (1,024,623) 

 
 

(7) GOODWILL 
 

In December 2018, Minim acquired the net assets of MCP Networks Inc., a provider of a cloud-based home network management platform. The 
acquisition expanded Minim’s subscriber base and thereby offered sales opportunities of Minim’s software services to these subscribers. Minim recorded 
$58,872 of goodwill related to this acquisition in its historical accounts of December 2018. In accordance with the accounting of a common control 
transaction (Note 3), the Company recorded $58,872 of goodwill balance at Minim’s historical carrying amount as of October 9, 2020. As of December 31, 
2020, the goodwill balance remains unchanged. 

 

(8) INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

Intangible assets are recorded at the estimated fair value of acquired technology and customer relationships and are amortized over the respective 
estimated useful life using a method that is based on estimated future cash flows, as the Company believes this will approximate the pattern in which the 
economic benefits of the asset will be utilized. 

 

In December 2018, Minim acquired the net assets of MCP Networks Inc., a provider of a cloud-based home network management platform. The 
acquisition expanded Minim’s subscriber base and thereby offered sales opportunities of Minim’s software services to these subscribers. Minim recorded 
$122,435 of customer relationships related to this acquisition in its historical accounts of December 2018. In accordance the accounting of a common control 
transaction (Note 3), the Company recorded Minim’s historical carrying amounts, as of October 9, 2020, $122,435 of customer relationships and $25,313 of 
related accumulated amortization. 
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Equipment, net $ 455,066 $ 303,099 

Computer hardware and software $ 398,520 $ 308,767 3 

1,650,096 1,327,722 

Molds, tools and dies 760,563 651,063 5 



 

 

 
Intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2020:    

 
Est. Useful Life 

  (yrs)  
Gross Carrying 

  Amount  
 Accumulated 

   Amortization  

  
  Net  

Capitalized internal use software 2.5 $ 230,106  $ (20,431)  $ 209,675 
Customer relationships 9 122,435  (28,768)  93,667 
Acquired web domain 5 86,732  (1,445)  85,287 

Totals  $ 439,273  $ (50,644)  $ 388,629 

 

Amortization expense was $25,331 for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company did not have any intangible assets for the year ended 
December 31, 2019. 

 

The estimated annual amortization expense for each of the five succeeding years and thereafter is as follows: 
 

Years Ended December 31,   

2021   $ 125,931 
2022   123,147 
2023   53,762 
2024   31,092 
2025   29,609 
Thereafter   25,088 

    

Total   $ 388,629   

 

(9) ACCRUED OTHER EXPENSES 
   

Accrued other expenses for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following: 
   

 
December 31, 

  2020  

 December 31, 

  2019  

Inventory purchases $ 1,458,850  $ - 
Payroll and related benefit costs 853,402  151,473 
Professional fees 618,308  105,493 
Royalty costs 1,906,439  1,125,000 
Contract liabilities* 1,559,847  901,196 
Sales and use tax 183,264  148,836 
Other 884,953  234,473 

Total accrued other expenses $ 7,465,063  $ 2,666,471 

* Contract liabilities include sales allowances given to customers. A related inventory contract asset stemming from the sales return reserve of $366 thousand 

and $376 thousand is included within inventories on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 

(10) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

(a) Lease Obligations 
 

In May 2020, the Company signed a two-year lease agreement for 3,218 square feet at 275 Turnpike Executive Park, Canton MA. The agreement 
includes a one-time option to cancel the second year of lease with three-month advance notice. The location is currently being occupied by the research and 
development group of the Company. Rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $31.0 thousand. 

 

Upon the Minim Merger, the Company assumed Minim’s office facility lease located at the 848 Elm Street, Manchester, NH. The two-year facility 
lease agreement is effective from August 1, 2019 to July 31, 2021 and provides for 2,656 square feet. For the period from October 9, 2020 to December 31, 
2020, the rent expense was $6.8 thousand. 
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In June 2016, the Company signed a three-year sub-lease agreement for 11,480 square feet on the 28th floor of 99 High Street, Boston, MA 02110. 

The lease for this facility expired on June 30, 2019. The Company signed a twelve-month lease agreement for offices at 225 Franklin Street, Boston, MA and 
completed the move to this location on June 28, 2019. The lease has an automatic renewal option provision and renews unless cancelled under the terms of 
the agreement. This lease originally expired on June 30, 2020, after which the Company reduced its footprint of leased space and continued on a short-term 
basis until October 31, 2020. At that time, the Company signed a month-to-month lease agreement for a single office at 101 Arch Street, Boston, MA 
beginning November 1, 2020, while reviewing options for long-term lease for headquarters in Boston. The Company has elected to apply the short-term lease 
exception under ASC 842 which does not require the recognition of an operating lease liability or right-of-use asset on the condensed consolidated balance 
sheet in relation to the leases at 225 Franklin Street or at 101 Arch Street. Rent expense was $265.9 thousand and $558.2 thousands for the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 

The Company performs most of the final assembly, testing, packaging, warehousing and distribution at a production and warehouse facility in 
Tijuana, Mexico. In November 2014, we signed a one-year lease with five one-year renewal options thereafter for an 11,390 square foot facility in Tijuana, 
Mexico. In September 2015, Zoom extended the term of the lease from December 1, 2015 through November 30, 2018. In September 2015, Zoom also 
signed a new lease for additional space in the adjacent building, which doubled our capacity. The term of this lease was from March 1, 2016 through 
November 30, 2018. The Company has signed a lease extension to stay in the existing facilities through at least November 30, 2020. Currently, the Company 
is renting the facilities month-to-month while it negotiates a new lease agreement. Rent expense was $106.2 thousand in 2020 and $106.2 thousand in 2019. 

 

The Company also has a lease for approximately 1,550 square feet in Boston, MA that expired on October 31, 2019 and has been renewed for an 
additional 12 month starting November 1, 2019. The Company has negotiated to terminate this lease effective June 30, 2020. The Company has another one- 
year lease signed in December 2019 for approximately 1,500 square feet in Boston. The Company also negotiated the termination of this lease effective July 
31, 2020. The Company has elected to apply the short-term lease exception for both of these leases under ASC 842 which does not require the recognition of 
an operating lease liability or right-of-use asset on the condensed consolidated balance sheet in relation to this lease. Rent expense for these leases was 
approximately $76.8 thousand in 2020 and approximately $74.9 thousand in 2019. 

 

At inception of a lease the Company determines whether that lease meets the classification criteria of a finance or operating lease. Some of the 
Company’s lease arrangements contain lease components (e.g. minimum rent payments) and non-lease components (e.g. maintenance, labor charges, etc.). 
The Company generally accounts for each component separately based on the estimated standalone price of each component. 

 

As of December 31, 2020, the Company's estimated future minimum committed rental payments, excluding executory costs, under the operating 
leases described above to their expiration or the earliest possible termination date, whichever is sooner, are $70.9 thousand for 2021 and $22.8 thousand for 
2022. There are no future minimum committed rental payments that extend beyond 2022. 

 

Operating Leases 
 

Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets, operating lease liabilities, and long-term operating lease liabilities on the 
condensed consolidated balance sheets. These assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of remaining lease 
payments over the lease term using the Company’s secured incremental borrowing rates or implicit rates, when readily determinable. Based on the 
Company's financial position and ability to obtain financing at the time ASC 842 was adopted, 10% was considered by management to be a reasonable 
incremental borrowing rate when calculating the present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term. Short-term operating leases, which have an 
initial term of 12 months or less, are not recorded on the balance sheet. 

 

Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease expense is included in general and administrative 
expenses on the condensed consolidated statements of operations. 
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The following table presents information about the amount and timing of the Company’s operating leases as of December 31, 2020.  

 
December 31, 

  2020  

Maturity of Lease Liabilities Lease Payments 

2021 $ 70,865 
2022 22,794 
Less: Imputed interest (5,773) 

Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 87,886 

  

Balance Sheet Classification  

Current maturities of operating lease liabilities $ 65,651 
Operating lease liabilities, less current maturities 22,235 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 87,886 

  

Other Information  

Weighted-average remaining lease term for operating leases 1.3 

Weighted-average discount rate for operating leases 9.0% 

Cash Flows  

 

Upon adoption of the new lease standard in 2019, the Company recorded a lease liability in the amount of $420,899, right-of-use assets of $395,565, 
and reclassified deferred rent of $25,334 as a reduction of the right-of-use assets. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded an 
additional lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset of $96,199 related to the Company’s Canton, MA lease. Upon the Minim Merger, the Company 
recorded Minim’s historical carrying amounts, as of October 9, 2020 (Note 3), right-of-use asset and lease liability of $24,437 and $24,437, respectively. 
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the operating lease liability was reduced by $135,465 and $318,183, respectively. We recorded 
amortization of our right-of-use assets of $136,404 and $292,849 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 

Supplemental cash flow information and non-cash activity related to our operating leases are as follows: 
 

Year Ended 
  December 31,  

   2020    2019  

Operating cash flow information:   

Amounts included in measurement of lease liabilities $ 143,761 $ 324,346 

Non-cash activities:   

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations $ 120,635 $ 395,565 
 

(b) Contingencies 
 

The Company is a party to various lawsuits and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company evaluates such 
lawsuits and proceedings on a case-by-case basis, and its policy is to vigorously contest any such claims which it believes are without merit. 

 

The Company reviews the status of its legal proceedings and records a provision for a liability when it is considered probable that both a liability has 
been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. This review is updated periodically as additional information becomes available. If 
either or both of the criteria are not met, the Company reassesses whether there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss, or additional losses, may be 
incurred. If there is a reasonable possibility that a loss may be incurred, the Company discloses the estimate of the amount of the loss or range of losses, that 
the amount is not material, or that an estimate of the loss cannot be made. The Company expenses its legal fees as incurred. 
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On January 23, 2020, William Schulze filed a complaint, and subsequently filed an amended complaint on April 3, 2020 (collectively the “Schulze 
Complaint”) as lead plaintiff on behalf of purchasers of Zoom modems in a putative class action lawsuit against Zoom in the U.S. District Court for the 
District of Massachusetts. The Schulze Complaint alleged that Zoom modems were sold as new despite containing refurbished parts. On July 28, 2020, the 
lead plaintiff filed a Stipulation of Dismissal that dismissed the Schulze Complaint with prejudice. 

In the ordinary course of their business, the Company and its subsidiaries are subject to lawsuits, arbitrations, claims, and other legal proceedings in 
connection with their business. Some of the legal actions include claims for substantial or unspecified compensatory and/or punitive damages. A substantial 
adverse judgment or other unfavorable resolution of these matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of 
operations, and cash flows. Management believes that the Company has adequate legal defenses with respect to the legal proceedings to which it is a 
defendant or respondent and that the outcome of these pending proceedings is not likely to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of 
operations, or cash flows of the Company. However, the Company is unable to predict the outcome of these matters. 

 

(c) Commitments 

In May 2015, Zoom entered into a License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “License Agreement”). The License Agreement provides 
Zoom with an exclusive license to use certain trademarks owned by Motorola Trademark Holdings, LLC. for the manufacture, sale and marketing of 
consumer cable modem products in the United States and Canada through certain authorized sales channels. 

In August 2016, Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “2016 Amendment”). The 2016 
Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide and expands the license 
from cable modems and gateways to also include consumer routers, WiFi range extenders, home powerline network adapters, and access points. 

In August 2017, Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “2017 Amendment”). The 2017 
Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide, and expands the license 
from cable modems, gateways, consumer routers, WiFi range extenders, home powerline network adapters, and access points to also include MoCa adapters, 
and cellular sensors. The License Agreement, as amended, has a five-year term beginning January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2020 and increased the 
minimum royalty payments as outlined below. 

In March 2020, Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC. The 2020 Amendment the (“2020 
Amendment”) expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide, including Service 
Provider Channels. The License Agreement, as amended, has a 10-year term beginning January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2025 and modified the 
minimum royalty payments as outlined below. 

In connection with the License Agreement, the Company has committed to reserve a certain percentage of wholesale prices for use in advertising, 
merchandising and promotion of the related products. Additionally, the Company is required to make quarterly royalty payments equal to a certain percentage 
of the preceding quarter’s net sales with minimum annual royalty payments as follows: 

 

 
Years ending December 31,  

2021 $ 6,350,000 
2022 6,600,000 
2023 6,850,000 
2024 7,100,000 
2025 7,100,000 
  

Total $   34,000,000 

 

Royalty expense under the License Agreement amounted to $5,100,000 for 2020 and $4,500,000 for 2019 and is reported in selling expense on the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 
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(11) STOCK OPTION PLANS 

 

2019 Stock Option Plan 
 

On July 9, 2019, the Company established the 2019 Stock Option Plan (the “2019 Option Plan”) for officers and certain full-time and part-time 
employees of the Company. Non-employee directors of the Company are not entitled to participate under this plan. The 2019 Option Plan provides for 
4,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance upon the exercise of stock options granted under the plan. Under this plan, stock options are granted at the 
discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors at an option price not less than the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. 
The options are exercisable in accordance with terms specified by the Compensation Committee not to exceed 10 years from the date of grant. Option 
activity under this plan follows. 

 
  

Number of 

___shares __ 

 

Weighted 

average exercise 

  price  

Weighted 

Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Life 

Outstanding as of January 1, 2019 –– $ –– –– 
Granted 820,000 0.83  

Exercised –– ––  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2019 820,000 $ 0.83 2.68 

Granted 277,037 2.02  

Assumed with Minim Merger 1,432,018 0.61  

Exercised (276,856) 0.82  

Expired/Forfeited (205,000) 0.84  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020   2,047,199 $ 0.84 3.51 

Options exercisable at December 31, 2020   682,770 $ 0.67 2.79 
 

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $2.65 and $0.40 in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of 
options outstanding was approximately $5.7 million and $0.3 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of 
exercisable options was approximately $2.0 million and $0 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, there remained 

1,675,945 options available to be issued under the 2019 Option Plan. Upon the Minim Merger, the Company converted 1,432,018 options to Minim option 

holders in exchange for approximately 1,787,654 Minim stock options. 
 

2019 Director Stock Option Plan 
 

On July 9, 2019, the Company established the 2019 Director Stock Option Plan (the "2019 Directors Plan"). The Directors Plan was established for 
all members of the Board of Directors of the Company except for any director who is a full-time employee or full-time officer of the Company. The option 
price is the fair market value of the common stock on the date the option is granted. There are 1,000,000 shares authorized for issuance under the 2019 
Directors Plan. Option activity under this plan follows. 

 
  

Number of 

  shares  

 

Weighted 
average exercise 

  price  

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life 

Outstanding as of January 1, 2019  –– $ –– –– 
Granted  45,000 0.97  

Exercised  –– ––  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2019  45,000 $ 0.97 2.50 
Granted  297,963 2.26  

Assumed with Minim Merger  225,891 0.62  

Exercised  (56,500) 1.51  

Expired/Forfeited  (15,000) 1.06  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020    497,354 $ 1.52 3.27 

Options exercisable at December 31, 2020    282,124 $ 0.95 2.32 
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The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $1.30 and $0.53 in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of 

options outstanding was approximately $964.3 thousand and $9.5 thousand at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of 
exercisable options was approximately $696.3 thousand and $9.5 thousand at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, there 

remained 446,146 options available to be issued under the 2019 Directors Plan. Upon the Minim Merger, the Company converted 225,891 options to Minim 

option holders in exchange for approximately 281,990 Minim stock options. 
 

2009 Stock Option Plan 
 

On December 10, 2009, the Company established the 2009 Stock Option Plan (the “2009 Option Plan”) for officers and certain full-time and part- 
time employees of the Company. Non-employee directors of the Company are not entitled to participate under this plan. The 2009 Option Plan provides for 
5,500,000 shares of common stock for issuance upon the exercise of stock options granted under the plan. Under this plan, stock options are granted at the 
discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors at an option price not less than the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. 
The options are exercisable in accordance with terms specified by the Compensation Committee not to exceed 10 years from the date of grant. Option 
activity under this plan follows. 

 
  

Number of 

____shares ___ 

 

Weighted 
average exercise 

  price  

Weighted 

Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life 

Outstanding as of January 1, 2019 1,569,603 1.41 2.13 
Granted 90,000 0.95  

Exercised (199,792) 0.24  

Expired/Forfeited (150,000) ---  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2019 1,309,811 1.45 1.28 
Granted –– ––  

Exercised (655,001) 1.01  

Expired/Forfeited (236,200) 1.50  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020   418,610 $ 2.06 0.58 

Options exercisable at December 31, 2020   418,610 $ 2.06 0.58 
 

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $0.46 in 2019. No grants were issued under this plan in 2020. The aggregate 
intrinsic value of options outstanding was approximately $654 thousand at December 31, 2020 and approximately $369 thousand at December 31, 2019. The 
aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable options was approximately $654 thousand at December 31, 2020 and $353 thousand at December 31, 2019. As of 
December 31, 2020, there remained no options available to be issued under the 2009 Option Plan. The 2009 Option Plan terminated on December 1, 2019. 
The 2019 Stock Option Plan was approved on July 9, 2019 and replaced the 2009 Option Plan. 

 

2009 Directors Option Plan 
 

On December 10, 2009, the Company established the 2009 Directors Option Plan (the "2009 Directors Plan"). The 2009 Directors Plan was 
established for all Directors of the Company except for any director who is a full-time employee or full-time officer of the Company. The option price is the 
fair market value of the common stock on the date the option is granted. There are 700,000 shares authorized for issuance under the 2009 Directors Plan. 
Each option expires five years from the grant date. Option activity under this plan follows. 
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Number of   

______shares______ 

 

Weighted 

average exercise 

  price  

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life 

Outstanding as of January 1, 2019 342,500 1.71 2.52 
Granted 97,500 1.09  

Exercised (60,000) 0.23  

Expired/Forfeited (80,000)   

Outstanding as of December 31, 2019 300,000 1.63 2.00 
Granted –– ––  

Exercised (135,000) 1.44  

Expired/Forfeited (30,000) 0.88  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020   135,000 $ 1.98 0.82 

Options exercisable at December 31, 2020   135,000 $ 1.98 0.82 
 

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $0.57 in 2019. No grants were issued under this plan in 2020. The aggregate 
intrinsic value of options outstanding was approximately $222 thousand at December 31, 2020 and $41 thousand at December 31, 2019. The aggregate 
intrinsic value of exercisable options was approximately $222 thousand at December 31, 2020 and $41 thousand at December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 
2019, there remained no options available to be issued under the 2009 Directors Option Plan. The 2009 Directors Option Plan terminated on December 1, 
2019. The 2019 Directors Option Plan was approved on July 9, 2019 and replaced the 2009 Directors Option Plan. 

 

The Black-Scholes range of assumptions for all stock option plans is shown below:    

 
 2020  2019 

Assumptions:     

     

Expected life  3.24 to 6.25 (yrs)  2.75 (yrs) - 3.5 (yrs) 
     

Expected volatility  37% to 114.41%  77.74% - 87.40% 
     

Risk-free interest rate  0.19% - 1.67%  1.34% - 2.69% 
     

Expected dividend yield  0.00%  0.00% 

 

The unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested stock awards was approximately $705.0 thousand as of December 31, 
2020. This amount will be recognized through the fourth quarter of 2021. 

 

(12) INCOME TAXES 
 

Income tax expense consists of: 
 

  Current    Deferred    Total  
 

Year Ended December 31, 2019:    

U.S. federal  $ ––  $ ––  $ –– 
State and local  10,792  ––  10,792 
Foreign  14,073  ––  14,073 

  $ 24,865  $ ––  $ 24,865 

Year Ended December 31, 2020:       

U.S. federal  $ ––  $ ––  $ –– 
State and local  11,752  ––  11,752 
Foreign  14,964  ––  14,964 

  $ 26,716  $ ––  $ 26,716 
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A reconciliation of the expected income tax expense or benefit to actual follows: 

 
   2019     2020  

Computed "expected" US benefit at Federal statutory rate $ (685,652)  $ (807,799) 
Change resulting from:    

State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit (102,770)  (145,891) 
Valuation allowance 411,810  (121,000) 
Non––deductible items 87,998  394,236 
Expired Federal net operating loss 218,376  1,043,171 
Federal and state rate changes 95,103  (113,340) 
Non-taxable PPP loan forgiveness ––  (222,661) 

Income tax expense $ 24,865  $ 26,716 

 

Temporary differences at December 31 follow: 

 
   2019     2020  

Deferred income tax assets:    

Inventories $ 145,884  $ 241,874 
Accounts receivable 253,559  445,392 
Accrued expenses 80,068  116,254 
Net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards 13,276,081  15,243,998 
Plant and equipment 6,014  39,521 
Stock compensation 123,841  448,375 
Lease accounting 26,515  248 
Other – interest expense 12,385  24,009 

Total deferred income tax assets 13,924,347  16,559,671 
Valuation allowance (13,924,347)  (16,559,671) 

Net deferred tax assets $ ––  $ –– 
  

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax 
Act”) that significantly revised the U.S. tax code effective January 1, 2018 by, among other things, lowering the corporate income tax rate from a top 
marginal rate of 35% to a flat 21%. Other than the reduction in statutory rate, the Company does not anticipate the regulations will have a material impact on 
income taxes in future years. 

 

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $61,779,000 which are available to offset 
future taxable income. They are due to expire in varying amounts from 2021 to 2039. Federal net operating losses occurring after December 31, 2017, of 
approximated $13,617,000 may be carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had state net operating loss carry forwards of 
approximately $19,151,000 which are available to offset future taxable income. They are due to expire in varying amounts from 2032 through 2039. The 
Company’s merger with Minim in 2020 triggered a change of ownership that may limit the use of our net operating losses. The Company is in the process of 
determining the impact of any such limitation. A valuation allowance has been established for the full amount of deferred income tax assets as management 
has concluded that it is more-likely than-not that the benefits from such assets will not be realized. 

 

The Company reviews annually the guidance for the financial statement recognition, measurement and disclosure of uncertain tax positions 
recognized in the financial statements. Tax positions must meet a "more-likely-than-not" recognition threshold. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the 
Company did not have any uncertain tax positions. No interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions were accrued at December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and Mexico. Tax years subsequent to 2016 remain subject to examination for both US 
federal and state tax reporting purposes. Tax years subsequent to 2014 remain subject to examination for Mexico tax reporting purposes. The foreign income 
tax reported represents tax on operations for the Company that is located in a special economic zone in Mexico. Other than the Mexico facility, the Company 
has no operations in a foreign location. 
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(13) SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS 

 

The Company sells its products primarily through high-volume distributors and retailers, Internet service providers, telephone service providers, 
value-added resellers, PC system integrators, and OEMs. The Company supports its major accounts in their efforts to discern strategic directions in the 
market, to maintain appropriate inventory levels, and to offer a balanced selection of attractive products. 

 

Relatively few companies account for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues. In 2020, two companies accounted for 10% or greater 
individually, and 76% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2020 three companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% 
or greater individually accounted for a combined 85% of the Company’s accounts receivable. In 2019, two companies accounted for 10% or greater 
individually, and 84% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2019, three companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% 
or greater individually accounted for a combined 84% of the Company’s accounts receivable. 

 

(14) SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 
 

The Company's operations are classified as one reportable segment. Substantially all of the Company's operations and long-lived assets reside primarily in 
the North America. Net sales information is as follows: 

 
   FY 2020     Percent     FY 2019     Percent  

North America $  47,116,632  98.2%  $ 36,741,262  97.7% 
Outside North America 871,917  1.8%  873,194  2.3% 

Total $    47,988,549    100.0%  $ 37,614,456    100.0% 

 

(15) DEPENDENCE ON KEY SUPPLIERS 

 

The Company participates in the home connectivity industry, which is characterized by aggressive pricing practices, continually changing customer 
demand patterns and rapid technological developments. The Company's operating results could be adversely affected should the Company be unable to 
successfully anticipate customer demand accurately; manage its product transitions, inventory levels and manufacturing process efficiently; distribute its 
products quickly in response to customer demand; differentiate its products from those of its competitors or compete successfully in the markets for its new 
products. 

 

The Company depends on many third-party suppliers for key components contained in its product offerings. For some of these components, the 
Company may only use a single source supplier, in part due to the lack of alternative sources of supply. In 2020, the Company had two suppliers that 
provided 99% of the Company's purchased inventory. In 2019, the Company had one supplier that provided 96.3% of the Company's purchased inventory. 

 

(16) RETIREMENT PLAN 

 

The Company has a 401(k) retirement savings plan for employees. Under the plan, the Company matches 25% of an employee's contribution, up to 
a maximum of $350 per employee per year. Company matching contributions charged to expense is $10,575 and $5,405 in 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 

(17) BANK CREDIT LINE AND GOVERNMENT LOANS 
 

Bank Credit Line 
 

On December 18, 2012, the Company entered into a Financing Agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (the “Financing Agreement”). The 
Financing Agreement provided for up to $1.75 million of revolving credit, subject to a borrowing base formula and other terms and conditions as specified in 
the Financing Agreement. The Financing Agreement continued until November 30, 2014 and automatically renews from year to year thereafter, unless sooner 
terminated by either party as specified in the Financing Agreement. The Lender shall have the right to terminate the Financing Agreement at any time by 
giving the Company sixty days’ prior written notice. Borrowings are secured by all of the Company assets including intellectual property. The Loan 
Agreement contained several covenants, including a requirement that the Company maintain tangible net worth of not less than $2.5 million and working 
capital of not less than $2.5 million. 
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On March 25, 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to the Financing Agreement (the “Amendment”) with an effective date of January 1, 

2013. The Amendment clarified the definition of current assets in the Financing Agreement, reduced the size of the revolving credit line to $1.25 million, and 
revised the financial covenants so that Zoom is required to maintain tangible net worth of not less than $2.0 million and working capital of not less than $1.75 
million. 

 

On October 29, 2015, the Company entered into a second amendment to the Financing Agreement (the “Second Amendment”). Retroactive to 
October 1, 2015, the Second Amendment eliminated $2,500 in monthly charges for the Financing Agreement. Effective December 1, 2015, the Second 
Amendment reduces the effective rate of interest to 2.25% plus an amount equal to the higher of prime rate or 3.25%. 

 

On July 19, 2016, the Company entered into a third amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment increased the size of the revolving 
credit line to $2.5 million effective as of date of the amendment. 

 

On September 1, 2016, the Company entered into a fourth amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment increased the size of the 
revolving credit line to $3.0 million effective with the date of this amendment. 

 

On November 2, 2018, the Company entered into a fifth amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment reduced the effective interest 
rate by 1 percentage point and reduced the annual facility fee by 0.25 percent. 

 

On April 13, 2020, the Company entered into a sixth amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment increased the size of the revolving 
credit line to $4.0 million effective with the date of this amendment. 

 

The Company is required to calculate its covenant compliance on a quarterly basis and as of December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance 
with both its working capital and tangible net worth covenants. At December 31, 2020, the Company’s tangible net worth was approximately $6.3 million, 
while the Company’s working capital was approximately $5.9 million. Loan availability is based on certain eligible receivables. Loan availability was 
approximately $1.6 million as of December 31, 2020. 

 

Government Loans 
 

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was enacted to provide financial aid to family and 
businesses impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company participated in the CARES Act, and on April 15, 2020, the Company entered into a note 
payable with Primary Bank, a bank under the Small Business Administration (“SBA”), Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) in the amount of $583.3 
thousand. This note payable matures on March 15, 2022 with a fixed interest rate of 1% per annum with interest deferred for six months. The PPP loan has an 
initial term of two years, is unsecured and guaranteed by the SBA. Under the terms of the PPP note, the Company was able to apply for forgiveness of the 
amount due on the PPP loan. The Company submitted an application for forgiveness of this loan and received partial forgiveness of $512.8 thousand in 
principal and $3 thousand in accrued interest from the SBA in November 2020. The Company used the proceeds from the PPP loan for qualifying expenses 
as defined in the PPP. 

 

On March 11, 2020, Minim entered into a note payable with Primary Bank and received $544.5 thousand under the PPP. This note payable matures 
on March 11, 2022 with a fixed interest rate of 1% per annum with interest deferred for six months. The PPP loan has an initial term of two years, is 
unsecured and guaranteed by the SBA. Under the terms of the PPP note, the Company was able to apply for forgiveness of the amount due on the PPP loan. 
The Company submitted an application for forgiveness of this loan and received forgiveness of $544.5 thousand in principal and $3 thousand in accrued 
interest from the SBA in November 2020. The Company used the proceeds from the PPP loan for qualifying expenses as defined in the PPP. 

 

Minim recorded the loan liability related to this US government grant in its historical accounts as of October 9, 2020. In accordance with the 
accounting of a common control transaction (Note 3), the Company recorded a loan liability of $544.5 thousand, which was Minim’s historical carrying 
amount as of October 9, 2020. 

 

For the year end December 31, 2020, the Company has recorded $65,225 of the PPP loans in current maturities of long-term debt and $15,245 in long-
term debt in the consolidated balance sheet. 

 

 

  F-27  



 

 

 
(18) PRIVATE PLACEMENTS 

 

On May 26, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “2020 Stock Purchase Agreement”) with certain accredited investors, 
including certain independent investment funds, members of the Company’s management and its Board of Directors, and certain co-founders of the 
Company, in a private placement pursuant to which the Company sold an aggregate of 2,237,103 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, at a 
purchase price of $1.52 per share. In connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company incurred $237,030 of expenses which has been recorded 
as a reduction of additional paid in capital as presented in the condensed consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity. The net proceeds to the Company at 
the closing of the private placement were $3.16 million. 

 

On October 9, 2020, one of the accredited investors under the 2020 Stock Purchase Agreement sold his shares originally purchased under the Stock 
Purchase Agreement in a private sale transaction. The private sale of the investor’s shares constituted a short swing transaction, whereby, and as defined by 
Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), the investor was deemed a corporate insider who sold the shares within six 
months after the purchase of those shares. As required by the Exchange Act, the investor was required to disgorge $196,000 in profits from the private sale. 
The Company received and recorded the funds from disgorgement to additional paid in capital. 

 

On May 3, 2019, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “2019 Stock Purchase Agreement”) with certain accredited investors, 
including certain independent investment funds, members of the Company’s management and its Board of Directors, and certain co-founders of the 
Company, in a private placement pursuant to which the Company sold an aggregate of 4,545,455 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, at a 
purchase price of $1.10 per share. In connection with the 2019 Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company incurred $57,391 of expenses which has been 
recorded as a reduction of additional paid in capital as presented in the condensed consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity. The net proceeds to the 
Company at the closing of the private placement were $4.94 million. 

 

(19) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

On July 25, 2019, the Company entered into a Master Partnership Agreement with Minim Inc. (“Minim”), together with a related Statement of 
Work, License, Collaborative Agreement, Software/Service Availability Agreement and Software/Service Support Level Agreement (collectively, the 
“Partnership Agreement”). Under the Partnership Agreement, the Company will integrate Minim software and services into certain hardware products 
distributed by the Company, and Minim will be entitled to certain fees and a portion of revenue received from the end users of such services and software. 
The Company and Minim entered into an additional Statement of Work on December 31, 2019 providing for further integration of Minim services, with a 
monthly minimum payment of $5,000 payable by the Company to Minim starting in January 2020 for a period of thirty-six months and a requirement for 
Minim to purchase at least $90,000 of the Company’s hardware by December 2022. Minimum monthly payments under this agreement increased to $15,000 
in July 2020. 

 

Jeremy Hitchcock, who serves as Executive Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors, is the co-founder, Chief Executive Officer and, prior to 
the Minim Merger, was a stockholder of Minim. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, $90 thousand and $0 payments were made by 
the Company to Minim under the Partnership Agreement. The Company recorded $105 thousand and $0 in expenses for the years ended December 31, 2020 
and 2019, respectively. The Company sold $15 thousand of product to Minim for the year ended December 31, 2020. No services were provided in 2019. As 
of December 31, 2020, and 2019, no amounts were due from or to the Company under the Partnership Agreement. 

 

As of the Minim Merger on December 4, 2020, the Partnership Agreement is not considered a related party transaction, and any transactions 
between the Company and Minim are considered intercompany transactions, which are eliminated in the consolidation of these financial statements. 

 

The Company’s operating lease for its Manchester, NH office as described in Note 10 is leased from an affiliate entity that is owned by the 
Company’s Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Company made payments of $2,770 from October 9, 2020 to December 31, 2020 under this 
operating lease. 

 

On November 30, 2020, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company fully paid $264,000 to Minim for a promissory note related to the exercise of 
Minim stock options in December 2019 (Note 3). 

 

On November 20, 2020, Minim agreed to repurchase 33,809 shares of Minim common stock for $14,860 from a stockholder who is an immediate 
family member to the Company’s executive chairman of the Board and subsequent to the Minim Merger became a member of the Company’s Board of 
Directors. The $14,860 remains unpaid as of December 31, 2020 (Note 3). 
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(20) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

On February 4, 2021, the Financing Agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. was amended to increase the credit facility from $4.0 million to 
$5.0 million. 

 

On March 12, 2021, the Company terminated its Financing Agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. and entered into a new loan and security 
agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB Loan Agreement”). The SVB Loan Agreement provides for a revolving facility up to a principal amount of $12.0 
million. The SVB Loan Agreement matures, and all outstanding amounts become due and payable on March 12, 2023. The SVB Loan Agreement is secured 
by substantially all of the Company’s assets but excludes the Company’s intellectual property. Loans under the credit facility bear interest at a rate per annum 
equal to (i) at all times when a streamline period is in effect, the greater of (a) one-half of one percent (0.50%) above the Prime Rate or (b) three and three- 
quarters of one percent (3.75%) and (ii) at all times when a streamline period is not effect, the greater of (a) one percent (1.0%) above the Prime Rate and (b) 
four and one-quarter of one percent (4.25%). Interest is payable monthly. The availability of borrowings under the SVB Loan Agreement is subject to certain 
conditions and requirements, and the borrowing base amount is up to (a) 85% of eligible accounts receivable balances plus (b) the least of (i) 60% of eligible 

inventory, (ii) 85% of net orderly liquidation value, and (iii) $4.8 million. In conjunction with the SVB Loan Agreement, the Company secured a $1.0 million 

commercial credit card line. 
 

Other than above, management of the Company has reviewed subsequent events from December 31, 2020 through the date of filing and has 
concluded that there were no other subsequent events requiring adjustment to or disclosure in these consolidated financial statements. 
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EXHIBIT 21.1 
 

SUBSIDIARIES 
 

MTRLC LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Zoom Telephonics, Inc., is a limited liability company organized in Delaware that focuses on the sale of our 
Motorola brand products. 

 

Minim, Inc, a wholly owned subsidiary of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. is a corporation organized in Delaware that designs, develops, sells and supports an IoT 
security platform that enables and secures a better connected home. 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 23.1 
 

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM'S CONSENT 

 
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. on Form S-1 filed by the Registrant on June 11, 2020 
(File No. 333-239122) and S-8 filed by the Registrant on April 15, 2020 (File No. 333-237698) of our report dated April 13, 2021, with respect to our audits 
of the consolidated financial statements of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for each of the two years in the period ended 
December 31, 2020, which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

 

/s/ Marcum LLP 
 

Portland, ME 
April 13, 2021 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.1 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 

I, Graham Chynoweth, Chief Executive Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc., certify that: 
 

1) I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc.; 
 

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

 

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 

4) As the registrant's certifying officer, I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the 
registrant and have: 

 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

 

5) As the registrant's certifying officer, I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting. 

 

Date: April 13, 2021 By: /s/ GRAHAM CHYNOWETH 
 

Graham Chynoweth 
Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.2 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 

I, Sean Doherty, Chief Financial Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc., certify that: 
 

1) I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc.; 
 

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

 

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 

4) As the registrant's certifying officer, I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the 
registrant and have: 

 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

 

5) As the registrant's certifying officer, I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting. 

 

Date: April 13, 2021 By: /s/ SEAN DOHERTY 

Sean Doherty 
Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) 

 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION 

 

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States 
Code). 

 

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Graham Chynoweth, Chief Executive Officer, hereby 
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that: 

 

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 
 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

 

Date: April 13, 2021 By: /s/ GRAHAM CHYNOWETH 
 

Graham Chynoweth 
Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

 

 

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 32.2 

CERTIFICATION 

 

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States 
Code). 

 

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Sean Doherty, Chief Financial Officer, hereby certifies, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that: 

 

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 
 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

 

Date: April 13, 2021 By: /s/ SEAN DOHERTY 

Sean Doherty 
Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) 

 

 

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 
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EXPLANATORY NOTE 

 

We are filing this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (“Amendment No. 1”) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, as originally filed 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on April 13, 2021 (the “Original Filing”), to include the information required to be disclosed by Part III, Items 10 through 14 of 

Form 10-K. 

 

As required pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Amendment also includes updated certifications from the Company’s Chief Executive Officer 

and Chief Financial Officer as Exhibits 31.3, 31.4, 32.3 and 32.4. Amendment No.1 also includes certain employment agreement as Exhibits 10.27 through 10.31. 

 

Except for the foregoing, this Amendment No. 1 does not update or modify any of the information contained in the Original Fil ing. Other than as specifically set forth herein, 

this Amendment No. 1 continues to speak as of the date of the Original Filing and we have not updated or amended the disclosu res contained therein to reflect events that have 

occurred since the date of the Original Filing. Information not affected by this Amendment No. 1 remains unchanged and reflects the disclosures made at the time of the Original Filing. 

Accordingly, this Amendment No. 1 should be read in conjunction with the Original Filing and our filings made with the SEC subsequent to the date of the Original Filing. 

 
SPECIAL CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 

This Amendment No. 1 contains “forward looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward looking statements are often identified by the words “will,” “may,” “believ es,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” 

“projects” and words of similar import. Such words and expressions are intended to identify such forward looking statements, but are not intended to constitute the e xclusive means of 

identifying such statements.  Such forward looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those described in “Risk Factors” in Item 

1A of the Original Filing that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results, to be material ly different from any future results, performance or 

achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. Given these uncertainties, prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward 

looking statements. 

 

All references in this Amendment No. 1 to “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company” refer to Zoom Telephonics, Inc., a Delaware corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries 

unless the context requires otherwise. 

 



PART III 

 

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
Directors 

 

The Board of Directors of the Company consists of eight members. At each meeting of stockholders, directors are elected for a one-year term. The following table and biographical 

descriptions set forth information regarding the nominees and current members of the Board of Directors. 

 

 
Name 

 
Age 

 
Principal Occupation 

Director 
Since 

David Aronoff(1),(2),(4)
 57 General Partner of Flybridge Capital Partners, Board Member of Draper Laboratories and BetterCloud 2020 

Dan Artusi(3)
 66 Board member of MaxLinear, VislC-Tech, and GenXComm 2020 

Graham Chynoweth 42 Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company 2020 

Philip Frank(1)
 50 President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director of VUI, Inc. 2015 

Elizabeth Hitchcock(4)
 42 Principal at Orbit group and Board Member of St. Mary’s Bank 2020 

Jeremy Hitchcock(4)
 39 Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company 2020 

Joshua Horowitz(1),(3)
 43 Portfolio Manager at Palm Management (US) LLC 2020 

Sandra Howe(2),(3)
 48 Technology Executive, previously with ARRIS, Cisco, and Technetix 2020 

 

(1) Members of the Audit Committee. Chair: Philip Frank. 

(2) Members of the Compensation Committee. Chair: David Aronoff. 

(3) Members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Chair: Joshua Horowitz. 

(4) Members of the Cybersecurity and Privacy Committee. Chair: Elizabeth Hitchcock. 

 
David Aronoff has been a director of the Company since December 2020. Since June 2005, Mr. Aronoff has been a General Partner of Flybridge Capital Partners which he joined in 

1995. Prior thereto, he was with Greylock Partners, a Silicon Valley venture capital firm and during his tenure he invested in 17 companies, actively guiding sales, business development 

and product marking activities. Mr. Aronoff is a member of the Board of Directors of Draper Laboratories, a defense, aerospace and commercial research contractor, and of BetterCloud, 

an SaaS management platform. He is a member of the Board of Trustees of the University of Vermont and a member of the Global Cyber Institute Advisory Board. Mr. Aronoff earned an 

MBA degree from the Harvard Business School, an MS degree in Computer Science from the University of Southern California, and a BS degree in Computer Science from the University 

of Vermont. We believe that Mr. Aronoff’s extensive experience in the technology field and with investments brings valuable insight to our Board. 

 

Dan Artusi has been a director of the Company since December 2020. Mr. Artusi is a board member of MaxLinear, Inc. (NYSE: MXL), VisIC-Tech, and GenXComm. From 2015 to 

2018, Mr. Artusi served as Vice President in the Client Computing Group and General Manager for the connected home division a t Intel Corporation, a technology company. Prior to 

Intel, Mr. Artusi served as Chief Executive Officer of Lantiq Deutschland GmbH, a fabless semiconductor company, from 2012 until its acquisition by Intel in 2015. From 2009 to 2015, 

Mr. Artusi served as an operating executive with Golden Gate Capital, a private equity firm. From 2007 to 2008, Mr. Artusi served as President and Chief Executive Officer and as a board 

member of Conexant Systems, Inc., a provider of semiconductors, and from 2005 to 2007, Mr. Artusi served as chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Coldwatt, Inc., a provider of high 

efficiency power supplies for the communications and computer industry. From April 2005 to June 2005, Mr. Artusi was an indiv idual investor. From January 2003 to April 2005, he 

served as the President of Silicon Laboratories Inc., a developer of mixed signal integrated circuits, and from January 2004 to April 2005, he also served as the Chief Executive Officer and as 

a board member of Silicon Laboratories. From 2001 to 2004, he served as Chief Operating Officer of Silicon Laboratories. From 1977 until joining Silicon Laboratories, Mr. Artusi held 

various management and executive positions in the semiconductor business at Motorola Inc. Currently, Mr. Artusi also serves on the Engineering Advisory Board of the Cockrell 

School of Engineering at the University of Texas at Austin. Mr. Artusi studied electrical engineering at the Instituto Tecnologico de Buenos Aires (ITBA) in Argentina. We believe that 

Mr. Artusi’s extensive experience in the technology field and experience in senior executive positions qualify him to serve on our Board. 

 
Graham Chynoweth joined the Company in December 2020 as Chief Executive Officer. He was the Chief Executive Officer of Minim, Inc. from June 2019 until Minim, Inc.’s merger 

with the Company. Prior to Minim, Inc., he served since August 2016. Mr. Chynoweth holds a JD degree from Duke University School of Law, an MA degree in Public Policy from Duke 

University, and a BA degree in political science from the University of California, Berkeley. Mr. Chynoweth’s service as our Chief Executive Officer and his  experience with other 

technology companies provides the Board with access to an experienced executive with a thorough understanding of the Company’s business and the industry. 

 

Philip Frank is a technology executive with over 25 years of experience. He has been a director of the Company since September 2015. He has served as President, Chief Executive 

Officer and director of VUI, Inc. since September 2018. Prior to that, he was the President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of AirSense Wireless from August of 2016 until its sale 

to Charter Communications, Inc. in January 2018, and was the Company's Chief Financial Officer from September 2015 to July 2016. From February 2005 to December 2014 he worked for 

the Nokia Corporation including Nokia Siemens Networks, based in London, England. At Nokia, Mr. Frank was most recently the G lobal Head of Corporate Development and Mergers 

and Acquisitions. Earlier in his career, Mr. Frank was an executive with AT&T Wireless Services as well as having worked with global advisory firms Diamond-Cluster International, Inc. 

and Accenture PLC. He received a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from the University of Michigan Ross School of Business. Mr. Frank’s extensive experience as a sen ior 

financial and development executive with large telecommunications companies and infrastructure vendors provides the Board wit h topical industry expertise and a valuable perspective 

regarding financial management, strategy, development and sales. 

 



Elizabeth Hitchcock joined the Board of the Company in December 2020. She is a co-founder on Minim, Inc. Ms. Hitchcock is the spouse of Jeremy Hitchcock, the Chairman of the 

Board. Ms. Hitchcock is an entrepreneur, investor, small business owner and champion for her community and the arts. Her fami ly office, Orbit Group LLC, is located in Manchester,  

New Hampshire, and focuses on technology and real estate projects with the mission to provide support through guidance, relationships and capital in order to build a better 

community. She is a co-founder of Minim, Inc. Since 2017, Ms. Hitchcock has been a General Partner of Millworks Fund, a venture fund focused on investing in technology startups.  

From September 2016 to September 2018, Ms. Hitchcock was a Managing Director of 10x Venture Partners, a seed stage (and beyond) investment firm. From July 2006 to November 2009, 

she served as the Leader of Sales and Marketing of Dyn. Ms. Hitchcock is the spouse of Jeremy Hitchcock, the Executive Chairman of the Company. Ms. Hitchcock holds a B.S. degree 

in computer Science from Worcester Polytechnic Institute. She is a director of St. Mary’s Bank and a former Trustee of the Institute of Art and Design at New England Colleg e. We 

believe that Ms. Hitchcock’s experience in the technology field and in investing in and co-founding technology companies qualifies her for our Board. 

 

Jeremy Hitchcock is a technology entrepreneur and executive who joined the Company’s Board of Directors in May 2019. On January 16, 2020, the Board appointed Mr. Hitchcock 

as Chairman of the Board, to be effective as of February 1, 2020. On April 14, 2020, the Board appointed Mr. Hitchcock as Executive Chairman of the Board. Mr. Hitchcock founded and, 

until its acquisition by the Company, served from its founding until its acquisition by the Company, served from its founding until 2019 as President and Chief Executive Officer of our  

subsidiary Minim, Inc., an Internet of Things (“IoT”) networking and security company. Mr. Hitchcock is a Principal at Orbit Group LLC. Previously, Mr. Hitchcock founded Dyn when 

he was a student at Worcester Polytechnic Institute in 2001. Dyn is an Internet infrastructure company connecting people, content, and  commerce. The company grew to 500 employees 

and raised $100 million of growth capital, and was acquired by Oracle Corporation in 2017. Mr. Hitchcock is the spouse of Elizabeth Hitchcock, a Director of the Board. Mr. Hitchcock 

holds a B.S. degree from Worcester Polytechnic Institute. Mr. Hitchcock’s extensive experience in networking, security, and b usiness brings leadership, vision and extensive business 

and operating experience to the Board. 

 

Joshua Horowitz has been a director of the Company since May 2020. Mr. Horowitz is a professional investor with over 17 years of investing experience. Since January 2012, Mr. 

Horowitz has served as a portfolio manager and Managing Director at various Palm entities, first with Palm Ventures LLC and currently with Palm Management (US) LLC where he 

manages the Palm Global Small Cap Master Fund. He was formerly Director of Research at Berggruen Holdings, a multi-billion dollar family office and a research analyst at Crossway 

Partners LP, a value strategy investment partnership. Mr. Horowitz has served as a director of three separate Nasdaq traded c ompanies over the past six years. Mr. Horowitz served as a 

Director of The Lincoln General Insurance Company from October 2001 to November 2014, 1347 Capital Corp (Nasdaq: TFSC) from July 2014 to July 2016, and 1347 Property Insurance 

Holdings, Inc. (Nasdaq: PIH) from April 2015 to April 2018. He was most recently the Interim Chairman of the Board of Directors at Birner Dental Management Services, Inc. (OTC:  

BDMS) from June 2018 until the Company’s sale to Mid Atlantic Dental Partners in January 2019. Birner was the only publicly traded dental service organization (“DSO”) in the country 

with 67 offices and over 500 employees. He is currently a Director of Limbach, Inc. (Nasdaq: LMB), a $500 million mechanical systems solutions concern. He is also a Board Observer at 

Biomerica, Inc. (Nasdaq: BMRA) and a Director of Insurance Income Strategies, Ltd. Mr. Horowitz holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Management magna cum laude f rom 

Binghamton University and also studied at the Bath School of Management in the United Kingdom. We believe that Mr. Horowitz’s  qualifications to serve on our Board include valuable 

insights obtained through his management and operational experience as well as his extensive experience in the financial industry, including investing, corporate governance, capital 

allocation, finance and financial analysis of public companies. 

 



Sandra Howe joined the Board of Directors of the Company in December 2020. She is a technology executive, previously with ARRIS, Cisco, a nd Technetix. Ms. Howe is a 

technology leader with over 25 years’ experience in the global telecommunications, consumer and media industries and has proven experience in business development and operations 

as well as leading marketing, sales and business unit teams to exceed company sales and profitability targets . From 2018 to 2020, Ms. Howe served as Senior Vice President and 

President, Americas for Technetix, Ltd., a technology company focused on next-generation broadband equipment engineering. From 2010 to 2018, she was a Senior Vice President of 

ARRIS Group, Inc., a telecommunications equipment company engaged in data, video and telephony systems for homes and businesses, most recen tly as General Manager of the 

Consumer Products Group. Ms. Howe graduated from Pennsylvania State University. Ms. Howe’s experience  in the technology, telecommunications and consumer products fields 

enable her to serve on our Board. 

 
Executive Officers 

 

The names and biographical information of our current executive officers, not otherwise listed among the directors of the Com pany, are set forth below. Each of our executive 

officers is chosen by the Board and holds his or her office until his or her successors shall have been duly chosen and quali fied, or until his or her death, resignation or removal by the 

Board. 

 
Name Age Position with the Company 

Sean Doherty 39 Chief Financial Officer 

Nicole Zheng 36 Chief Marketing Officer 

John Lauten 54 Chief Operating Officer 

 

Sean Doherty joined the Company in December 2020 as Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Doherty was the Senior Vice President, Finance of Minim, Inc. from May 2020 until the merger 

of Minim, Inc. with the Company. Prior to joining Minim, Inc., he was the Managing Member at Pulpit Rock Consulting from August 2019 to October 2020. From October 2018 to July 

2019, Mr. Doherty was a Director, Financial Planning and Analysis at Bottomline Technologies, Inc. (NASDAQ: EPAY). Prior to h is time at Bottomline, Mr. Doherty was the Senior 

Manager of Finance at Dyn and then at Oracle Corporation (NYSE: ORCL) from March 2012 to October 2018. He has also served on the Board of Directors and Finance Committee of  

The Visiting Nurse Association of Southern New Hampshire since April 2017. Mr. Doherty holds a B.S. degree in Economics and Finance from Southern New Hampshire University as 

well as an MBA degree in Finance and International Business from Northeastern University. 

 

Nicole Zheng joined the Company in December 2020 following the merger of Minim, Inc. with the Company. Ms. Zheng was a co-founder of Minim, Inc. and had been the Chief 

Marketing Officer and Chief Product Officer of Minim, Inc., since April 2018 until Minim, Inc.’s merger with the Company. Ms. Zheng was recognized in Entrepreneur as a Top Female 

Founder in the United States in July 2020. Prior to Minim, Inc., she was the Chief Marketing Officer at Antidote Technologies from April 2017 to April 2018, and at OnSIP from February 

2010 to April 2017. She has served as Advising CMO to quantum networking company Aliro Technologies since October 2020 and previously as a board member of Alliance of Channel 

Women, a nonprofit on a mission to advance careers for women in the telecom and broadband services sector, from January 2013 to November 2016. Ms. Zheng holds a B.S. in Materials 

Science Engineering and B.S. in Engineering and Public Policy from Carnegie Mellon University, as well as business certifications from The Wharton School Online. 

 

John Lauten, our Chief Operating Officer, joined the Company in 2019 as Senior Vice President of Operations. Mr. Lauten has extensive experience in consumer electronic and 

technology manufacturing companies. Prior to joining the Company, he served as Chief Operating Officer for Skully Technologies from May 2017, where he led a wearable augmented 

reality technology company turn-around for new investors. He provided operations and strategy consulting to technology companies as a Partner at TechCXO from  March 2016 to June 

2017 and from June 2019 to November 2019, Mr. Lauten served as Vice President of Business Development and Strategy at Fox Factory, a leading automotive suspension manufacturer 

from October 2013, where he worked on five international acquisitions as part of a CEO and Board led expansion initiative. He previously served as the Director of North American 

Supply Chain Management at Cisco System, Inc. from 2009, and as Head of Global Customer Operations at Scientific-Atlanta from 2003 through 2009. Prior to that he held various  

finance and operations positions at Scientific-Atlanta and financial roles at Northern Telecom. Mr. Lauten earned a BA degree in Business Administration/Marketing from Texas Christian 

University and an MBA degree from the University of Texas at Austin, McCombs School of Business with a concentration in Finance. 

 



Delinquent Section 16(A) Report 

 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of our Common Stock, to file reports regarding ownership of, 

and transactions in, our securities with the SEC and to provide us with copies of those filings. Based solely on our review of the copies of such form s received by us, or written 

representations from certain reporting persons, except for (i) the Form 3 filed by Elizabeth Hitchcock on December 15, 2020, (ii) the Form 4 filed by Jonathan Seelig on March 20, 2020, (iii) the 

Form 4 filed by Joseph Donovan on March 20, 2020, (iv) the Form 4 filed by Peter Sykes on March 20, 2020, (v) the Form 4 filed by Frank Philip on March 20, 2020, (vi) the Form 4 filed 

by Peter Kramer on March 20, 2020, (vii) the Form 4 filed by Jeremy Hitchcock on March 19, 2020, and (viii) the Form 3 and Form 4 filed by Jacquelyn Hamilton Barry on March 17, 2020, 

we believe that all filing requirements applicable to our officers, directors and ten percent beneficial owners were complied with during the year ended December 31, 2020. 

 
Code of Ethics 

 

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers that applies to its principal executive officer and its principal financial officer, principal accounting officer 

and controller, and other persons performing similar functions. The Company's Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers is publicly available on its website at www.minim.com. If the 

Company makes any amendments to this Code of Ethics or grants any waiver, including any implicit waiver, from a provision of this Code of Ethics to the Company's principal executive 

officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller or other persons performing similar functions,  the Company will disclose the nature of such amendment or 

waiver, the name of the person to whom the waiver was granted and the date of waiver on the Company’s website. 

 
Audit Committee 

 

The Board of Directors has a standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act.  The members of the Audit Committee were Messrs. 

Aronoff, Frank, and Horowitz with Mr. Frank presiding as Chairman. Each member of the Audit Committee is independent as required under Section 10A(m)(3) of the Exchange Act. The 

Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Frank meets the requirement of “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of the SEC’s regulations. 

 
Nominees for Director 

 

Stockholders may make recommendations to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of candidates for its consideratio n as nominees for director at Minim's 2022 

Annual Meeting of Stockholders by submitting the name, qualifications, experience and background of such person, together with a statement signed by the nominee in which she or 

he consents to act as such, to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, c/o Zoom Telephonics, Inc., 848 Elm Street, Manchester, New Hampshire, 03101. Notice of such 

recommendations should be submitted in writing as early as possible, but in any event not later than 120 days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting 

or special meeting in lieu thereof and must contain the specified information and conform to certain requirements set forth i n Minim's Bylaws. In addition, any persons recommended 

should at a minimum meet the criteria and qualifications referred to in the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee's charter, a copy of which is publicly available on Minim's 

website at www.minim.com. The letter of recommendation from one or more stockholders should state whether or not the person(s) making the recommendation have beneficially owned 

5% or more of Minim's Common Stock for at least one year. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may refuse to acknowledge the nomination of any person not made in 

compliance with the procedures set forth herein, in the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee's charter or in Minim's Bylaws. 

 

http://www.minim.com/
http://www.minim.com/


Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 

2020 Summary Compensation Table 

 

The following Summary Compensation Table sets forth the total compensation paid or accrued for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 for our principal 

executive officer and the two other most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive officers of the Company as of December 31, 2020. The table also includes 

Jeremy Hitchcock, Frank B. Manning and Joseph L. Wytanis who served as principal executive officers of the Company during por tions of fiscal year 2020 in addition to our current 

Chief Executive Officer, Graham Chynoweth, and Jacqueline Barry Hamilton who served as Acting Chief Financial Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, during fiscal year 

2020 and would otherwise have been included in the table but for the fact that she was not acting as an executive officer on December 31, 2020. We refer to these officers as  our named 

executive officers. 

 

 
 
Name and Principal Position 

 
 

Year 

  

Salary 

($) 

 

Bonus(1) 

($) 

Option 

Awards(2) 

($) 

All Other 

Compensation(3) 

($) 

 

Total 

($) 

Graham Chynoweth,  2020 $ 15,385 — — — $ 15,385 

Chief Executive Officer  2019 — — — — — 

Nicole Zheng,  2020 $ 12,308 — — — $ 12,308 

Chief Marketing Officer  2019 — — — — — 

John Lauten,  2020 $ 195,000 $ 54,125 — $ 15,192 $ 264,317 

Chief Operating Officer  2019 — — — — — 

Jeremy Hitchcock,  2020 — — $ 14,425 — $ 14,425 

Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors 
principal executive officer 

 2019 — — $ 18,257 — $ 18,257 

Frank B. Manning,(4)
 

Retired Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief 

Executive Officer and Acting Chief Financial 

2020 

2019 

$ 

$ 

12,430 

134,244 

— 

— 

 

$ 

— 

67,463 

$ 

$ 

79,833 

350 

$ 

$ 

92,263 

202,057 

 
(1) The amounts in this column represent bonus payments granted in the applicable fiscal year. 

(2) The amounts included in the “Option Awards” column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of option awards in accordance  with FASB ASC Topic 718, pursuant to the 2009 

Stock Option Plan and 2019 Stock Option Plan. Assumptions used in the calculations of these amounts are included in Note 11 to our Financial Statements included in our Annual 

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020. These options are incentive stock options issued under the 2009 Stock Option Plan or 2019 Stock Option Plan and 

represent the right to purchase shares of Common Stock at a fixed price per share (the grant date fair market value of the shares of Common Stock underlying the options). 

(3) The amounts included in the “All Other Compensation” column consists of: (a) for Mr. Lauten in 2020, a taxable housing allowa nce of $15,192; (b) for Mr. Manning in 2020, 

severance compensation of $52,206 and vacation pay of $27,627, and in 2019, the Company’s contribution to a 401(k) plan of $350; (c) for Mr. Wytanis in 2020, severance 

compensation of $105,000, vacation pay of $16,735, and a taxable housing allowance of $15,908, and in 2019, a taxable housing allowance of $107,538; and (d) for Ms. Barry Hamilton 

in 2020, severance compensation of $92,500 and vacation pay of $11,678. 

(4) Mr. Manning retired from his role as Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Acting Chief Financial Officer of the Company effective as of 

February 1, 2020. 

(5) Mr. Wytanis resigned from the Company effective as of May 8, 2020. 

 
Outstanding Equity Interests 

 
The following table sets forth information concerning outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2020 for each named executive officer. 

 
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2020 Fiscal Year-End 

 
 

 
Number of Securities 

      Underlying Unexercised Options  

Equity Incentive 

Plan 

Awards Number 

of 

Securities 

Underlying 

 
 
Name 

 

Exercisable 

Options 

 

Unexercisable 

Options(2) 

Unexercised 

Unvested 
Options 

Option 

Exercise 
Price 

Option 

Expiration 
Date 

Graham Chynoweth 20,384 2,547 2,547 $ 0.55 03/31/2025 
 48,063 — — $ 0.57 08/25/2025 

Nicole Zheng 7,337 — — $ 0.55 03/31/2025 
 — 40,503 40,503 $ 0.57 08/25/2025 
 53,334 — — $ 3.44 2/4/2026 

John Lauten 40,000 25,000 25,000 $ 1.00 11/12/2022 

Jeremy Hitchcock 30,000 — — $ 0.88 5/30/2022 
 7,500 — — $ 0.97 7/10/2022 
 7,500 — — $ 1.15 1/10/2023 
 7,500 — — $ 2.03 7/10/2023 

Frank B. Manning — — — $ — — 

Joseph L. Wytanis — — — $ — — 

Jacqueline Barry Hamilton(1)
 71,721 — — $ 1.00 3/11/2023 

 

(1) Upon her departure, effective December 31, 2020, all of the options held by Ms. Barry Hamilton became fully vested. 

(2) The Unexercisable Options for Mr. Chynoweth and Ms. Zheng were converted from their respective Minim, Inc. options into options to purchase Company Common Stock in 

connection with the Company’s merger with Minim, Inc. 

 

Joseph L. Wytanis,(5)
 2020 $ 78,254 $ 77,011 — $ 137,643 $ 292,908 

former President and Chief Executive Officer 2019 $ 207,708 $ 60,000 — $ 107,538 $ 375,246 

Jacqueline Barry Hamilton, 2020 $ 159,627 $ 32,375 $ 38,617 $ 104,178 $ 334,797 

former Chief Financial Officer 2019 — — — — — 

 



Employment and Separation Agreements 

 

Employment Agreements 

 
In connection with the Minim merger, Minim, Inc. assigned to the Company, and the Company assumed, the employment agreement pursuant to which Minim, Inc. employed Graham 

Chynoweth in May 2019 as Chief Executive Officer. The agreement provides for Mr. Chynoweth to be employed at-will for annual base compensation of $250,000 and to be eligible for 

a bonus. Pursuant to and in connection with entering into the agreement, Mr. Chynoweth received options to purchase 600,000 shares of Minim, Inc. common stock at an exercise price 

of $0.44 per share which vest over a 48-month period. The agreement, as assumed by the Company, provides for Mr. Chynoweth to receive severance equal to six months  of his base 

salary and the targeted bonus for the year of termination if he is terminated without cause or if he terminates the agreement with good reason as those terms are used in the agreement. 

 

In connection with the Minim merger, the Company entered into at-will employment agreements with each of Sean Doherty and Nicole Zheng to serve as Senior Vice President of  

Finance and Chief Marketing Officer/Chief Product Officer, respectively, at annual base compensation of $165,000 and $200,000, respectively, with the opportunity to receive incentive 

or performance bonuses or other incentive compensation. 

 

As of November 1, 2019, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Lauten to serve as Senior Vice President of  Operations of the Company at annual base 

compensation of $195,000 with the opportunity to receive performance bonuses of up to 17.5% of his annual base compensation. The agreeme nt provides for the grant to Mr. Lauten of 

options to purchase 80,000 shares of Company Common Stock at or about the time of his in itial employment with the Company under the terms of the Company’s 2009 Stock Option  

Plan. The options were exercisable at the fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant and were subje ct to semi-annual vesting in 25% increments over the 

first two years after grant. The agreement provides for the issuance of additional options amounting to a Company expense of up to $60,000 per year as determined using a Black- Scholes 

pricing model. The agreement also provides for a $15,000 signing bonus and the reimbursement of up to $6,000 of monthly living expenses and of economy class airline travel expenses 

for up to four family visitations per quarter. In the event of a change of control of the Company as defined in the agreement, Mr. Lauten would receive up to six months’ base compensation 

if, within six months thereafter, he is terminated without cause as that term is used in the agreement or if he terminates th e agreement after his job responsibilities, reporting or compensation 

are materially diminished. Subject to certain conditions, Mr. Lauten would receive up to three months’ base compensation under the agreem ent if he is otherwise involuntarily terminated 

other than for cause, his death or disability as those terms are used in the agreement. 

 
Separation Arrangements 

 
On December 31, 2020, the Company and Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton, the former Chief Financial Officer of the Company, entered in to an agreement pursuant to which Ms. Barry 

Hamilton was terminated from all positions held with the Company effective December 31, 2020. Pursuant to the agreement, in consideration of, among other things, Ms. Barry  Hamilton’s 

compliance with certain restrictive covenants and all agreements between her and the Company, a general release of claims aga inst the Company, the agreement provides that Ms. Barry 

Hamilton would receive severance compensation equal to (i) her current base salary, at the rate of $185,000 per year for six months, less all applicable federal, state or local tax 

withholdings, (ii) payment for accrued but unused sick time, and (iii) an additional $16,000. All of Ms. Barry Hamilton’s unvested stock options were immediately vested and exercisable 

for up to 30 days following the date of separation. In addition, Ms. Barry Hamilton was entitled to receive continuation of certain health insurance benefits. 

 

On November 23, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Mr. Stanhope, which terminated his employment with the Company effective December 31, 2020. Pursuant to 

the agreement, in consideration of, among other things, Mr. Stanhope’s compliance with certain restrictive covenants and all agre ements between him and the Company and a general 

release of claims against the Company, the agreement provides that Mr. Stanhope would receive severance compensation equal to (i) his current base salary, at the annual rate of 

$175,000 for six months, less all applicable federal, state or local tax withholdings, (ii) payment for accrued but unused vacation and sick time, and (iii) an additional $43,750. All of Mr. 

Stanhope’s unvested stock options were immediately vested and exercisable. In addition, Mr. Stanhope was entitled to receive continuation of certain health insurance benefits.  

 

Effective as of May 8th, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Mr. Wytanis, which terminated and superseded his existing employment agreement. Pursuant to the 

agreement, in consideration for, among other things, his compliance with certain restrictive covenants and all agreements  between him and the Company, a general release of claims 

against the Company, and subject to his non-revocation of the agreement, Mr. Wytanis was entitled to receive severance compensation equal to his base salary, at the annual rate of 

$210,000 less all applicable federal, state or local tax withholdings, payable in installments for the six months following the effective date of his separation from the Company. Mr. 

Wytanis’ stock options that would have vested during the six-month period following the date of separation immediately vested and were exercisable for up to 30 days following the 

date of separation. In addition, Mr. Wytanis was entitled to receive continuation of certain health insurance benefits and to be reimbursed for certain relocation and business expenses. 

 



2020 Director Compensation 

 

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation of our directors who are not named executive officers and who served as directors for the fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2020, and, since he served in an unpaid capacity as the Company’s principal executive officer for a portion of that fiscal year, Jeremy Hitchcock. 

 
 

Name 

 

Fees Earned or 

Paid in Cash 

 

Option 

Awards(1)(2)(3)(4) 
 

 

All Other 

Compensation Total 

David Allen* $ 8,340  $ 28,652  — $ 36,992 

David Aronoff $ 500  —  — $ 500 

Dan Artusi $ 500  —  — $ 500 

Joseph J. Donovan* $ 1,500  $ 14,425  — $ 15,925 

Philip Frank $ 7,950  $ 14,425  — $ 22,375 

Jeremy Hitchcock $ 1,500  $ 14,425  — $ 15,925 

Elizabeth Hitchcock $ 500  —  — $ 500 

Joshua Horowitz $ 7,140  $ 28,652  — $ 35,792 

Sandra Howe $ 500  —  — $ 500 

Peter R. Kramer* $ 1,500  $ 14,425  — $ 15,925 

Jonathan Seelig* $ 1,000  $ 4,874  — $ 5,874 

Peter Sykes* $ 1,833  $ 14,425  — $ 16,258 
 

(1) The amounts included in the “Option Awards” column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of option awards in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, pursuant to the 2009 

Directors Stock Option Plan and 2019 Directors Stock Option Plan. Assumptions used in the calculations of these amounts are included in Note 11 to our Financial Statements 

included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020. These options are non-qualified stock options issued under the 2009 Directors Stock Option 

Plan or 2019 Directors Stock Option Plan and represent the right to purchase shares of Common Stock at a fixed price per shar e (the grant date fair market value of the shares of 

Common Stock underlying the options). 

(2) As of December 31, 2020, each non-employee director held the following aggregate number of shares under outstanding stock options: 

 

 

 
 
 

Name 

 

Number of 

Shares 

Underlying 

Outstanding 

Stock Options* 

 
David Aronoff — 

 
Joseph J. Donovan* — 

 
Elizabeth Hitchcock — 

 
Joshua Horowitz 22,500 

 
Peter R. Kramer* — 

 
Jonathan Seelig* — 

 

 

David Allen* 18,500 

Dan Artusi 19,225 

Philip Frank 60,000 

Jeremy Hitchcock 52,500 

Sandra Howe — 

Frank B Manning* — 

Peter Sykes* 60,000 



(3) As of December 31, 2020, the number of shares underlying stock options granted to each non-employee director in 2020 and the grant date fair market value of such stock options 

was: 

 
 Number of 

Shares 

  
Grant Date 

  
Grant 

 underlying 
Stock Options 

 Fair Value of 
Stock Option 

Name Date  Grants in 2019  Grants in 2019 

David Allen* 07/10/2020  7,500  $ 9,551 
 07/10/2020  15,000  $ 19,101 

David Aronoff —  —  — 

Dan Artusi —  —  — 

Joseph J. Donovan* 01/10/2020  7,500  $ 4,874 
 07/10/2020  7,500  $ 9,551 

Philip Frank 01/10/2020  7,500  $ 4,874 
 07/10/2020  7,500  $ 9,551 

Elizabeth Hitchcock —  —  — 

Jeremy Hitchcock(4)
 01/10/2020  7,500  $ 4,874 

 07/10/2020  7,500  $ 9,551 

Joshua Horowitz 07/10/2020  7,500  $ 9,551 
 07/10/2020  15,000  $ 19,101 

Sandra Howe —  —  — 

Peter R. Kramer* 01/10/2020  7,500  $ 4,874 
 07/10/2020  7,500  $ 9,551 

Frank B Manning* 07/10/2020  7,500  $ 9,551 

Jonathan Seelig(4)*
 01/10/2020  7,500  $ 4,874 

Peter Sykes* 01/10/2020  7,500  $ 4,874 
 07/10/2020  7,500  $ 9,551 

 

(4) The Company closed on a $5 million private placement and issued an aggregate of 4,545,455 shares on May 3, 2019 and Mr. Hitchcock and Mr. Seelig joined the Board; upon 

joining the Board, Mr. Hitchcock and Mr. Seelig each received a grant of 30,000 stock options. See the description of the private placement in the “Certain Relationships and 

Related Transactions” section in this Form 10-K/A. 

* Denotes former directors who left the Board of Directors of the Company before December 31, 2020. 

 

Each non-employee director of Zoom receives a fee of $500 per quarter plus a fee of $500 for each meeting at which the director is personally present. Travel and lodging expenses 

are also reimbursed. 

 

Each non-employee director of Zoom may be granted stock options under Zoom's 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended (the “Direct ors Plan”) or the 2019 Director Stock 

Option Plan. The 2009 Directors Plan expired and was replaced with the 2019 Director Stock Option Plan which was approved at the Company’s stockholders at the Annual Meeting in  

July, 2019. The exercise price for the options granted under either Directors Plan is the closing market price of the Common Stock on the date the option is granted. 

 
Director Option Exercises 

 
As of December 31, 2020, stock option exercises by non-employee directors in 2020 were: 

 
 

Name 

 

Exercised 

Options 

 
David Aronoff — 

 
Joseph J. Donovan* 75,000 

 
Elizabeth Hitchcock — 

 
Joshua Horowitz — 

 
Peter R. Kramer* 75,000 

 
Jonathan Seelig* — 

 
* Denotes former directors who left the Board of Directors of the Company before December 31, 2020. 

 

David Allen* 4,000 

Dan Artusi — 

Philip Frank 30,000 

Jeremy Hitchcock — 

Sandra Howe — 

Frank B Manning* 282,500 

Peter Sykes* — 



As of December 31, 2020, stock option exercises by our named executive officers in 2020 were: 

 
 

Name 

 

Exercised 

Options 

 

Nicole Zheng — 

 
Frank B. Manning — 

 
Jacqueline Barry Hamilton 18,279 

 
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

 
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 

 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership of the Company's Common  Stock as of April 5, 2021 by (i) each person who is known by the 

Company to own beneficially more than five percent of the Company's outstanding Common Stock, (ii) each of the Company's directors and named executive officers, as listed above in 

the Summary Compensation Table under the heading “2020 Summary Compensation Table” in Item 11, and (iii) all of the Company's current directors and executive officers as a group. 

 

On April 5, 2021, there were 35,362,854 issued and outstanding shares of Company Common Stock. Unless otherwise noted, each person identified below possesses sole voting and 

investment power with respect to the shares listed. The information contained in this table is based upon information received from or on behalf of the named individuals or from publicly 

available information and filings by or on behalf of those persons with the SEC. 

 

 

 
 
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner(1) 

Amount and 

Nature of 

Beneficial 
Ownership 

  

% of Common 

Stock 

Outstanding 

5% or Greater Stockholders:    

Zulu Holdings LLC(2) 

848 Elm Street, 2nd Floor 

Manchester, NH 03101 

 
 

15,696,184 

  
 

44.4 
    

Directors and Named Executive Officers:    

David Aronoff(3)
 1,590,987  4.5 

Daniel Artusi 19,225  * 

Graham Chynoweth 990,726  2.8 

Philip Frank 90,000  * 

Elizabeth Hitchcock(4)
 17,819,529  50.3 

Jeremy Hitchcock(4)
 17,819,529  50.3 

Sandra Howe —  — 

Joshua Horowitz(5)
 1,236,426  3.5 

Nicole Zheng 275,857  * 

John Lauten(6)
 60,000  * 

Frank B. Manning(7)
 —  — 

Joseph L. Wytanis(8)
 150,910  * 

Jacqueline Barry Hamilton 71,721  * 
    

All current directors and executive officers as a group (11 persons)(9)
 22,082,750  61.9 

 
*  Less than one percent of shares outstanding. 

(1) Unless otherwise noted: (i) each person identified possesses sole voting and investment power over the shares listed; and (ii) the address of each person identified is c/o Zoom 

Telephonics, Inc., 848 Elm Street, New Hampshire, 03101. 

(2) Information is based on a Schedule 13D/A filed as of December 8, 2020, by Jeremy Hitchcock, Elizabeth Cash Hitchcock, Orbit Group LLC (“Orbit”), HCP and Zulu. The 15,696,184 

shares are held of record by Zulu. HCP may be deemed the beneficial owner of the shares as a beneficial owner of the Common Stock held by Zulu through its ownership of Zulu. 

As the manager of Zulu, Orbit may be deemed the beneficial owner of the Common Stock held by Zulu. As the co-managers of Orbit and HCP, each of Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock may 

be deemed the beneficial owner of the Common Stock held by Zulu. 

(3) Consists of shares of Common Stock held by Flybridge Capital Partners, of which Mr. Aronoff is a General Partner. 

(4) Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of all shares of the Company owned by either of them or investment vehicles, including Zulu, owned by either 

of them. Includes 52,500 shares that Mr. Hitchcock has the right to acquire upon exercise of outstanding stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days after April 5, 2021. 

(5) Consists of shares of Common Stock held by Palm Global Small Cap Master Fund LP (“Palm Global”). Mr. Horowitz is a Portfolio Manager with Palm Management (US) LLC, which 

provides investment management services to Palm Global. 

(6) Includes 45,000 shares that Mr. Lauten has the right to acquire upon exercise of outstanding stock options exercisable within sixty days after April 5, 2021. 

(7) Mr. Manning retired from his role as Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Acting Chief Financial Officer of the Company effective as of February 1, 2020. 

(8) Mr. Wytanis resigned from the Company effective as of May 8, 2020. 

(9) Includes an aggregate of 335,327 shares that the current directors and executive officers have the right to acquire upon exer cise of outstanding stock options exercisable within 

sixty days after April 5, 2021. 

 

Graham Chynoweth — 

John Lauten — 

Joseph L. Wytanis 100,000 



Change of Control 

 

According to Amendment No. 11 to Schedule 13D (“Amendment No. 11”) filed by Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock, Elizabeth Cash Hitchcock, Orbit Group LLC (an investment vehicle of 

which Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock are the ultimate beneficial owners), Hitchcock Capital Partners, LLC (an investment vehicle of wh ich Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock are the ultimate beneficial 

owners) and Zulu Holdings LLC (“Zulu”) of which Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock are the ultimate beneficial owners, with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), on October 13, 

2020, Zulu entered into a stock purchase agreement with Frank B. Manning, Terry Manning, Rebecca Manning, Peter R. Kramer, Bruce M. Kramer, the Bruce M. Kramer Living Trust 

under agreement dated July 31, 1996, Elizabeth T. Folsom, and Joseph Donovan pursuant to which Zulu purchased an aggregate of  3,543,894 shares of common stock of the Company 

from the sellers at a purchase price of $2.50 per share. Amendment No. 11 states that the total purchase price of $8,859,735.00 was payable as follows: $2,657,9 20.50 in cash at closing, 

and $6,201,814.50 by delivery of a promissory note to the Sellers, secured by a personal guaranty of Mr. Hitchcock. It states also that the funds used to pay the cash portion of the purchase 

price for the Common Stock came from the working capital of Hitchcock Capital Partners, LLC, an investment vehicle of Mr. and  Ms. Hitchcock (“HCP”), and that Zulu anticipates that 

the cash required to pay the note issued to the sellers of the Common Stock will also come from the working capital of HCP. Mr. Frank B. Manning is the former Chief Executive Officer 

of the Company. Messrs. Frank B. Manning, Peter R. Kramer and Donovan, who were then directors of the Company, resigned from the Company’s Board of Directors and their positions 

on Board committees in connection with the transaction. 

 
Amendment No. 11 states that the stock purchase agreement for the transaction also includes the following provisions: 

 
• an agreement by Frank B. Manning, Peter R. Kramer and Joseph Donovan to resign from the Company’s Board of Directors and any other position they hold with the 

Company, effective as of the closing of the purchase of the shares; 

 

• an agreement by each of the sellers, for a period of two years from the closing of the purchase of the shares (or, if earlier, Zulu’s failure to make timely payments for the shares), 

not to, without the prior written consent of Zulu: (a) acquire in any manner any securities of the Company (other than by exercise of stock options held by the sellers); (b) 

solicit proxies or seek to influence any person or entity regarding the voting of any securities of the Company; (c) publicly announce or propose any merger, business 

combination, recapitalization, restructuring or other extraordinary transaction involving the Company or any of its securities or material assets; (d) form, join or in any way 

participate in a group in connection with any of the foregoing; (e) otherwise act or seek to control or influence the management, Board of Directors or policies of the Company; 

(f) take any action that could reasonably be expected to require the Company to make a public announcement regarding the possibility of any of the foregoing events; or (g) 

publicly request Zulu to amend or waive any of the foregoing restrictions; 

 

• mutual non-disparagement undertakings by the sellers, Zulu and Mr. Hitchcock, for a period of three years from the closing of the purchase of the shares (or, in the case of the 

Sellers’ obligations, if earlier, Zulu’s failure to make timely payments for the shares); and 

 
• mutual general releases by the Sellers of Zulu and Mr. Hitchcock, and by Zulu and Mr. Hitchcock of the Sellers. 

 
Amendment No. 11 reports that, as a result of the transaction, Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock, together with the investment vehicles through which they effected the transaction, then 

beneficially owned 12, 439,342 shares, or 51.8%, of the Company’s Common Stock of the Company. The transaction constituted a change of control of the Company. Amendment No. 8 is 

incorporated herein by reference. 

 

A portion of the shares sold by Mr. Frank B. Manning in the foregoing transaction had been purchased by him pursuant to the 2020 Stock Purchase Agreement described below in  

Item 13 under “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions —2020 Private Placement.” As required by Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, Mr. Manning disgorged to the  

Company $196,000 in profits from the sale of those shares of Common Stock. 

 

As of October 9, 2020, the Company entered into a Standstill and Voting Agreement (the “Standstill Agreement”) with Zulu and Mr. Hitchcock. Mr. Hitchcock and Zulu, which is 

an entity controlled by Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock. Pursuant to the terms of the Standstill Agreement, each of Zulu, Mr. Hitchcock and the ir controlled affiliates (the “Restricted Parties”) 

have agreed not to effect any (a) transaction involving the Company and any Res tricted Party, in which any Restricted Party would have a material interest different from stockholders  of 

the Company generally, (b) purchase of more than 10% of the then total number of shares of outstanding Company common stock, and (c) sale, transfer or other disposition of Company 

common stock to a third party that would result in such third party beneficially owning more than 20.0% of the Company’s outs tanding common stock immediately after giving effect to 

such transaction. The duration of the “Standstill Period” lasts through the earlier of: (i) such time as the Restricted Parties beneficially own less than 45.0% of the  outstanding common 

stock of the Company, and (ii) the third anniversary of the date of the Standstill Agreement. 

 

According to Amendment No. 8 to Schedule 13D (“Amendment No. 8”) filed by Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock, Orbit Group LLC, Hitchcock Capital Partne rs, LLC and Zulu, on July 31, 

2020, Zulu Holdings LLC (“Zulu”), which is ultimately beneficially owned by Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock, entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with James E. Besser, Morgan C. Frank, 

Manchester Management Company, LLC, Manchester Explorer, L.P., and JEB Partners, L.P. pursuant to which Zulu purchased an aggregate of 4,285,717 shares of Common Stock from 

the sellers at a purchase price of $1.95 per share. The purchase closed on August 4, 2020. The funds used to purchase the common stock came from working capital of HCP. Amendment 

No. 8 reports that, upon completion of the transaction, Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock, together with the investment vehicles through which they effected the transaction, then beneficially  owned 

8,835,358 shares, or 37.3%, of the Company’s Common Stock. The transaction pursuant may be deemed to constitute a change of c ontrol of the Company. The disclosure set forth in 

Amendment No. 8 is incorporated herein by reference. 

 



Equity Compensation Plan Information 

 

The following table provides information concerning the Company’s equity compensation plans or individual arrangements that were approved by stockholders and those that 

were not approved by stockholders as of December 31, 2020: 

 
 Number of securities 

remaining available for 
 Number of securities to be     future issuance under equity 
 issued upon exercise of   Weighted-average exercise  compensation plans (excluding 
 outstanding options,   price of outstanding options,  securities reflected 
 warrants and rights   warrants and rights  in first reporting column) 

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 3,098,163  $ 1.16  2,122,091 

Equity compensation plans not approved by securities holders —   —  — 

Total 3,098,163  $ 1.16  2,122,091 

 
Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

 
Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions 

 
Minim, Inc. Merger 

 
On November 12, 2020, the Company entered into a merger agreement pursuant to which the Company and Minim, Inc. merged and combined their businesses. Minim, Inc. offers a 

cloud WiFi management platform that enables and secures a better-connected home by providing AI-driven WiFi management and IoT security platform for homes, SMBs, and broadband 

service providers. Mr. Hitchcock was Chairman and, together with Ms. Hitchcock, a controlling stockholder of Minim, Inc. Prior to the merger, the Company had licensed  Minim, Inc. 

software products and, upon completion of the merger, the Company expected to integrate not only the Minim, Inc. softw are with the Company’s hardware products but also to combine 

Minim Inc.’s business-to-business sales channels with the Company’s retail channels. Except as otherwise disclosed in this Form 10-K/A, Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock did not receive any 

consideration or financial benefits from the merger different than the other stockholders of Minim, Inc. Immediately prior to execution of the merger agreement, Mr. and Ms. Hitchcock 

were, through investment vehicles jointly beneficially owned by them, the majority stockholders of both the Company and Minim, Inc. 

 

Minim, Inc. Relationship 

 
On July 25, 2019, the Company entered into a Master Partnership Agreement with Minim, Inc., together with a related Statement  of Work, License, Collaborative Agreement,  

Software/Service Availability Agreement and Software/Service Support Level Agreement (collectively, the “Partnership Agreement”). Mr. Hi tchcock was the President and Chief 

Executive Officer of Minim, Inc. Under the Partnership Agreement, the Company would integrate M inim, Inc. software and services into certain hardware products distributed by the 

Company, and Minim, Inc. would be entitled to certain fees and a portion of revenue received from the end users of such servi ces and software. The Company and Minim, Inc. entered 

into an additional Statement of Work on December 31, 2019 providing for further integration of Minim, Inc. services, with a m onthly minimum payment of $5,000 payable by the 

Company to Minim, Inc. starting in January 2020 for a period of 36 months and a requirement for Minim, Inc. to purchase at least $90,000 of the Company’s hardware by December 2022. 

Minimum monthly payments under this agreement increased to $15,000 in July 2020. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, $90,000 and no payments, respectively, 

were made by the Company to Minim, Inc. under the Partnership Agreement. The Company recorded $105,000 and no expenses for th e years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 

respectively. The Company sold $15,000 of product to Minim, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020. No services were provided in 2019. The Partnership Agreement termi nated 

upon completion of the Minim merger. As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, no amounts were due from or to the Company under the Partnership Agreement. 

 



The Company’s subsidiary, Minim, Inc., leases office space located at the 848 Elm Street, Manchester, NH. The landlord is an affiliate entity owned by Mr. Hitchcock. The two-year 

facility lease agreement is effective from August 1, 2019 to July 31, 2021 and provides for 2,656 square feet at an aggregate annual rental price of $30,000. For the period from October 9, 

2020 to December 31, 2020, the rent expense was $6,800. 

2020 Private Placement 

 
On May 26, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “2020 Stock Purchase Agreement”) with certain accredited inves tors, including certain independent 

investment funds, members of the Company’s management and its Board of Directors, and certain co-founders of the Company, in a private placement (the “2020 Private Placement”)  

pursuant to which the Company sold an aggregate of 2,237,103 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, at a purchase price of $1.52 per share. David Allen, a former member 

of the Company’s Board of Directors, purchased 6,578 shares for $10,000. Frank B. Manning, a co-founder of the Company and a former member of the Company’s Board of Directors, 

purchased 200,000 shares for $304,000. Phil Stanhope, a former officer of the Company, purchased 10,000 shares for $15,200. Zulu and Palm Fund each purchased 822,368 shares for $1.25 

million. Mr. Horowitz is a portfolio manager at the Palm Fund, which served as the lead investor in the 2020 Private Placement. The gross proceeds to the Company at the closing of the 

2020 Private Placement were approximately $3.4 million. In connection with the 2020 Private Placement, Messrs. Allen and Horowitz were appointed as members of the Board. Pursuant to 

the 2020 Purchase Agreement, Palm Fund has the right to appoint replacements for Mr. Horowitz in the event of his resignation and to request th at its designees be appointed to each 

committee of the Board of Directors to the extent approved by an affirmative vote of a majori ty of the Board of Directors of the Company and as otherwise permitted by applicable SEC 

and stock market requirements; such Board and committee designation right will terminate upon Palm Fund ceasing to own at least 5% of the Company’s Common Stock, as calculated 

for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act. Also pursuant to the 2020 Purchase Agreement, Palm Fund entered into a sta ndstill covenant for a period ending not later than the 

earliest to occur of five years after the date of completion of the 2020 Private Placement and two years after Mr. Horowitz or the Palm Fund designee who succeeds him no longer serves 

on the Board of Directors of the Company. 

 
2019 Private Placement 

 
On May 3, 2019, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “2019 Stock Purchase Agreement”) with certain accredited investors, including Messrs. Peter R.  

Kramer, Frank B. Manning, Stanhope and Sykes, Zulu, Palm Fund, and our former President and Chief Executive Officer, Joseph L. Wytanis, in a private placement (the “2019 Private 

Placement”) pursuant to which the Company sold an aggregate of 4,545,455 shares of our Common Stock at a purchase price of $1.10 per share. Mr. Kramer purchased 90,910 shares for 

$100,001; Mr. Manning purchased 313,634 shares for $344,997; Mr. Stanhope purchased 50,000 shares for $55,000; Mr. Sykes purchased 36,364 shares for $40,000 and Mr. Wytanis 

purchased 90,910 shares for $100,001. Zulu purchased 3,727,273 shares for $4.1 million and Palm Fund purchased 136,364 shares for $150,000. Zulu served as the lead investor in the 2019 

Private Placement. The gross proceeds to the Company at the closing of the 2019 Private Placement were approximately $5.0 mil lion. In connection with the 2019 Private Placement, 

Messrs. Hitchcock and Seelig were appointed as members of the Board of Directors of the Company. In the event that Mr. Hitchcock or Mr. Seelig resigns or is removed from the Board, 

Zulu will have the right to designate a replacement director for each of them pursuant to the terms of the 2019 Stock Purchase Agreement. The board designation rights will terminate  

upon Zulu ceasing to own at least 8% of the Company’s Common Stock on a fully diluted basis. For a period of 30 months follow ing the date of the 2019 Stock Purchase Agreement, 

Zulu will have the right to participate in any subsequent financing in an amount necessary to maintain Zulu’s pro rata owners hip of the Company (calculated on a fully-diluted basis) on 

the same terms, conditions and price provided for in any such subsequent financing. 

 



Other Transactions 

 

In connection with and prior to the closing of Minim merger, Mr. Chynoweth, currently Chief Executive Officer of the Company and at that time chief Executive Officer of Minim, 

Inc., and Nicole Zheng, currently Chief Marketing Officer of the Company and at that time Chief Marketing Officer and Chief Product Officer of Minim, Inc., fully paid Minim, Inc. the 

$264,000 and $120,000, respectively, aggregate principal amount of a promissory note each of them had issued in connection with the prior exercise of Minim, Inc. stock options by each 

of them. In connection with and prior to the closing of the Minim merger, Minim, Inc. agreed to repurchase 33,809 shares of M inim, Inc. common stock for $14,860 from Elizabeth 

Hitchcock. The repurchase price remains unpaid as of the date hereof. 

 

The information contained in Item 12 hereof under the caption “Change of Control” is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
Policies and Procedures Regarding Review, Approval or Ratification of Related Person Transactions 

 
In accordance with our Audit Committee charter, our Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Company’s related party transaction policy and review and oversee all 

transactions between the Company and a related person for which review or oversight is required by applicable law or that are required to be disclosed in the Company’s financial 

statements or SEC filings. 

 
Director Independence 

 

The Board of Directors has reviewed the qualifications of Ms. Howe and Messrs. Aronoff, Artusi, Frank and Horowitz and has determined that e ach of those individuals is 

“independent” as such term is defined under the current listing standards of the Nasdaq Stock Market. The Board also affirmatively determined that each of Messrs. Allen, Donovan, 

Kramer, Seelig and Sykes, who served as directors during 2020, was, at the time he served as a director, independent. In addition, each member of the Audit Committee is independent as 

required under Section 10A(m)(3) of the Exchange Act. 

 
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

 

The Audit Committee's policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm. These services may 

include audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other services. Pre-approval is generally provided for up to one year. The Audit Committee may also pre-approve particular 

services on a case-by-case basis. During our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, no services were provided to us by Marcum LLP other than in accordance wit h the pre- approval 

procedures described herein. 

 

The firm of Marcum LLP served as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal years 2020 and 2019. The table below shows the aggregate fees that the Company 

paid or accrued for the audit and other services provided by Marcum LLP for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019: 

 
FEE CATEGORY 2020 2019 

Audit fees(1)
 $ 267,995 $ 187,200 

Audit-related fees(2)
 22,800 10,000 

Total fees $ 290,795 $ 197,200 

 

(1) Audit Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements a nd review of the interim consolidated 

financial statements included in quarterly reports and services that are normally provided in connection with statutory filings and engagements. 

(2) Audit-Related Fees. Consists of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company’s consolidated 

financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.” For 2020, fees are related to registering securities for Zoom's  stock option plans and a private placement. For 2019, 

fees are related to a private placement. 

 



All services rendered by Marcum LLP for fiscal years 2020 and 2019 were permissible under applicable laws and regulations, and were pre-approved by the Audit Committee. 

 

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

 
The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index of the Original Filing are incorporated by reference into this Amendment No. 1, and the following exhibits are filed herewith. 

 
Exhibit No. Description 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10.27 Assignment and Amendment of Employment Agreement dated December 4, 2020 among Graham Chynoweth, the Company and Minim, Inc. 

10.28 Employment Agreement dated as of May 22, 2019 between Minim, Inc. and Graham Chynoweth 

10.29 Employment Agreement dated as of December 4, 2020 between the Company and Sean Doherty 

10.30 Employment Agreement dated as of December 4, 2020 between the Company and Nicole Zheng 

10.31 Employment Agreement dated as of November 1, 2019 between the Company and John Lauten 

31.3 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

31.4 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32.3 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32.4 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 



SIGNATURES 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report t o be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, 

thereunto duly authorized. 

 
ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC. 

 
Date: April 29, 2021 By:  /s/ Graham Chynoweth 

 

 
Graham Chynoweth 

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) 

 
Date: April 29, 2021 By: /s/ Sean Doherty 

 

 

Sean Doherty 

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 

 
 



 

Exhibit 10.27 

 
ASSIGNMENT AND AMENDMENT OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

The parties to this Assignment and Amendment of Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”) are Graham Chynoweth (the “Employee”), Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (“Zoom”), and Minim, Inc. 

(“Minim”). Collectively, the Employee, Zoom, and Minim are referred to in this Agreement as the “Parties”. In consideration o f the agreements set forth herein, and for other good and 

valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which the Parties acknowledge, the Parties agree as follows: 

 

1. The Employee’s Employment Agreement with Minim dated May 22, 2019 (the “Employment Agreement”) is hereby assigned to, and assumed by the Company, subject to the 

terms and conditions set forth herein. 

 

2. The assignment and amendment of the Agreement is made pursuant to the provisions of Sections 10 and 16 of the Employment Agre ement and satisfies and complies with 

the terms and conditions of such provisions. 

 

3. Zoom hereby assumes all obligations of the “Company” set forth in the Employment Agreement, subject to the terms and conditio ns set forth herein. The use of the term 

“Company” in the Employment Agreement shall hereinafter refer to Zoom. 

 

4. The Employee consents to this assignment of the Employment Agreement and agrees that all of the Employee’s obligations and co venants set forth in the Employment 

Agreement remain valid and binding. 

 
5. Section 3(b) of the Employment Agreement is deleted in its entirety and is replaced with “Reserved.” 

 
6. The phrase “twelve months” in the first sentence of Section 5(g) of the Employment Agreement is deleted and replaced with “six months”. 

 
7. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, none of which need to contain the signature of more than one party, each of which will be deemed to be an 

original, and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The facsimile or PDF sig natures of the Parties shall be deemed to constitute original 

signatures, and facsimile or PDF copies of this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute duplicate originals. 

 

The Parties hereby execute this Agreement knowingly and voluntarily: 

 
GRAHAM CHYNOWETH 

 
/s/ Graham Chynometh 

 MINIM, INC. 

 
Sean Doherty 

 ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC. 

 
Sara Bishop 

Graham Chynoweth   
 
SVP, Finance 

  
 
Head of Talent and Culture 

 
12/4/2020 

  
December 4, 2020 

  
December 4,2020 

Date  Date  Date 
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 
This Employment Agreement (the "Agreement") is made as of the 22.day of May, 2019, by and between MINIM, INC. (the "Company") and Graham Chynoweth (the 

"Employee"). 

 

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Employee, and the Employee desires to accept such employment, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

In consideration of the Employee's employment with the Company, the Employee's eligibility to receive the severance and other  benefits offered herein, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Employee agree as follows: 

 

1. Employment. The Company agrees to employ the Employee, and the Employee agrees to be employed by the Company, on the terms and conditions set forth below. 

The Employee shall be employed under this Agreement on an at-will basis for an indefinite period of time, and subject to the provisions of Section 5, the Employee or the Company 

may terminate the employment relationship with or without notice at any time and for any or no reason or cause. The Company is not bound to follow any policy, procedure, or process 

in connection with employee discipline, employment termination or otherwise. The Employee's employment with the Company pursuant to this Agreement shall commence on or 

before May 31, 2019 unless and except Employee is unable to complete his work at his current company by that date, in which c ase it is expect that it shall commence on June 13, 

2019. 

 

2. Duties. The Employee shall serve the Company as Chief Executive Officer. In such capacity, the Employee shall, in collaboration with its PResident, be subject to the 

direction of Company's Board of Directors, and be responsible for, among other responsibilities: (i) setting and communicating the direction of the company, (ii) hiring and re taining 

the best talent and (iii) making sure there is money in the bank. The Employee shall also perform such other services and d uties in connection with the Company as may be assigned 

or delegated to the Employee from time to time by or under the authority of the Company's Board of Directors. 

 

3. Compensation and Benefits. The regular compensation and benefits payable to the Employee under this Agreement shall be as follows: 

 

(a) Salary. For all services rendered by the Employee under this Agreement, the Company shall pay the Employee a base salary at the ann ualized rate of two 

hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000.00) per year, pro-rated for any partial year in which this Agreement is in effect. The Employee's performance may be reviewed by the  

Company from time to time, and the Company may adjust the Employee's salary pursuant to such performance reviews or for other reasons. The Employee's salary shall be payable  

in equal installments in connection with the Company's regular payroll dates and payroll procedures. 

 



(b) Stock Options. Employee will receive an option grant for 600,000 shares of the Company with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the 

Company's common shares on the date of grant. The options will vest as 25% on the first annual anniversary of your date of em ployment, and subsequently in equal monthly tranches 

equivalent to 1148th of the total grant over the next 36 months, subject to your continued employment on such date. The grant is subje ct to board approval on a quarterly basis and 

shall be granted pursuant to the Company's form option agreement, subject to those terms and the terms of the Company's shareholders' agreement, to which you will need to 

become a party with effect from the grant date. 

 

To the extent it is reasonable, practical and approved by the Board of Directors, Employee will be eligible to participate in any loan programs offered by the 

Company to employees so that they may purchase shares offered as part of option grants made by the Company to employees. 

 

(b) Bonuses. Following the commencement of the Employee's employment with the Company the Employee and the Company's Board of Directors will discuss 

Employee eligibility to receive variable income, or a "bonus" and the performance goals, metrics, and deliverables on which s uch opportunity will be based. Prior to the beginning of 

each calendar year in which the Employee is employed pursuant to this Agreement, the Employee and the Company's Manager will meet to discuss the Employee's eligibility to 

receive a bonus, the target bonus for that calendar year and the performance goals, metrics, and deliverables on which that calendar year's bonus opportunity will be based. Following 

each such meeting, the Company's Board of Directors will set the target bonus amount for that calendar year and convey to the  Employee the performance goals, metrics, and 

deliverables on which the bonus for that calendar year will be based. 

 

(c) Benefits. The Employee shall be eligible to participate in all employee benefit, health and welfare, and other plans, policies and programs which the Company 

may, from time to time, have in effect for all or most employees of the Company. Such participation shall be subject to the terms of the applicable plan documents, generally applicable 

policies of the Company, applicable law, and the discretion of the Company or any administrative or other committee provided for in, or contemplated by, any such plan.  Nothing 

contained in this Agreement shall be construed to create any obligation on the part of the Company to establish any such plan  or to maintain the effectiveness of any such plan which 

may be in effect from time to time. To the extent there is any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the applicable benefit plan documents, the terms of the plan documents 

shall govern. 

 

(d) Vacation. The Employee shall be eligible to an unlimited amount of paid time off. It is understood that Employee's ability to take advantage of this  eligibility 

is subject to the needs of the role and the company. 

 

(e) Expense Reimbursement. The Company will reimburse the Employee on not less than a monthly basis for all normal and reasonable business expenses  

incurred by the Employee in the course of performing the Employee's duties for the Company hereunder, provided the Employee t imely and properly completes and submits an expense 
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report and any other appropriate documentation to the Company, as may be required in accordance with the policies in effect from time to time for Company employees. 

 

4. Extent of Service. During the Employee's employment hereunder, the Employee shall devote the Employee's full business time, reasonable best efforts and business  

judgment, skill and knowledge to the advancement of the Company's interests and to the discharge of the Employee's duties and  responsibilities hereunder. The Employee shall not 

engage in any other business activity and shall neither directly nor indirectly render any services of a business, commercial  or professional nature to any other person, firm, corporation 

or organization, except as listed below and as may be approved in writing by the Company's Board Chairman. 

 
1. 10X Venture Partners 

2. Mill Works Fund 

3. Primary Bank 

4. U.S. Naval Reserves(application pending) 

 
5. Termination and Termination Benefits. The Employee's employment hereunder shall terminate under the following circumstances: 

 
(a) Termination by the Company for Cause. The Employee's employment hereunder may be terminated by the Company for Cause without further liability on  

the part of the Company, effective immediately, upon written notice to the Employee.  The following shall constitute "Cause" for such termination, as determined in the sole discretion 

of the Company: 

 
(i) dishonest or disparaging statements or acts of the Employee pertaining to the Company, which such statements or acts are not cured. if curable, within ten 

(10) days following written notice from the Company; 

 
(ii) commission by the Employee of any acts involving moral turpitude. deceit, dishonesty relating to the Company, or fraud or commission by the Employee of 

a felony ; 

 

(iii) the Employee's refusal to perform the Employee's duties and responsibilities hereunder and such refusal shall have continued for a period of ten (10) days following 

written notice from the Company, it being understood that the Company's failure to achieve its business plan or projections shall not itself be considered a failure 

or refusal to perform duties; 

 

(iv) material violation by the Employee of any Company policy, which causes, or reasonably could cause, material harm to the Compa ny and which such violation 

is not cured, if curable, with in ten (10) days following written notice from the Company; 
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(v) gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Employee with respect to the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate thereof; or 

 

(vi) material breach of the Employee of any of the Employee's obligations hereunder, which such breach is not cured, if curable. within ten (10) days following 

written notice from the Company. 

 

(b) Termination by the Company Without Cause. Subject to the Company's payment obligations set forth in Section 5(g) below, the Company may terminate 

the Employee's employment without Cause or for any or no reason whatsoever, in the sole, absolute and unreviewable discretion  of the Company, effective immediately, upon written 

notice by the Company to the Employee. 

 

(c) Termination by the Employee Without Good Reason. The Employee's employment hereunder may be terminated by the Employee without Good Reason  

(as defined below) by written notice to the Company's Manager, at least thirty (30) days prior to such termination. 

 

(d) Termination by the Employee With Good Reason. The Employee's employment hereunder may be terminated by the Employee with Good Reason (as  

defined below). For purposes of this Agreement, "Good Reason" shall mean: 

 
(i) A material diminution in the Employee's base compensation; 

 
(ii) A material diminution in the Employee's authority, duties, or responsibilities; 

 
(iii) A change in the geographic location at which the Employee must perform services hereunder of more than twenty (25) miles; or 

 
(iv) Any other action or inaction that constitutes a material breach by the Company of this Agreement. 

 
For Good Reason to exist, the Employee must provide written notice to the Company of the existence of any of the foregoing conditions within thirty (30) days of the initial existence 

of the condition, and the Employer shall upon such notice shall have a period of thirty (30) days during which it may remedy the condition (and upon such remedy Good Reason shall 

be deemed not to have existed). 

 

(e) Disability. If due to physical or mental illness or disability, the Employee shall be disabled so as to be unable to perform substantia lly the Employee's 

essential duties and responsibilities hereunder with reasonable accommodation by the Company to the Employee's known physical or mental disability , solely in accordance with, and 

to the extent required by law (provided such accommodation would not impose an undue hardship on the operation of the Company's business or a direct threat to the Employee or 

others) for a period of one hundred eighty (180) consecutive days, the 
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Company may terminate the Employee's employment, effective immediately, upon written notice to the Employee. 

 

(f) Death. The Employee's employment with the Company shall terminate immediately upon the death of the Employee. 

 
(g) Certain Termination Payments. In the event that the Company terminates the Employee's employment without Cause (as defined above), or the Employee 

terminates the Employee's employment with Good Reason (as defined above), the Company will continue to pay the Employee's bas e salary, at the rate in effect on the date of 

termination, for twelve months and will pay the Employee a prorated (based on the portion of the calendar year worked prior to termination) target bonus for the calend ar year in which 

the termination occurs. Any and all payments referenced in the preceding sentence are subject to: (i) applicable t axes and withholdings; (ii) the Employee's continuing compliance 

with the Employee's post -employment obligations set forth in this Agreement and in any other agreement the Employee may sign with the Company; and (ii i) the Company's receipt 

of a separation agreement prepared by the Company containing, among other provisions for the benefit of the Company, a general release of cla ims executed by the Employee (within 

the time period specified in the separation agreement), and the expiration of any revocation period referenced therein. The Employee and the Company agree that the Employee will 

not be entitled to, and will not receive, the termination payments set forth above if the Employee's employment with the Comp any is terminated: (i) by the Company for Cause; (ii) by 

the Employee without Good Reason; (iii) due to the Employee's disability pursuant to Section 5(e): or (iv) due to the Employee's death pursuant to Section 5(f). 

 

6. Litigation and Regulatory Cooperation. The Employee shall cooperate fully with the Company in the defense or prosecution of any claims or actions now in existence 

or which may be brought in the future against or on behalf of the Company which relate to events or occurrences that transpir ed while the Employee is employed by the Company. 

The Employee's full cooperation in connection with such claims or actions shall include, but not be limited to, being availab le to meet with counsel to prepare for discovery or trial 

and to act as a witness on behalf of the Company at mutually convenient times. The Employee shall also cooperate fully with the Company in connection with any examination or 

review of any federal, state or local regulatory authority as any such examination or review relates to events or occurrences  that transpired while the Employee was employed by the 

Company. The Company will reimburse the Employee for any reasonable out -of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with such cooperation. 

 
7. Proprietary Information. Inventions. and Non-Solicitation. 

 
(a) Definitions. 

 
(i) Proprietary Information. During the course of the Employee's employment with the Company, the Employee will be given unique and specialized  

training and will have access to the trade secrets and other confidential information on which the Company's busines s is based. As used in this Agreement, 

"Proprietary Information" means (1) the information referred to in the preceding sentence, (2) information regarding products and/or 
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service the Company may subsequently sell or manufacture, have under development, active consideration or planning, (3) Inventions (as defined below), (4) the  

confidential information of others with which the Company has a business relationship, any (5) other information which the Co mpany possesses or to which the 

Company has rights which have value to the Company, including (by way of example and without limitation) trade secrets, produ ct ideas, designs, configurations, 

processes, techniques, formulas, software, improvements, data, know-how, copyrightable materials, marketing plans and strategies, including but not limited to  

social media plans and strategies, production plans and strategies, costs, pricing, vendor lists contact lists, and customer lists. Proprietary Information includes 

information developed by the Employee in the course of the Employee's employment by the Company or otherwise relating to Inventions which belong to the 

Company under Section 7(e) below, as well as other information to which the Employee may have access in connection with the Employee's employment. 

 
(ii) Company. For purposes of this Section 7, all references to the "Company" will be deemed to include the Company and its Affiliates. 

 
(iii) Non-Competition Period. The term "Non-Competition Period" shall mean the period of time during which the Employee is employed by the 

Company and for the twelve (12) consecutive months following the termination of the Employee's employment with the Company for any reason. 

 

(b) Goodwill. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that: (i) during and as a result of the Employee's employment by the Company, the Employee will  

acquire experience, skills and knowledge related to the Company's business; and (ii) the Company depends upon its goodwill which it will entrust to the Employee during the term of 

the Employee's employment by the Company by affording the Employee the opportunity to become acquainted with the clients, cus tomers, accounts, prospects, suppliers, and licensees 

of the Company, to establish business relationships with them and to have access to records detailing their business activities with the Company. 

 

(c) Confidentiality. The Employee understands and agrees that the Employee's employment creates a relationship of confidence and trust between the Employee 

and the Company with respect to all Proprietary Information. At all times, both during the Employee's employment with the Com pany and after its termination, the Employee will 

keep in confidence and trust all Proprietary Information, and will not use or disclose any Proprietary Information without the written consent of the Company, except as may be 

necessary in the ordinary course of performing the Employee's duties to the Company. The Employee understands that the restri ctions contained in this paragraph extend to and 

expressly prohibit disclosure of Proprietary Information through social media, including, but not limited to, social or professional networking websites, wikis, blogs, virtual worlds, 

personal websites, image-sharing websites, video-sharing websites, message boards, chat rooms, and discussion forums ("Social Media"). The restrictions set forth in this Section 

7(c) will not apply to information which is generally known to the public or in the trade, unless such knowledge results from an u nauthorized disclosure by the Employee, but this 
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exception will not affect the application of any other provision of this Agreement to such information in accordance with the terms of such provision. 

 

(d) Documents, Records, Etc. All documents, records, apparatus, equipment, photography and other physical property, whether or not pertaining to Proprietary 

Information, which are furnished to the Employee by the Company or are produced by the Employee in connection with the Employee's employment will be and remain the sole property 

of the Company. Upon termination of the Employee's employment, or at any earlier time upon the Company's request, the Employee will immediately return to the Company all 

Company property, documents (including without limitation all written and graphic notes of any kind and description, including customer and contact lists, letters, correspondence, 

memoranda, notes, reports, computer or data processing results, computer software or data processing tapes, photography, disks or other material in machine readable form) and any 

Proprietary Information. Further, upon termination of employment, the Employee shall remove from the Employee's personal Social Media any designation or indication that he or she 

is a current employee of the Company. 

 

(e) Intellectual Property. The Employee agrees to disclose promptly, completely and in writing to the Company any original works of authorship (including all 

copyrights with respect thereto), any discovery, process, design, improvement, innovation, development, improvement or invention. whether or not patentable and whether reduced 

to writing or practice or not, which the Employee discovers, conceives and/or develops, in whole or in part, either individually or jointly with others (whether on or off the Company's 

premises or during or after working hours) during the period the Employee is employed with the Company, and which was or is directly or indirectly related to the business or proposed 

business of the Company, or which resulted or results from or was suggested by any work performed by any employee or agent th ereof during such period of employment or for one 

year thereafter ("Inventions"). The Employee hereby assigns and agrees to assign to the Company without any separate or additional remuneration the Emplo yee's entire right, title 

and interest in all such Inventions, together with any and all United States and foreign rights thereto. The Employee agrees that all Inventions and all works of authorship,  literary 

works (including computer programs), audiovisual works, translations, compilations, and any other written materials, including but not limited to, copyrightable works (the 

"Works") which are originated or produced by the Employee (solely or jointly with others), in whole or in part, within the scope of , or in connection with, the Employee's employment 

will be considered "works made for hire" as defined by the U.S. Copyright Act (17 USC §101, as amended) and further acknowledges that  the Employee is an employee as defined 

under that Act. All such works made for hire are and will be the exclusive property of the Company, and the Employee agrees to treat any such works as Proprietary Information. In 

the event that any Works are not deemed to be "works made for hire," the Employee hereby assigns all of his right, title, and  interest in and to such Works, including but not limited 

to, the copyrights therein. to the Company. The Employee agrees to cooperate with the Company, both during and subsequent to the Employee's employment, to execute all instruments 

including patent and copyright applications and assignments therefor, and to do all other things reasonably necessary to fully vest, and perfect, in the Company the ownership rights 

contemplated herein. In the event the Company is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure the Employee's signature on any document or instrument necessary to secure trademarks, 

letters patent, 
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copyrights or other analogous protection relating to any Works, whether because of the Employee's physical or mental capacity  or for any other reason whatsoever, the Employee 

hereby irrevocably designates  and appoints the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as his  agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in his behalf and stead to execute 

and file any such application or applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts. 

 

(f) Non-Solicitation. During Non-Competition Period, and regardless of the reasons for the termination of the Employee's employment with the Company, the  

Employee will not, in any form or manner, directly or indirectly: (1) hire, employ, engage, solicit, entice, encourage, accept or cause to terminate his/her relationship with the Company 

or attempt to hire, employ, engage, solicit, entice, encourage, accept or cause to terminate his/her relations hip with the Company, any Company employee, consultant or other service 

provider; or (2) hire, employ, engage or otherwise become involved in a business association or attempt to hire, employ, enga ge or otherwise become involved in a business association 

with any person who at any time during the one (1) year prior to the termination of the Employee's employment with the Company was employed by the Company or engaged as a 

consultant to the Company; or (3) contact, solicit, divert, take away, or attempt to contact, solicit, divert or take away, any clients, customers, suppliers, vendors or accounts, or 

prospective clients, customers, suppliers, vendors, or accounts, of the Company, or any of the Company's business with such c lients, customers, suppliers, vendors or accounts. The 

Employee acknowledges that the restrictions contained in this Section extend to and expressly prohibit conduct via Social Media that would violate this Section. 

 

(g) Third-Party Agreements and Rights. The Employee hereby confirms that the Employee is not bound by the terms of any agreement with any previous  

employer or other party which restricts in any way the Employee's use or disclosure of information or the Employee's engageme nt in any business. The Employee represents to the 

Company that the Employee's execution of this Agreement, the Employee's employment with the Company, and the performance of the Employee's proposed duties for the Company 

will not violate any obligations the Employee may have to any such previous employer or other p arty. In the Employee's work for the Company, the Employee will not disclose or  

make use of any information in violation of any agreements with or rights of any such previous employer or other party, and the Employee will not bring to the premises of the 

Company any copies or other tangible embodiments of non-public information belonging to or obtained from any such previous employment or other party. 

 

(h) Injunctive Relief. The Employee understands and acknowledges that the Company's Proprietary Information, Inventions, and goodwill are of a special,  

unique, unusual, character which gives them a peculiar value, the loss of which cannot be reasonably compensated in damages i n an action at law. The Employee understands and 

acknowledges that, in addition to any and all other rights or remedies that the Company may possess, the Company shall be entitled to injunctive and other equitable relief, without 

posting a bond, if the Employee breaches any portion of this Agreement or in order to prevent a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by the Employee. 
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8. Withholding. All payments made by the Company under this Agreement shall be net of any tax or other amounts required to be withheld by t he Company under 

applicable law. 

 

9. Integration. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements between 

the parties with respect to such subject matter. 

 

10. Assignment: Successors and Assigns. Neither the Company nor the Employee may make any assignment of this Agreement or any interest herein, by operation of  law 

or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the other party; provided, however, that the Company may assign its rights under this Agreement without the consent of the Employee 

in the event that either the Company or its Affiliates, if any, shall hereafter effect a reorganization. consolidate with or merge into any other corporation. partnership,  organization or 

other entity, or transfer all or substantially all of its properties or assets to any other corporation, partnership, organiz ation or other entity. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of 

and be binding upon the Company and the Employee, their respective successors, executors, administrators, heirs and permit ted assigns. 

 

11. Enforceability. The provisions of this Agreement are severable. If any portion or provision of this Agreement shall to any extent be declar ed illegal or unenforceable 

by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such portion or provisions in circumstances other than those as to which it is so 

declared illegal or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each portion and provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by 

law. If any obligation of the Employee's under Section 7 of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable because of the duration or scope of such obligation. the court making such 

determination shall have the power to reduce the duration and/or scope of such obligation, and in its modified form such obligation shall be enforceable. 

 

12. Advice of  Counsel/Construction. The Employee acknowledges that the Employee has been advised by the Company to review the terms of this Agreement with legal 

counsel of the Employee's choice and that the Employee has been given a reasonable opportunity to seek such legal advice. 

 

13. Employee Acknowledgement. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Employee's responsibilities, duties. position. compensation, title and/or other ter ms 

and conditions of employment may change from time to time or the Employee may have a break in service or employment with the Company and, notwithstanding any change in any 

terms and conditions of employment or a break in service or employment, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

14. Waiver. No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless made in writing and signed by the waiving party. The failure of any party to require the performance 

of any term or obligation of this Agreement, or the waiver by any party of any breach of this Agreement, shall not prevent an y subsequent enforcement of such term or obligation or 

be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach. 
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15. Notices. Any notices, requests, demands and other communications provided for by this Agreement shall be sufficient if in writing and delivered in person or sent 

by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the Employee at the last address the Employee has filed in writing with the  Company or, in the case of the Company, at its main 

offices, attention of President. 

 
16. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument signed by the Employee and the Company. 

 
17. Affiliates. For purposes of this Agreement, "Affiliates" means all persons and entities directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with 

the Company, where control may be by either management authority or equity interest. 

 

18. Governing Law/Forum. The laws of the State of New Hampshire shall govern the interpretation, validity and effect of this Agreement without regar d to the place of 

performance thereof or principles of choice of law. The Employee agrees that any and all suits regarding this Agreement shall  be brought solely and exclusively in the State of New 

Hampshire, and the Employee and the Company hereby consent to the jurisdiction of the state or federal courts sitting in the State of New Hampshire. 

 
19. Section 409A. 

 
(a) In General. The provisions of this Agreement are intended not to result in the imposition of additional tax or interest under Section 409A of the Internal 

Revenue Code, and such provisions shall be interpreted and administered in accordance with such intent. Without limiting the foregoing, this Agreement shall not be amended or 

terminated in a manner so as to result in the imposition of such tax or interest, any reference to "termination of employment" or similar term shall mean an event that constitutes a  

"separation from service" or "involuntary separation from service" (as the case may be) within the meaning of Section 409A, any reimbursement of expenses shall occur no later than 

the end of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the expense is incurred (or such earlier date as applies  under the Company's business expense reimbursement policy) 

and reimbursements in one year shall not affect the amount of reimbursement available in any subsequent year, each payment or installment shall be treated as a separate payment, 

and if at separation from service the Employee is considered a Specified Employee within the meaning of said Section 409A, then any payments hereunder that are nonqualified 

deferred compensation within the meaning of said Section 409A that are to be made upon separation from service shall not comm ence earlier than six (6) months after the date of such 

separation from service, and any such amounts that would otherwise be paid to the Employee within the first six months following the sep aration from service shall be accumulated 

and paid to the Employee in a lump sum six months and one day following the separation from service (or if the Employee dies during such six-month period. as soon as practical 

following the date of death). The foregoing notwithstanding, the Company shall not be liable to any person for the tax conseq uences of any failure to comply with the requirements of 

Section 409A. 

 
(b) Effect of Release. To the extent that separation payments or benefits pursuant to this Agreement are conditioned upon execution and delivery by 

Employee of a 
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release of claims, Employee shall forfeit all rights to such payments and benefits unless such release is signed, delivered and any right to revoke has expired so as to make the release fully 

effective, within sixty (60) days following the date of Employee's separation from service. If such release is so signed, delivered and effective, then such payments or benefits shall be 

made or commence upon the business day next following the date the release is so signed, delivered and effective; provided, however, that if such sixty (60) period would end in the 

calendar year following the date of Employee's separation from service, then such payments or benefits shall be made or commence upon the later of the date the release is so signed, 

delivered and effective and the first business day of such following calendar year. 

 

20. Survival of Obligations. The provisions of Section 7 of this Agreement shall survive the expiration of this Agreement or the earlier termination of the Employee's  

employment. Other provisions of this Agreement shall survive the expiration of this Agreement or the earlier termination of the Employee's employment to the extent necessary to the 

intended preservation of each party's respective rights and obligations. 

 

21. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts. none of which need contain the signature of more than one party hereto, and each of  

which shall be deemed to be an original. and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The fa csimile or PDF signatures of the par ties shall be deemed 

to constitute original signatures, and facsimile or PDF copies hereof shall be deemed to constitute duplicate originals. 

 

22. Captions and Headings. Captions and paragraph headings used herein are for convenience and ready reference only and are not a part of this Agreement and shall 

not be used in the construct ion or interpretation thereof. 

 
[Signature Page Follows] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Employment Agreement is entered into to be effective as of the date hereof defined herein. 

 

MINIM, INC. Graham Chynoweth 

 
/s/ Jeremy Hitchcock /s/ Graham Chynoweth 

  

 
Name: Jeremy Hitchcock 

Title: Chairman, Board of Directors 

Address: 

848 Elm Street [Address Omitted] 
  

Manchester, NH 

03101 
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INIM 848 Elm Street Manchester. NH 03101 1.833.96.MINIM 

 

May 14, 2019 

Graham Chynoweth 

Dear Gray: 

We are pleased to offer you the position of CEO with Minim Inc. (the "Company"), the specifics of which are set forth in the attached Employment Agreement. During your employment 

with the Company, you will perform your job duties for and provide services to the Company and its affiliates. This position is EXEM PT and reports to Jeremy Hitchcock. Chairman of 

the Board. 

 

Independent of your employment as CEO, we are also please to consider your interest in making a direct investment of two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) in the Company 

and will undertake prompt and diligent actions in an effort to make this 

opportunity available to you. 

 

 

 
Very truly yours, 

Minim Inc. 

 
BY: /s/ Jeremy Hitchcock 

 

Jeremy Hitchcock, Chairman of the Broad 

 
AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED: 

 
/s/ Graham Chynoweth 5/22/19 

  

Name Date 

Graham Chynoweth 

 
 



 

Exhibit 10.29 

 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

This Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made as of the fourth day of December 2020, by and between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the “Company”) and Sean 

Doherty (the “Employee”). 

 

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Employee, and the Employee desires to accept such employment, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

In consideration of the Employee’s employment with the Company, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the Company and the Employee agree as follows: 

 

1. Employment. The Company agrees to employ the Employee, and the Employee agrees to be employed by the Company, on the terms and conditio ns set forth below. 

The Employee shall be employed under this Agreement on an at-will basis for an indefinite period of time, and the Employee or the Company may terminate the employment relationship 

with or without notice at any time and for any or no reason or cause in accordance with the terms of Section 5 hereof. The Company is not bound to follow any policy, procedure, or 

process in connection with employee discipline, employment termination or otherwise. The Employee’s employment with the Compa ny pursuant to this Agreement shall commence on 

December 4, 2020 (the “Effective Date”). 

 

2. Duties. The Employee shall serve the Company as Senior Vice President of Finance. In such capacity, the Employee shall be subject to the direction of the Company’s 

Chief Executive Officer. The Employee shall also perform such other services and duties in connection with the Company as may be assigned or delegated to the Employee from time to 

time by or under the authority of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. 

 

3. Compensation and Benefits. The regular compensation and benefits payable to the Employee under this Agreement shall be as follows: 

 

(a) Salary. For all services rendered by the Employee under this Agreement, the Company shall pay the Employee a base salary at the annualized rate of 

165,000.00 dollars ($165,000.00) per year, pro-rated for any partial year in which this Agreement is in effect. The Employee’s performance may be reviewed by the Company fr om 

time to time, and the Company may adjust the Employee’s salary pursuant to such performance reviews or for other reasons. The Employee’s salary shall be payable in equal  

installments in connection with the Company’s regular payroll dates and payroll procedures. 

 

(b) Bonus Opportunity. The Employee shall be entitled to receive such incentive or performance bonuses as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer may determine 

from time to time. 

 

(c) Benefits. The Employee shall be eligible to participate in all employee benefit, health and welfare, 401(k), profit sharing and other plans, policies and programs 

which the Company may, from time to time, have in effect for all or most employees of the Company. Such participation shall be subject to the terms of the applicable plan documents, 

generally 

 



applicable policies of the Company, applicable law, and the discretion of the Company or any administrative or other committe e provided for in, or contemplated by, any such plan.  

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to create any obligation on the part of the Company to establish any such plan or to maintain the effectiveness of any such plan 

which may be in effect from time to time. To the extent there is any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the applicable benefit plan documents, the terms of the plan 

documents shall govern. 

 

(d) Vacation. The Company will be adopting an unlimited vacation policy, pursuant to which covered employees do not accrue any paid vacat ion time, but 

rather, will be able to take vacation time in their reasonable discretion, subject to Company approval and meeting the Company’s performance expectations. Once the Company  adopts 

and implements that policy, the Employee will be covered by it and subject to its terms. Until that policy is adopted, the Employee will not accrue any vacation time, but rather will be 

permitted (with Company approval) to take vacation time in the Employee’s reasonable discretion. Because vacation time does not accrue for the Employee (either before adoption of 

the unlimited vacation time policy or after adoption of that policy), there is no payout of vacation time upon the termination of the Employee’s employment. 

 

(e) Expense Reimbursement. The Company will reimburse the Employee on a monthly basis for all normal and reasonable business expenses incurred by the 

Employee in the course of performing the Employee’s duties for the Company hereunder, provided the Employee timely and properly completes and submits an expense report and any 

other appropriate documentation to the Company, as may be required in accordance with the policies in effect from time to time for Company employees. 

 

4. Extent of Service. During the Employee’s employment hereunder, the Employee shall devote the Employee’s full business time, best efforts and business judgment,  

skill and knowledge to the advancement of the Company’s interests and to the discharge of the Employee’s duties and responsib ilities hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 

Employee may engage in any outside business activities in which the Employee is engaged as of the Effective Date, and the Employee may engage in other bu siness activities in the 

future provided: 

(a) such activities are not for or with a competitor of the Company; (ii) such activities do not create a conflict of interest with respect to the Employee’s employment with the Company; 

(iii) such activities do not interfere with the Employee’s performance of the Employee’s job duties for the Company; (iv) the  Employee notifies the Company in writing in advance of 

engaging in such activities; and (v) the Company’s Chief Executive Officer authorizes the Employee to engage in such activiti es (which such authorization will not be unreasonably 

withheld). 

 
5. Termination and Termination Benefits. The Employee’s employment hereunder shall terminate under the following circumstances: 

 
(a) Termination by the Company. The Employee’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Company for Cause without further liability on the part of 

the Company, effective immediately, upon written notice to the Employee. 
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(b) Termination by the Employee. The Employee’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Employee by written notice to the Company’s Chief 

Executive Officer at least thirty (30) days prior to such termination. 

 

(c) Disability. If due to physical or mental illness or disability, the Emp loyee shall be disabled so as to be unable to perform substantially the Employee’s  essential 

duties and responsibilities hereunder with reasonable accommodation by the Company to the Employee’s known physical or mental  disability, solely in accordance with, and to the 

extent required by law (provided such accommodation would not impose an undue hardship on the operation of the Company’s busi ness or a direct threat to the Employee or others) for 

a period of one hundred eighty (180) consecutive days, the Company may terminate the Employee’s employment, effective immediately, upon written notice to the  Employee. 

 
(d) Death. The Employee’s employment with the Company shall terminate immediately upon the death of the Employee. 

 
6. Litigation and Regulatory Cooperation. The Employee shall cooperate fully with the Company in the defense or prosecution of any claims or actions now in existence  

or which may be brought in the future against or on behalf of the Company which relate to events or occurrences that transpired while the Employee is employed by the Company. The 

Employee’s full cooperation in connection with such claims or actions shall include, but not be limited to, being available t o meet with counsel to prepare for discovery or trial and to 

act as a witness on behalf of the Company at mutually convenient times. The Employee shall also cooperate fully with the Company in connection with any examination or review of 

any federal, state or local regulatory authority as any such examination or review rela tes to events or occurrences that transpired while the Employee was employed by the Company.  

The Company will reimburse the Employee for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with such cooperation. 

 
7. Proprietary Information, Intellectuel Property, Non-Solicitation, and Non-Disparagement. 

 
(a) Definitions. 

 
(i) Proprietary Information. During the course of the Employee’s employment with the Company, the Employee will be given unique and specialized  

training and will have access to the trade secrets and other confidential information on which the Company’s business is based. As used in this Agreement,  “Proprietary 

Information” means (1) the information referred to in the preceding sentence, (2) information regarding products and/or s ervice the Company may subsequently sell 

or manufacture, have under development, active consideration or planning, (3) Inventions and Developments (as defined below), 

(4) the confidential information of others with which the Company has a business relationship, and (5) any other information which the Company possesses or to  

which the Company has rights which have value to the Company, including (by way of example and without limitation) trade secr ets, product ideas, designs, 

configurations, processes, techniques, formulas, software, improvements, data, know-how, copyrightable materials, marketing plans and strategies, including but 
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not limited to social media plans and strategies, production plans and strategies, costs, pricing, vendor lists contact lists, and  customer  lists.  Proprietary Information 

includes information developed by the Employee in the course of the Employee’s employment by the Company or otherwise relatin g to Inventions which belong to 

the Company under Section 7(e) below, as well as other information to which the Employee may have access in connection with the Employee’s  employment. 

 

(ii) Company. For purposes of this Section 7, all references to the “Company” will be deemed to include the Company and its Affiliates. 

 

(iii) For purposes of this Section 7, the term “Non-Solicitation Period” shall mean the period of time during which the Employee is employed by the 

Company and for the twelve (12) consecutive months following the termination of the Employee’s employment with the Company for any reason. 

 

(b) Goodwill. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that: (i) during and as a result of the Employee’s employment by the Company, the Empl oyee will 

acquire experience, skills and knowledge related to the Company’s business; and (ii) the Company depends upon its goodwill which it will entrust to the Employee during the term of  

the Employee’s employment by the Company by affording the Employee the opportunity to become acquainted with the clients, cus tomers, accounts, prospects, suppliers, and licensees 

of the Company, to establish business relationships with them and to have access to records detailing their business activities with the Company. 

 

(c) Confidentiality. The Employee understands and agrees that the Employee’s employment creates a relationship of confidence and trust between the  Employee 

and the Company with respect to all Proprietary Information. At all times, both during the Employee’s employment with the Com pany and after its termination, the Employee will 

keep in confidence and trust all such Proprietary Information, and will not use or disclose any such Proprietary Information without the written consent of the Company, except as may 

be necessary in the ordinary course of performing the Employee’s duties to the Company. The Employee understands that the restrictions contained in this  paragraph extend to and 

expressly prohibit disclosure of Proprietary Information through social media. The restrictions set forth in this Section 7(c) will not apply to information which is generally known to 

the public or in the trade, unless such knowledge results from an unauthorized disclosure by the Employee, but this exception  will not affect the application of any other provision of 

this Agreement to such information in accordance with the terms of such provision. 

 

(d) Documents, Records, Etc. All documents, records, apparatus, equipment, photography and other physical property, whether or not pertaining  to Proprietary 

Information, which are furnished to the Employee by the Company or are produced by the Employee in connection with the Employee’s employment will be and remain  the sole 

property of the Company. Upon termination of the Employee’s employment, or at any earlier time upon the Company’s request, th e Employee will immediately return to the Company 

all Company property, documents (including without limitation all written and graphic notes of any kind and description, incl uding customer and contact lists, letters, correspondence, 

memoranda, notes, reports, computer or data processing results, computer software or data processing tapes, 
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photography, disks or other material in machine readable form) and any Confidential Information. Further, upon termination of employment, the Employee shall remove from the 

Employee’s personal social media any designation or indication that he or she is a current employee of the Company. 

 

(e) Intellectual Property. The Employee agrees to disclose promptly, completely and in writing to the Company any original works of authorship (including all 

copyrights with respect thereto), any discovery, process, design, improvement, innovation, development, improvement or invention, whether or not patentable and whether reduced 

to writing or practice or not, which the Employee discovers, conceives and/or develops, in whole or in part, either individually or jointly with others (whether on or off the Company’s 

premises or during or after working hours) during the period the Employee is employed with the Company, and which was or is directly or indirectly related to the business or proposed 

business of the Company, or which resulted or results from or was suggested by any work performed by any employee or agent th ereof during such period of employment or for one 

year thereafter ("Inventions"). The term Inventions does not include developments, productions, or creations generated by the Employee for third parties,  provided that such 

developments, productions, or creations occur outside the scope of the Employee’s employment with the Company and do not relate to the Company’s business. The Employee  hereby 

assigns and agrees to assign to the Company without any separate or additional remuneration the Employee’s entire right, title and interest in all Inventions, together with any and 

all United States and foreign rights thereto. The Employee agrees that all Inventions and all works of authorship, literary w orks (including computer programs), audiovisual works, 

translations, compilations, and any other written materials, including but not limited to, copyrightable works (the “Works”) which are originated or produced by the Employee (solely 

or jointly with others), in whole or in part, within the scope of, or in connection with, the Employee’s employment will be considered "works made for hire" as defined by the 

U.S. Copyright Act (17 USC §101, as amended) and further acknowledges that the Employee is an employee as defined under that Act. All such works made for hire are and will be 

the exclusive property of the Company, and the Employee agrees to treat any such works as Proprietary Information. In the event that any Works are not deemed to be “works made 

for hire,” the Employee hereby assigns all of his right, title, and interest in and to such Works, including but not limited to, the copyrights therein, to the Company. The Employee  

agrees to cooperate with the Company, both during and subsequent to the Employee’s employment, to execute all instruments inc luding patent and copyright applications and 

assignments therefor, and to do all other things reasonably necessary to fully vest, and perfect, in the Company the ownership rights contemplated herein. In the event the Company 

is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure the Employee’s signature on any document or instrument necessary to secure trademarks, letters patent, copyrights or other analog ous 

protection relating to any Works, whether because of the Employee’s physical or mental capacity or for any other reason whatsoever, the Employee hereby irrevocably designates 

and appoints the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as his agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in his behalf and stead to execute and file any such application 

or applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts. 

 

(f) Non-Solicitation. During Non-Solicitation Period, and regardless of the reasons for the termination of the Employee’s employment with the Company, the  

Employee will not, in any form or manner, directly or indirectly: (1) hire, employ, engage, solicit, entice, 
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encourage, accept or cause to terminate his/her relationship with the Company or attempt to hire, employ, engage, solicit, en tice, encourage, accept or cause to terminate his/her 

relationship with the Company, any Company employee, consultant or other service provider; or (2) hire, employ, engage or oth erwise become involved in a business association or 

attempt to hire, employ, engage or otherwise become involved in a business association with any person who at any time during the one (1) year prior to the termination of the  

Employee’s employment with the Company was employed by the Company or engaged as a consultant to the Company; or (3) contact,  solicit, divert, take away, or attempt to contact, 

solicit, divert or take away, any clients, customers, suppliers, vendors or accounts, or prospective clients, customers, suppliers, vendors, or accounts, of the Company, or any of the 

Company’s business with such clients, customers, suppliers, vendors or accounts. The Employee acknowledges that the restrictions contained in this Section extend to and expressly 

prohibit conduct via social media that would violate this Section. 

 

(g) Third-Party Agreements and Rights. The Employee hereby confirms that the Employee is not bound by the terms of any agreement with any previous  

employer or other party which restricts in any way the Employee’s use or disclosure of information or the Employee’s engageme nt in any business. The Employee represents to the 

Company that the Employee’s execution of this Agreement, the Employee’s employment with the Company, and the performance of the Employee’s proposed duties for the Company 

will not violate any obligations the Employee may have to any such previous employer or other party. In the Employee’s work for the Company, the Employee will not  disclose or 

make use of any information in violation of any agreements with or rights of any such previous employer or other party, and the Employee will not bring to the premises of the Company 

any copies or other tangible embodiments of non-public information belonging to or obtained from any such previous employment or other party. 

 

(h) Non-Disparagement. The Employee agrees that the Employee will not, during the Employee’s employment with the Company or at any time thereafter, make 

any statements that are disparaging about or adverse to the business interests of the Company (including its officers, directors and employees) or which are intended to harm the 

reputation of the Company including, but not limited to, any statements that disparage any product, service, capability or any other aspect of the business of the Company, including 

via social media. 

 

(i) Injunctive Relief/Attorneys’ Fees. The Employee understands and acknowledges that the Company’s Proprietary Information, Inventions, and goodwill are 

of a special, unique, unusual, character which gives them a peculiar value, the loss of which cannot be reasonably compensated in damages in an action at law. The Employee  

understands and acknowledges that, in addition to any and all other rights or remedies that the Company may possess, the Company shall be entitled to injunctive and other 

equitable relief, without posting a bond, if the Employee breaches any portion of this Agreement or in order to prevent a bre ach or threatened breach of this Agreement (and/or any 

provision thereof and in particular, the provisions contained in this Section 7 regarding, non-solicitation, confidentiality, and non- disparagement) by the Employee. Further, to the 

extent permitted by law, the Employee agrees that the Employee shall be responsible for payment of the Company’s reasonable a ttorneys’ fees and costs in the event the Company 

prevails in any action against the Employee to enforce this 

 
- 6 - 



Agreement or, to defend against any and all claims the Employee brings against the Company or its shareholders, employees, or agents. 

 

8. Withholding. All payments made by the Company under this Agreement shall be net of any tax or other amounts required to be withheld by t he Company under 

applicable law. 

 

9. Integration. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements between 

the parties with respect to such subject matter. 

 

10. Assignment; Successors and Assigns, etc. Neither the Company nor the Employee may make any assignment of this Agreement or any interest herein, by operation of 

law or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the other party; provided, however, that the Company may assign its ri ghts under this Agreement without the consent of the 

Employee in the event that either the Company or its Affiliates, if any, shall hereafter effect a reorganization, consolidate with or merge into any other corporation, partnership, 

organization or other entity, or transfer all or substantially all of its properties or assets to any other corporation, partnership, organization or other entity.   This Agreement shall inure  

to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and the Employee, their respective successors, executors, administrators, heirs and permitted assigns. 

 

11. Enforceability. The provisions of this Agreement are severable. If any portion or provision of this Agreement shall to any extent be declar ed illegal or unenforceable 

by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such portion or provisions in circumstances other than those as to which it is so declared 

illegal or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each portion and provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. If any 

obligation of the Employee’s under  Section 7 of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable because of the duration of such obligation or the geographic area covered, the court making 

such determination shall have the power to reduce the duration and/or geographic area of such provision, and in its modified form such provision shall be enforceable. 

 

12. Forwarding of Agreement. The Employee hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Company may, in order to protect its interests, send a copy of this Agreement to 

any future employer of the Employee, and that the Employee shall have no claim against the Company in the event it does so. 

 

13. Advice of Counsel/Construction. The Employee acknowledges that the Employee has been advised by the Company to review the terms of this Agreement with legal 

counsel of the Employee’s choice and that the Employee has been given a reasonable opportunity to seek such legal advice. 

 

14. Employee Acknowledgement. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Employee’s responsibilities, duties, position, compensation, title and/or other terms  

and conditions of employment may change from time to time or the Employee may have a break in 
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service or employment with the Company and, notwithstanding any change in any terms and conditions of employment or a break in service or employment, this Agreement shall 

remain in full force and effect. 

 

15. Waiver. No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless made in writing and signed by the waiving party. The failure of any party to require the performance 

of any term or obligation of this Agreement, or the waiver by any party of any breach of this Agreement, shall not prevent an y subsequent enforcement of such term or obligation or 

be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach. 

 

16. Notices. Any notices, requests, demands and other communications provided for by this Agreement shall be sufficient if in writing and delivered in person or sent 

by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the Employee at the last address the Employee has filed in writing with the Company or, in the case of the Company, at its main 

offices, attention of the Chief Executive Officer. 

 

17. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument signed by the Employee and the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. 

 
18. Affiliates. For purposes of this Agreement, “Affiliates” means all persons and entities directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with 

the Company, where control may be by either management authority or equity interest. 

 

19. Governing Law/Forum. The laws of Massachusetts shall govern the interpretation, validity and effect of this Agreement without regard to the place of performance 

thereof or principles of choice of law. The Employee agrees that any and all suits regarding this Agreement shall be brought solely and exclusively in Massachusetts and the Employee 

hereby consents to the jurisdiction of the state or federal courts of Massachusetts. 

 

20. Section 409A. The provisions of this Agreement are intended not to result in the imposition of additional tax or interest under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue 

Code, and such provisions shall be interpreted and administered in accordance with such intent. Without limiting the foregoing, this Agreement shall not be amended or terminated in  

a manner so as to result in the imposition of such tax or interest, any reference to “termination of employment” or similar t erm shall mean an event that constitutes a “separation from 

service” or “involuntary separation from service” (as the case may be) within the meaning of Section 409A, any reimbursement of expenses shall occur no later than the end of the 

calendar year following the calendar year in which the expense is incurred (or such earlier date as applies under the Company’s business expense reimbu rsement policy) and 

reimbursements in one year shall not affect the amount of reimbursement available in any subsequent year. The f oregoing notwithstanding, the Company shall not be liable to any 

person for the tax consequences of any failure to comply with the requirements of Section 409A. 

 

21. Survival of Obligations. The provisions of Section 7 of this Agreement shall survive the expiration of this Agreement or the earlier termination of the Employee’s  

employment. Other provisions of this Agreement shall survive the expiration of this Agreement or the earlier termination of t he Employee’s employment to the extent necessary to the  

intended preservation of each party’s respective rights and obligations. 
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22. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, none of which need contain the signature of more than one party h ereto, and each of 

which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The facsimil e or PDF signatures of the parties shall be deemed 

to constitute original signatures, and facsimile or PDF copies hereof shall be deemed to constitute duplicate originals. 

 

23. Captions and Headings. Captions and paragraph headings used herein are for convenience and ready reference only and are not a part of this Agreement and shall 

not be used in the construction or interpretation thereof. 

 
[Signature Page Follows] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Employment Agreement is entered into to be effective as of the date defined herein. 

 

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. Sean Doherty 

 
By: /s/ Sara Bishop /s/ Sean Doherty 

  

Name: Sara Bishop 

Title: Head of Talent and Culture 

 
Address: [Address Omitted] 

101 Arch Street, 8th Floor 

Boston, MA 02110 
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Exhibit 10.30 

 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

This Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made as of the fourth day of December 2020, by and between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the “Company”) and Nicole 

Hayward (the “Employee”). 

 

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Employee, and the Employee desires to accept such employment, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

In consideration of the Employee’s employment with the Company, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the Company and the Employee agree as follows: 

 

1. Employment. The Company agrees to employ the Employee, and the Employee agrees to be employed by the Company, on the terms and conditio ns set forth below. 

The Employee shall be employed under this Agreement on an at-will basis for an indefinite period of time, and the Employee or the Company may terminate the employment relationship 

with or without notice at any time and for any or no reason or cause in accordance with the terms of Section 5 hereof. The Company is not bound to follow any policy, procedure, or 

process in connection with employee discipline, employment termination or otherwise. The Employee’s employment with the Compa ny pursuant to this Agreement shall commence on 

December 4, 2020 (the “Effective Date”). 

 

2. Duties. The Employee shall serve the Company as Chief Marketing Officer/Chief Product Officer. In such capacity, the Employee shall be subject to the direction of 

the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The Employee shall also perform such other services and duties in connection with the Company as may be assigned or delegated to the 

Employee from time to time by or under the authority of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. 

 

3. Compensation and Benefits. The regular compensation and benefits payable to the Employee under this Agreement shall be as follows: 

 

(a) Salary. For all services rendered by the Employee under this Agreement, the Company shall pay the Employee a base salary at the annualized rate of 

200,000.00 dollars ($200,000.00) per year, pro-rated for any partial year in which this Agreement is in effect. The Employee’s performance may be reviewed by the Company from  

time to time, and the Company may adjust the Employee’s salary pursuant to such performance reviews or for other reasons. The  Employee’s salary shall be payable in equal 

installments in connection with the Company’s regular payroll dates and payroll procedures. 

 

(b) Bonus Opportunity. The Employee shall be entitled to receive such incentive or performance bonuses as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer may determine 

from time to time. 

 

(c) Benefits. The Employee shall be eligible to participate in all employee benefit, health and welfare, 401(k), profit sharing and other  plans, policies and 

programs which the Company may, from time to time, have in effect for all or most employees of the Company. 

 



Such participation shall be subject to the terms of the applicable plan documents, generally applicable policies of the Compa ny, applicable law, and the discretion of the Company or 

any administrative or other committee provided for in, or contemplated by, any such plan. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to create any obligation on the 

part of the Company to establish any such plan or to maintain the effectiveness of any such plan which may be in effect from time to time. To the extent there is any conflict between  

the terms of this Agreement and the applicable benefit plan documents, the terms of the plan documents shall govern. 

 

(d) Vacation. The Company will be adopting an unlimited vacation policy, pursuant to which covered employees do not accrue any paid vacation time, but  

rather, will be able to take vacation time in their reasonable discretion, subject to Company approval and meeting the Compan y’s performance expectations. Once the Company adopts 

and implements that policy, the Employee will be covered by it and subject to its terms. Until that policy is adopted, the Employee will not accrue any vacation time, but rather will be 

permitted (with Company approval) to take vacation time in the Employee’s reasonable discretion. Because vacation time does not accrue for the Employee (eith er before adoption of 

the unlimited vacation time policy or after adoption of that policy), there is no payout of vacation time upon the termination of the Employee’s employment. 

 

(e) Expense Reimbursement. The Company will reimburse the Employee on a monthly basis for all normal and reasonable business expenses incurred by the  

Employee in the course of performing the Employee’s duties for the Company hereunder, provided the Employee timely and properly completes and submits an expense report and any 

other appropriate documentation to the Company, as may be required in accordance with the policies in effect from time to time for Company employees. 

 

4. Extent of Service. During the Employee’s employment hereunder, the Employee shall devote the Employee’s full business time, best efforts and b usiness judgment, 

skill and knowledge to the advancement of the Company’s interests and to the discharge of the Employee’s duties and responsibilities hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the  

Employee may engage in any outside business activities in which the Employee is engaged as of the Effective Date, and the Emp loyee may engage in other business activities in the 

future provided: 

(i) such activities are not for or with a competitor of the Company; (ii) such activities do not create a conflict of interes t with respect to the Employee’s employment with the Company; 

(iii) such activities do not interfere with the Employee’s performance of the Employee’s job duties for the Company; (iv) the Employee notifies the Co mpany in writing in advance of 

engaging in such activities; and (v) the Company’s Chief Executive Officer authorizes the Employee to engage in such activities (which such authorization will not be unreasonably 

withheld). 

 
5. Termination and Termination Benefits. The Employee’s employment hereunder shall terminate under the following circumstances: 

 
(a) Termination by the Company. The Employee’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Company for Cause without further liability on the part of 

the Company, effective immediately, upon written notice to the Employee. 
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(b) Termination by the Employee. The Employee’s employment hereunder may be terminated by the Employee by written notice to the Company’s Chief 

Executive Officer at least thirty (30) days prior to such termination. 

 

(c) Disability. If due to physical or mental illness or disability, the Emp loyee shall be disabled so as to be unable to perform substantially the Employee’s  essential 

duties and responsibilities hereunder with reasonable accommodation by the Company to the Employee’s known physical or mental  disability, solely in accordance with, and to the 

extent required by law (provided such accommodation would not impose an undue hardship on the operation of the Company’s busi ness or a direct threat to the Employee or others) for 

a period of one hundred eighty (180) consecutive days, the Company may terminate the Employee’s employment, effective immediately, upon written notice to the  Employee. 

 
(d) Death. The Employee’s employment with the Company shall terminate immediately upon the death of the Employee. 

 
6. Litigation and Regulatory Cooperation. The Employee shall cooperate fully with the Company in the defense or prosecution of any claims or actions now in existence  

or which may be brought in the future against or on behalf of the Company which relate to events or occurrences that transpired while the Employee is employed by the Company. The 

Employee’s full cooperation in connection with such claims or actions shall include, but not be limited to, being available t o meet with counsel to prepare for discovery or trial and to 

act as a witness on behalf of the Company at mutually convenient times. The Employee shall also cooperate fully with the Company in connection with any examination or review of 

any federal, state or local regulatory authority as any such examination or review rela tes to events or occurrences that transpired while the Employee was employed by the Company.  

The Company will reimburse the Employee for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with such cooperation. 

 
7. Proprietary Information, Intellectuel Property, Non-Solicitation, and Non-Disparagement. 

 
(a) Definitions. 

 
(i) Proprietary Information. During the course of the Employee’s employment with the Company, the Employee will be given unique and specialized training  

and will have access to the trade secrets and other confidential information on which the Company’s business is based. As used in this  Agreement, “Proprietary 

Information” means (1) the information referred to in the preceding sentence, (2) information regarding products and/or service the Company may subsequently 

sell or manufacture, have under development, active consideration or planning, (3) Inventions and Developments (as defined be low), (4) the confidential information 

of others with which the Company has a business relationship, and (5) any other information which the Company possesses or to which the Company has rights 

which have value to the Company, including (by way of example and without limitation) trade secrets, product ideas, designs, configurations, processes, techniques, 

formulas, software, improvements, data, know-how, copyrightable materials, marketing plans and strategies, including but 
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not limited to social media plans and strategies, production plans and strategies, costs, pricing, vendor lists contact lists, and  customer  lists.  Proprietary Information 

includes information developed by the Employee in the course of the Employee’s employment by the Company or otherwise relatin g to Inventions which belong to 

the Company under Section 7(e) below, as well as other information to which the Employee may have access in connection with t he Employee’s employment. 

 

(ii) Company. For purposes of this Section 7, all references to the “Company” will be deemed to include the Company and its Affiliates. 

 

(iii) For purposes of this Section 7, the term “Non-Solicitation Period” shall mean the period of time during which the Employee is employed by the 

Company and for the twelve (12) consecutive months following the termination of the Employee’s employment with the Company for any reason. 

 

(b) Goodwill. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that: (i) during and as a result of the Employee’s employment by the Company, the Empl oyee will 

acquire experience, skills and knowledge related to the Company’s business; and (ii) the Company depends upon its goodwill which it will entrust to the Empl oyee during the term of 

the Employee’s employment by the Company by affording the Employee the opportunity to become acquainted with the clients, customers, accounts, prospects, suppliers, and licensees 

of the Company, to establish business relationships with them and to have access to records detailing their business activities with the Company. 

 

(c) Confidentiality. The Employee understands and agrees that the Employee’s employment creates a relationship of confidence and trust between the  Employee 

and the Company with respect to all Proprietary Information. At all times, both during the Employee’s employment with the Com pany and after its termination, the Employee will 

keep in confidence and trust all such Proprietary Information, and will not use or disclose any such Proprietary Information without the written consent of the Company, except as may 

be necessary in the ordinary course of performing the Employee’s duties to the Company. The Employee understands that the restrictions contained in this  paragraph extend to and 

expressly prohibit disclosure of Proprietary Information through social media. The restrictions set forth in th is Section 7(c) will not apply to information which is generally known to 

the public or in the trade, unless such knowledge results from an unauthorized disclosure by the Employee, but this exception  will not affect the application of any other provision of 

this Agreement to such information in accordance with the terms of such provision. 

 

(d) Documents, Records, Etc. All documents, records, apparatus, equipment, photography and other physical property, whether or not pertaining  to Proprietary 

Information, which are furnished to the Employee by the Company or are produced by the Employee in connection with the Employ ee’s employment will be and remain the sole 

property of the Company. Upon termination of the Employee’s employment, or at any earlier time upon the Company’s request, the Employee will immediately return to the  Company 

all Company property, documents (including without limitation all written and graphic notes of any kind and description, incl uding customer and contact lists, letters, correspondence, 

memoranda, notes, reports, computer or data processing results, computer software or data processing tapes, 
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photography, disks or other material in machine readable form) and any Confidential Information. Further, upon termination of employment, the Employee shall remove from the 

Employee’s personal social media any designation or indication that he or she is a current employee of the Company. 

 

(e) Intellectual Property. The Employee agrees to disclose promptly, completely and in writing to the Company any original works of authorship (including all  

copyrights with respect thereto), any discovery, process, design, improvement, innovation, development, improvement or invention, whether or not patentable and whether reduced 

to writing or practice or not, which the Employee discovers, conceives and/or develops, in whole or in part, either individually or jointly with others (whether on or off the Company’s 

premises or during or after working hours) during the period the Employee is employed with the Company, and which was or is directly or indirectly related to the bus iness or proposed 

business of the Company, or which resulted or results from or was suggested by any work performed by any employee or agent thereof during such period of employment or for one 

year thereafter ("Inventions"). The term Inventions does not include developments, productions, or creations generated by the Employee for third parties,  provided that such 

developments, productions, or creations occur outside the scope of the Employee’s employment with the Company and do not relate to the Comp any’s business. The Employee hereby 

assigns and agrees to assign to the Company without any separate or additional remuneration the Employee’s entire right, title and interest in all Inventions, together with any and 

all United States and foreign rights thereto. The Employee agrees that all Inventions and all works of authorship, literary w orks (including computer programs), audiovisual works, 

translations, compilations, and any other written materials, including but not limited to, copyrightable works (the “Works”) which are originated or produced by the Employee (solely 

or jointly with others), in whole or in part, within the scope of, or in connection with, the Employee’s employment will be considered "works made for hire" as defined by the 

U.S. Copyright Act (17 USC §101, as amended) and further acknowledges that the Employee is an employee as defined under that Act. All such works made for hire are and will be 

the exclusive property of the Company, and the Employee agrees to treat any such works as Proprietary Information. In the event that any Works are not deemed to be “works made 

for hire,” the Employee hereby assigns all of his right, title, and interest in and to such Works, including but not limited to, the copyrights therein, to the Comp any. The Employee 

agrees to cooperate with the Company, both during and subsequent to the Employee’s employment, to execute all ins truments including patent and copyright applications and 

assignments therefor, and to do all other things reasonably necessary to fully vest, and perfect, in the Company the ownership rights contemplated herein. In the event the Company 

is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure the Employee’s signature on any document or instrument necessary to secure trademarks, letters pat ent, copyrights or other analogous 

protection relating to any Works, whether because of the Employee’s physical or mental capacity or for any other reason whatsoever, the Employee hereby irrevocably designates 

and appoints the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as his agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in his behalf and stead to execute and file any such application 

or applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts. 

 

(f) Non-Solicitation. During Non-Solicitation Period, and regardless of the reasons for the termination of the Employee’s employment with the Company, the  

Employee will not, in any form or manner, directly or indirectly: (1) hire, employ, engage, solicit, entice, 
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encourage, accept or cause to terminate his/her relationship with the Company or attempt to hire, employ, engage, solicit, en tice, encourage, accept or cause to terminate his/her 

relationship with the Company, any Company employee, consultant or other service provider; or (2) hire, employ, engage or oth erwise become involved in a business association or 

attempt to hire, employ, engage or otherwise become involved in a business association with any person who at any time during the one (1) year prior to the t ermination of the 

Employee’s employment with the Company was employed by the Company or engaged as a consultant to the Company; or  (3) contact, solicit, divert, take away, or attempt to contact, 

solicit, divert or take away, any clients, customers, suppliers, vendors or accounts, or prospective clients, customers, suppliers, vendors, or accounts, of the Company, or any of the 

Company’s business with such clients, customers, suppliers, vendors or accounts. The Employee acknowledges that the restrictions contained in this Section extend to and expressly 

prohibit conduct via social media that would violate this Section. 

 

(g) Third-Party Agreements and Rights. The Employee hereby confirms that the Employee is not bound by the terms of any agreement with any previous  

employer or other party which restricts in any way the Employee’s use or disclosure of information or the Employee’s engagement in any business. The Employee represents to the  

Company that the Employee’s execution of this Agreement, the Employee’s employment with the Company, and the performance of the Employee’s proposed duties for the Company 

will not violate any obligations the Employee may have to any such previous employer or other party. In the Employee’s work for the Co mpany, the Employee will not disclose or 

make use of any information in violation of any agreements with or rights of any such prev ious employer or other party, and the Employee will not bring to the premises of the  

Company any copies or other tangible embodiments of non-public information belonging to or obtained from any such previous employment or other party. 

 

(h) Non-Disparagement. The Employee agrees that the Employee will not, during the Employee’s employment with the Company or at any time thereafter,  

make any statements that are disparaging about or adverse to the business interests of the Company (including its officers, directors and employees) or which are intended to harm 

the reputation of the Company including, but not limited to, any statements that disparage any product, service, capability or any other aspect of the business of the Company, including 

via social media. 

 

(i) Injunctive Relief/Attorneys’ Fees. The Employee understands and acknowledges that the Company’s Proprietary Information, Inventions, and goodwill are 

of a special, unique, unusual, character which gives them a peculiar value, the loss of which cannot be reasonably compensated in damages in an action at law. The Employee  

understands and acknowledges that, in addition to any and all other rights or remedies that the Company may possess, the Company shall be entitled to injunctive and other 

equitable relief, without posting a bond, if the Employee breaches any portion of this Agreement or in order to prevent a bre ach or threatened breach of this Agreement (and/or any 

provision thereof and in particular, the provisions contained in this Section 7 regarding, non-solicitation, confidentiality, and non- disparagement) by the Employee. Further, to the 

extent permitted by law, the Employee agrees that the Employee shall be responsible for payment of the Company’s reasonable a ttorneys’ fees and costs in the event the Company 

prevails in any action against the Employee to enforce this 
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Agreement or, to defend against any and all claims the Employee brings against the Company or its shareholders, employees, or agents. 

 

8. Withholding. All payments made by the Company under this Agreement shall be net of any tax or other amounts required to be withheld by t he Company under 

applicable law. 

 

9. Integration. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements between 

the parties with respect to such subject matter. 

 

10. Assignment; Successors and Assigns, etc. Neither the Company nor the Employee may make any assignment of this Agreement or any interest herein, by operation of 

law or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the other party; provided, however, that the Company may assign its ri ghts under this Agreement without the consent of the 

Employee in the event that either the Company or its Affiliates, if any, shall hereafter effect a reorganization, consolidate with or merge into any other corporation, partnership, 

organization or other entity, or transfer all or substantially all of its properties or assets to any other corporation, partnership, organization or other entity.   This Agreement shall inure  

to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and the Employee, their respective successors, executors, administrators, heirs and permitted assigns. 

 

11. Enforceability. The provisions of this Agreement are severable. If any portion or provision of this Agreement shall to any extent be declared illegal or unenforceable 

by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such por tion or provisions in circumstances other than those as to which it is so declared 

illegal or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each portion and provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. If any 

obligation of the Employee’s under  Section 7 of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable because of the duration of such obligation or the geographic area covered, the court making 

such determination shall have the power to reduce the duration and/or geographic area of such provision, and in its modified form such provision shall be enforceable. 

 

12. Forwarding of Agreement. The Employee hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Company may, in order to protect its interests, send a copy of this Agreement to 

any future employer of the Employee, and that the Employee shall have no claim against the Company in the event it does so. 

 

13. Advice of Counsel/Construction. The Employee acknowledges that the Employee has been advised by the Company to review the terms of this Agreement with legal 

counsel of the Employee’s choice and that the Employee has been given a reasonable opportunity to seek such legal advice. 

 

14. Employee Acknowledgement. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Employee’s responsibilities, duties, position, compensation, title and/or other terms  

and conditions of employment may change from time to time or the Employee may have a break in 
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service or employment with the Company and, notwithstanding any change in any terms and conditions of employment or a break in service or employment, this Agreement shall 

remain in full force and effect. 

 

15. Waiver. No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless made in writing and signed by the waiving party. The failure of any party to require the performance 

of any term or obligation of this Agreement, or the waiver by any party of any breach of this Agreement, shall not prevent an y subsequent enforcement of such term or obligation or 

be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach. 

 

16. Notices. Any notices, requests, demands and other communications provided for by this Agreement shall be sufficient if in writing and delivered in person or sent 

by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the Employee at the last address the Employee has filed in writing with the Company or, in the case of th e Company, at its main 

offices, attention of the Chief Executive Officer. 

 

17. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument signed by the Employee and the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. 

 
18. Affiliates. For purposes of this Agreement, “Affiliates” means all persons and entities directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common contro l with 

the Company, where control may be by either management authority or equity interest. 

 

19. Governing Law/Forum. The laws of Massachusetts shall govern the interpretation, validity and effect of this Agreement without regard to the plac e of performance 

thereof or principles of choice of law. The Employee agrees that any and all suits regarding this Agreement shall be brought solely and exclusively in Massachusetts and the Employee 

hereby consents to the jurisdiction of the state or federal courts of Massachusetts. 

 

20. Section 409A. The provisions of this Agreement are intended not to result in the imposition of additional tax or interest under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue 

Code, and such provisions shall be interpreted and administered in accordance with such intent. Without limiting the foregoing, this Agreement shall not be amended or terminated in  

a manner so as to result in the imposition of such tax or interest, any reference to “termination of employment” or similar t erm shall mean an event that constitutes a “separation from 

service” or “involuntary separation from service” (as the case may be) within the meaning of Section 409A, any reimbursement of expenses shall occur no later than the end of the 

calendar year following the calendar year in which the expense is incurred (or such earlier date as applies under the Company’s business expense reimbursement p olicy) and 

reimbursements in one year shall not affect the amount of reimbursement available in any subsequent year. The foregoing notwithstanding, the Company shall not be liable to any 

person for the tax consequences of any failure to comply with the requirements of Section 409A. 

 

21. Survival of Obligations. The provisions of Section 7 of this Agreement shall survive the expiration of this Agreement or the earlier termination of the Employee’s  

employment. Other provisions of this Agreement shall survive the expiration of this Agreement or the earlier termination of t he Employee’s employment to the extent necessary to the  

intended preservation of each party’s respective rights and obligations. 
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22. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, none of which need contain the signature of more than one party h ereto, and each of 

which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The fa csimile or PDF signatures of the parties shall be deemed 

to constitute original signatures, and facsimile or PDF copies hereof shall be deemed to constitute duplicate originals. 

 

23. Captions and Headings. Captions and paragraph headings used herein are for convenience and ready reference only and are not a part of this Agreement and shall 

not be used in the construction or interpretation thereof. 

 
[Signature Page Follows] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Employment Agreement is entered into to be effective as of the date defined herein. 

 

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. Nicole Hayward 

 
By:   /s/ Sara Bishop /s/ Nicole Hayward 

  

Name: Sara Bishop 

Title: Head of Talent and Culture 

 
Address: [Address Omitted] 

101 Arch Street, 8th Floor 

Boston, MA 02110 
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Exhibit 10.31 

 
Employment Agreement 

 

This Employment Agreement ("Agreement") is made and effective as of November 1, 2019 by and between Zoom Telephonics, Inc., a Delaware company with  

offices currently located at 225 Franklin Street, Boston, MA 02110 (the "Company"), and John Lauten an individual who resides  at whose principal place of residence is 

currently at [Address Omitted] (the "Executive") (collectively referred to herein as the "Parties"). 

 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ Executive by engaging Executive to perform services under the terms hereof; and 

 
WHEREAS, Executive wishes to be employed by the Company and provide full-time personal services to the Company in return for the compensation and benefits 

detailed herein. 

 
Statement of Agreement 

 
FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual promises and covenants set forth herein, each of the Company, directly or through its subsidiaries, and Executive hereby 

agrees to the employment of Executive on the following terms and conditions and, except to the extent specifically superseded by this Agreement, subject to all of the 

Company's policy and procedures regarding its employees. 

 

1. Employment. 

 
1.1. General 

The Company shall employ Executive as a full-time employee, of the Company effective as of November 11, 2019 (the "Start Date"), in the position set forth in Section 

1.2, and upon the other terms and conditions her in provided. Executive agrees to devote h is best efforts, energies, and skill to the discharge of the Responsibilities and 

Authorities set for in Section 1.3 below. 

 
1.2. Position 

Executive shall serve as the Senior Vice President of Operations ,. Executive shall directly report to the CEO and President. 

 
1..3. Responsibilities and Authority 

See Exhibit A 

 
l.4. Primary Place of Performance 

Company's principal executive office currently located at 225 Franklin Street, Boston, MA 02110. Executive understands that the principal executive office may change in 

the future to a different location in the Boston or surrounding area. In addition, the Company may from time to time require Executive to travel temporarily to other domestic 

and international locations on Company business. 

 



1.5. Term 

The term of this Agreement commences on the Start Date and continues until employment terminates pursuant to Section 5 of this Agreement. 

 
2. Compensation and Related Matters. 

 
2.1. Annual Base Salary 

Executive shall initially receive a base salary at the rate of $195,000 per annum, subject to withholdings and deductions, and paid electronically to Executive's designated 

bank accounts on a bi-weekly basis. Annual base salary increases will be a minimum of the prior year US inflation rate plus 2%. 

 
2.2. Annual Bonus 

Commencing upon the Start Date, Executive shall be enti1tlecl to performance bonuses, determined and paid semi -annually according to the Company fiscal year. Each 

bonus will be based on performance goals mutually agreed upon by the Executive and the Company. The first semi-annual bonus will be up to 17.5% of the Executive's  

annual base salary, plus any pro-rata amount, based on achievement of the mutually agreed objectives. The second and on-going semi-annual bonus will be up to 17.5% 

of the Executive's then annual base salary, based on achievement of mutually agreed objectives. All bonuses shall be paid in a lump sum, subject to withholdings and 

deductions, and paid electronically to Executive's designated back accounts. 

 
2.3. Signing Bonus 

Executive shall be entitled to a signing bonus in the gross amount, prior to applicable withholding and deductions, of $15,000 which shall be paid by Company within 30 

days of the Start Date. 

 

2.4. Living Expenses 

While Executive is employed by Company, Company will pay for Executive's lease of an apartment/condo near the Company's principal office. The total cost to Company, 

including any necessary furniture and utilities, will not exceed $6,000 per month. Executive understands that this is taxable compensation, and that the associated taxes will 

be paid by the Executive. 

 
2.5. Travel and Expenses for Personal Visits Home 

While Executive is employed by Company, Company will pay for four (4) round-trip economy class airline tickets per quarter for Executive to visit his family at his home and/or 

for Executive's family members to visit Executive in Boston area. Non-use of any round-trip economy class airline travel within a given quarter will be forfeited and will not 

be carried forward to the subsequent quarter. 

 
2.6. Travel and Expenses for Business Trips 

Domestic and international travel will be according to Company Travel Policy and/ or normal business travel approach for Senior Executives. For any international non- 

stop airline flight greater than nine (9) hours, Executive is entitled to Business Class accommodations. 

 



3. Equity Awards. 

 

3.1. Initial Stock Option 

Upon or near the Executive's Start Date , Executive will receive an initial option grant to purchase 80,000 shares of the Company's common stock, at a purchase price 

equal to the fair market value of the Company's Common Stock on the date of grant (such fair market value to be determined by  the closing price on the day prior to the 

date of grant). The option will be subject to the terms and conditions applicable to options granted under the Company's 2009 Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"), as described 

in the Plan and the applicable option agreement Executive will be required to sign. All shares subject to such option will vest over two years from the grant date, the 

"Vesting Commencement Date"). Twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares subject to such option shall vest on the 6-month anniversary of the Vesting Commencement 

Date and the remaining options shall vest in equal 6-month installments over the two years. The initial stock options will expire three years after the Vesting 

Commencement Date. 

 
3.2. Additional Stock Option 

Within 24 months of Executive's Start Date, Executive will receive an additional option grant to purchase that number of shares of Company common stock calculated by 

the cost per share as determined by the Black-Scholes pricing model up to $80,000 of Company expense totaled over the period the expense will occur. The option will be subject 

to the terms, conditions, vesting, and expiration timeframe listed above in Section 3.1. 

 
4. Benefits and Perquisites. 

 
4.1. Benefits 

Executive shall be entitled to participate in such full-time employee and executive benefit plans and programs as the Company may from time to time offer, subject to the 

terms and conditions of such plans. Executive benefit are to begin on the Start Date. 

 
4.2. Life Insurance 

Company shall pay for Executive's premiums of a Term Life insurance policy, up to a maximum of $4,000 annually, beginning on the Start Date. 

 
4.3. 401(k) Savings 

Executive may participate in the Company 401(k) savings program immediately on the Start Date. 

 
4.4. Paid Vacation, Sick, and Holiday 

Vacation and sick time shall be in accordance with Company policies, with four (4) weeks' vacation and up to six (6) days sick time per year. 

 
4.5. Computer and Cell Phone 

On the Executive's Start Date, Executive will be provided a Company provided Apple Mac laptop, two (2) monitors, one (1) dual monitor stand, one (1) docking station, 

and a printer. Monthly 

 



Executive cell phone charges for domestic and international calling will be reimbursed by Company. 

 

4.6. Liability Protection 

Executive will be protected under the Company Officer's and Director's liability insurance. 

 
4.7. Legal Fees 

Executive acknowledges that he has the right and has the opportunity to consult with an attorney in connection with negotiati on, drafting and finalizing this Agreement. 

Company shall promptly reimburse or directly pay on Executive's behalf, attorney fees and costs incurred by the Executive in connection wit h the negotiation, drafting, 

and finalization of this Agreement, up to an amount not to exceed $2,000. 

 
4.8. Allowed Activities 

Executive is allowed to participate on non-competing company, university, and/or non-profit organization boards while working at Company full-time, provided that 

Executive shall not Engage in any activity which would reasonably be expected to in terfere with the performance of Executive's duties, services and responsibilities for  

the Company. 

 
5. Termination. 

 
5.1. At Will Employment 

Subject to the obligations of the Company in Section 5.2 and 5.3, the Parties acknowledge that Executive's employment is and shall continue to be at-will, as defined under 

applicable law. This means that it is not for any specified period of time and can be terminated by Executive or by the Compa ny at any time, with or without advance 

notice. 

 
5.2. Change of Control 

In the event of "Change of Control" the Executive will receive severance pay equal to monthly base pay times the lesser of the number of full  months the Executive has 

been employed by the Company or six if (a) Executive's employment is terminated without Cause within six  months after a Change of Control, or (b) the Executive's job 

responsibilities, reporting status or compensation are materially diminished and the named Executive voluntarily terminates h is employment with the acquiring company 

within six months after the Change of Control. In addition, in the event of a Change of Control of Company, outstanding stock options granted to the Exec utive will become 

immediately vested, with the right to be exercised at the option grant price. For purposes of this Agreement, "Ch ange of Control" shall mean that any person, partnership 

or corporation acquires all or substantially all of the assets and business of the Company or a majority of the voting power represented by the equity of the Company or 

any successor thereto. 

 

5.3. Severance 

If Executive is involuntarily terminated for any reason other than far Cause or Change of Control, Executive will receive severance pay equal to monthly base pav times 

the lesser of the number of full months Executive has been employed by the Company or three, provided that Executive 

 



executes a separation agreement and general release of claims in a form satisfactory to the Company, such severance to be paid in accordance with the Company's 

normally scheduled payroll, and all outstanding stock options that have vested (or that will ordinarily vest within six (6) months) will become immediately veste d and 

will be exercisable for a period of up to 30 days after termination . 

5.4. Voluntary Termination; For Cause Termination 

If Executive voluntarily terminates his employment with the Company or if the Company terminates Executive's employment for Cause, then Executive shall not be 

entitled to any severance compensation. 

5.5. Death or Disability 

If this Agreement terminates due to Executive Death or Disability, Company shall pay Executive, or to Executive heirs or estate if applicable, the Severance listed in 

Section 5.3. 

5.6. Cause Definition 

"Cause" means, for purposes of this Agreement, any of the following: 

a) Conviction of the Executive of a felony or any other serious crimes;

b) Commission by the Executive of any act of theft, fraud, breach of fiduciary duty or gross moral turpitude;

c) Executive's gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of his duties;

d) Wrongful misappropriation by the Executive of any Company, or Company clients, money, assets, or other property; or

e) Any material breach of this Agreement that remains uncured for 30 days after notice of such breach.

6. Executive's Restrictive Covenants. Executive's employment with the Company is conditioned upon his signing the Company's Intellectual Property and Confidentiality Agreement 

("IPCA."), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B to this Agreement . 

6.1. Non-Compete 

During the term of Executive's employment Executive shall not Either alone or as a member of a partnership or association, or as an officer, director, advisor, consultant, 

agent, or employee of any other organization, be engaged in Competition or concerned with any other dut ies or pursuits requiring Executive's active personal services  

that will conflict with Executive's ability or objectivity in performing Executive's obligations under this Agreement. For this purpose, "Competition" with the business of 

the Company includes supplying products or providing services to any customer or client with which the Company has done any business during the period commencing 

one year prior to the date hereof and ending on the termination of Executive's employment with the Company. Executive agrees that irreparable harm to the Company will 

result from Executive's violation of this section of the Agreement, and notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the cont rary, the Company may seek injunctive 

relief in a Court of competent jurisdiction enjoining Executive from violating the Agreement in order to prevent immediate an irreparable harm. 



6.2. Confidential Information 

During the term of Executive's employment and thereafter, Executive shall not make or cause to be made any unauthorized disclosure or other use of any confidential 

information regarding the Company or any of its activities and operations, except to the extent reasonably necessary or appro priate in connection with the performance 

by Executive of Executive's authority and responsibility under this Agreement or as may be legally required; provided, however, that nothing here in contained shall 

preclude the use or disclosure of a1ny information known generally to the public. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive acknowledges and understands that he shall 

not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a Federal, State, 

or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or 

(H) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. Also, if Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by 

an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law, Executive may disclose the trade secret to Executive's attorney and use the trade secret information in the court 

proceeding, provided that Executive files any document containing the trade secret under seal and does not disclose the trade s ecret except pursuant to court order. 

 
6.3. Non-Solicitation 

During the term of Executive's employment and for a period of one year thereafter, Executive shall not, either alone or in conjunction with or assistance of another  

person, interfere with or harm, or attempt to interfere with or harm, the business of the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates) by offering employment to any 

person who is employed by the Company. 

 
6.4. Invention Assignment 

During the term of this agreement, Executive hereby assigns Ito Company all right, title, and interest in and to any Inventions Executive develops or creates, 

individually or jointly, in connection with Executive's employment relationship with Company. 

 

6.5. No Disparagement 

During the term of Executive's employment and thereafter, Executive shall not criticize, ridicule or make any statement which disparages or is derogatory of the 

Company or any person affiliated with the Company to any third party or in any public statement. 

 
6.6. No Failure to Return Property 

Upon termination of employment, Executive is to immediately surrender to the Company possession of all Company property in Executive's possession or control,  

tangible or intangible, including without limitation equipment, trade secrets, confidential and proprietary information and intellectual property in whatever embodiment 

or form, and all copies and other reproductions and extracts thereof, including those prepared by Executive. Executive also agrees to destroy any copies of such property 

and to permanently delete any electronic copies thereof. 

 



7. Resolution of Disputes. 

 

7.1. Negotiation 

The Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute arising under this Agreement promptly by negotiation. Either m ay give the other written notice of any dispute 

not resolved in the normal course of business, stating that party's position and proceed with negotiations. Within five (5) business days after delivery of the disputing 

party's notice, the Parties shall meet at a mutually acceptable time and place, and thereafter as often as they reasonably deem necessary, to attempt to resolve the dispute. 

All reasonable requests for information made by one party to the other will be honored. 

 

7.2. Arbitration 

If any issues arising under this Agreement in dispute are not resolved by such negotiation (or if any party fails to particip ate in such negotiation), any party may, by written 

notice to the other, demand that the dispute be resolved by binding arbitration in Boston, MA, before a single arbitrator pur suant to the national rules for the resolution of 

employment disputes of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA"). The arbitrator shall be instructed, and the parties shall cooperate, with completing the arbitration with 

a ruling, if possible, in writing on each issue in dispute within 60 days of the arbitrator's appointment by the AAA. T he arbitrator shall have: the power to award damages, 

equitable relief, reasonable attorney's fees and expenses, and the fees and expenses of 1the arbitrator and of the AAA, to an y party. The arbitrator's rulings and awards shall 

be final and binding upon the Parties and judgment thereon may be entered in any court having competent jurisdiction. Unless otherwise ordered by the arbitrator, the Company 

and Executive shall each pay an equal share of the fees and expenses; of the arbitrator and of the AAA. 

 

8. Miscellaneous Provisions. 

 
8.1. Representation as to Limitations 

Executive represents and warrants that Executive is not under any contractual or legal restraint that prevents or prohibits Executive from entering into this Agreement or 

performing the duties and obligations described in this Agreement. 

 
8.2. Assignment 

Executive may not assign this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without Company's prior written consent. Company may assign this 

Agreement or any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement, effective upon written Notice to Executive. 

 
8.3. Notices 

Any notice, request, claim, demand, document and other communication here under to any Party shall be effective upon receipt (or refusal of receipt) and shall be in writing 

and delivered personally or by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid (or if it is sent through any other method agreed upon by the Parties), as follows: 

a) If to Company, at the address set forth on the first page hereto, to the attention of the CEO. 

 



b) If to Executive, at the address set forth on the first page hereto, to the attention of the Executive . 

c) Or at any other address as any Party shall have specified by notice in writing to the other Party. 

 
8.4. Headings 

The headings and captions are for convenience only and shall not be deemed to limit, construe, affect, or alter the meaning of the underlying provisions. 

 
8.5. Severability 

If any provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any jurisdiction for any reason, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect the 

remainder of this Agreement, and the remainder of this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable portion were not contained herein. 

 
8.6. Governing Law 

This Agreement shall be construed and enforced under and in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts without giving effect to the conflict of law 

principles thereof. 

 
8.7. Amendments 

No amendments may be made to this Agreement unless agreed to in writing signed by both parties hereto. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date and year first above written. This Agreement may be executed in separate 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original. 

 

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. Executive 

By: By: 

 
/s/ Joe Wytanis /s/ John Lauten 

  

Name: Joe Wytanis Name: John Lauten 

Title: President/COO 

 



Exhibit A 

Responsibilities and Authority 

 
Manage and oversee all Operation duties of the Company, including but not limited to, the following areas: 

 
1) Supply chain forecasting, production planning, logistics and other miscellaneous supply chain activities. 

2) Mexico production, shipping and warehousing that includes North America Profit Sharing (NAPS), inventory management, and obsolete & excess inventory. 

3) Customer service returns (RMA's) that include wholesale, end user, and service provider returns. 

4) Amazon inventory levels, returns, and payments.  

5) Financial functions such as A/R, A/P, Bank loans, status reports, and finance tasks needed for auditing.  

6) Sales operation functions such as EDI processing, account price matrix, order processing, and sales reporting. 

7) New product introduction and change orders. 

8) Manufacturing partners and key component suppliers. 

9) Participation in all Executive Level activity including Company financial planning, strategic planning, staff meetings, customer interfacing, etc.... 

10) Ensuring all Company Operation goals and objectives are met. 

 
 



 

Exhibit 31.3 

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

 

I, Graham Chynoweth, certify that: 

 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Zoom Telephonics, Inc.; 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of 

the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 

operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) 

and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which  

this report is being prepared; 

 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide  

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles; 

 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 

controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the 

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 

over financial reporting; and 

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and 

the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect 

the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 
/s/ Graham Chynoweth 

 

 

Graham Chynoweth 

Chief Executive Officer 

April 29, 2021 

 
 



 

Exhibit 31.4 

 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

 

I, Sean Doherty, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Zoom Telephonics, Inc.; 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of 

the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 

operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) 

and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those e ntities, particularly during the period in which 

this report is being prepared; 

 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be desig ned under our supervision, to provide 

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles; 

 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 

controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the 

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 

over financial reporting; and 

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and 

the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect 

the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ Sean Doherty 

Sean Doherty 

Chief Financial Officer 

April 29, 2021 

 
 



 

Exhibit 32.3 

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer 

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

 

I, Graham Chynoweth, Chief Executive Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the “Company”), in compliance with Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, hereby certify that, to the 

best of my knowledge, the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the period ended December 31, 2020 (the “Report”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission: 

 
● Fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

 
● The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

 
/s/ Graham Chynoweth 

 

 

Graham Chynoweth 

Chief Executive Officer 

April 29, 2021 

 

A signed copy of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and will be retained by Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and furnished to the 

Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 

 
 



Exhibit 32.4 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer 

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Sean Doherty, Chief Financial Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the “Company”), in compliance with Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, hereby certify that, to the best of 

my knowledge, the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the period ended December 31, 2020 (the “Report”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission: 

● Fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

● The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Sean Doherty 

Sean Doherty 

Chief Financial Officer 
April 29, 2021 

A signed copy of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and will be retai ned by Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and furnished to the 

Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
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